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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

HEEE
2008 2007
—EENFE —TTLF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR® T ARETT
Income Statement Data EE 3
Turnover - 1,530,446 1,349,962
Gross profit EH 189,163 265,285
Profit before taxation B 75t B )R 105,981 203,905
Net profit HER 95,226 203,720
Basic earnings per share (RMB) * FBRERZF(ARE)* 0.0376 0.1251
Gross profit margin EES 12.4% 19.7%
Net profit margin HER) = 6.2% 15.1%
Balance Sheet and Other Data EEEERREMGEE
(as at year end date) (RF4R)
Cash and cash equivalents BeEMIBEEEY 242,825 362,648
Total assets mEE 1,111,471 1,112,485
Total debts BAafE 223,774 320,144
Total equity - Fa Gk 887,697 792,341
Current ratio (Times) MENEL & (f5) 2.5 23
Quick ratio (Times) RENE R (E) 1.8 1.9
Gearing - borrowings EREE —EFK
to total assets BRUAEE E 0.9% 10.1%
Efficiency ratios ML R
Debtors turnover (Days) JE W AR KA 8 (R &) 30 38
Creditors turnover (Days) FETBR B (K E) 16 20
Inventories turnover (Days) FEREE(KH) 34 39
Cash conversion (Days) R (RE) 48 57

*

31 December 2008.

Adjusted for the bonus issue (4 for 1) during the year ended

ERBE—_TTNFT _A=T—HLFE
RALAR 7T (— XM E L E -
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EEHRE

Dear shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”)
of China Starch Holdings Limited (the “Company”), | am pleased
to present the annual results of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively, the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2008.

BUSINESS REVIEW

2008 is a year full of changes. In the first half of the year, the Group
still benefited from strong demand for cornstarch by downstream
producers and recorded notable growth in terms of sales when
compared to the same period of last year. However, the global
financial crisis in the second half of the year led to a decline in the
demand of cornstarch, which adversely affected the sales for the
Group. Notwithstanding the downward trend of the price of coal
and corn in the second half of the year, such favorable effect on the
costs will not be reflected until 2009. Besides, the Group established
Linging Deneng Golden Corn Bio Limited (& /& 1Est e EKEWHE
[R A 7R]) ("Deneng Golden Corn”) early in the year. During the year,
since Deneng Golden Corn was still in the stage of trial production
and required further technological upgrade to raise its production
capacity, its utilisation rate remained at a relatively low level and did
not contribute for the Group’s profitability. For electricity and steam,
the relevant sales dropped significantly as the Group reduced the
supply of steam to a connected party due to an increase in demand
for steam by internal production. The increase in the price of coal
during the first three quarters of the year also imposed pressure

on the electricity and steam business of the Group.
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FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

As of 31 December 2008, turnover of the Group amounted to
approximately RMB1,530,446,000 (2007: RMB1,349,962,000),
representing an increase of 13.4% over 2007.

The sales volume of cornstarch and lysine during the year under
review amounted to 357,520 tonnes and 35,710 tonnes, representing
increases of 9.0% and 34.9% over 2007, respectively. The sales amount
of cornstarch and ancillary corn-refined products and lysine and
its related products during the year amounted to approximately
RMB1,065,915,000 and RMB369,832,000, representing increases of
16.5% and 15.6% over 2007, respectively. The average purchase price
of coal increased significantly by 52.3% for the year under review,
whereas the gross profit margin of cornstarch only slightly dropped

10.2% (2007: 13.0%), which was attributable to the continuous
efforts of all the staff of the Group to enhance production efficiency
and strictly control other costs.

The Group has launched a new product, 65% lysine, during the year
under review. Given the fact that the gross profit margin of the new
product was lower than the existing 98.5% lysine, the overall gross

profit margin of lysine and its related products decreased to 18.0%
(2007: 33.7%) as affected by both the price of coal during the first
half of year 2008 and changes in product mix.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ERRE

Sales of electricity and steam amounted to approximately
RMB94,699,000 (2007: RMB115,344,000) and the gross profit margin
decreased from 33.5% to 18.4%. The decrease was primarily due to
changes in proportion of sales between electricity and steam and
the increase in the price of coal during the first half of year 2008.

The Board proposed to pay a final dividend of HK1.14 cents per
share to shareholders, which in total amounted to HK$29,782,500.
The dividend payout ratio was approximately 27.6%.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Formation of Linqing JV Company and completion of technological
upgrade to enhance production capacity. The Group established
Deneng Golden Corn in March 2008, in which the Group holds
an equity interest of approximately 85.94%. Deneng Golden Corn
completed the technological upgrade of its production facilities in
November 2008 and has expanded the annual production capacity
of cornstarch from 300,000 tonnes to 400,000 tonnes.

Commencement of production of the new product - 65%
lysine. Through technological modification on lysine production,
the Company set up a new production line for 65% lysine and the
total lysine production capacity reached 55,000 tonnes per year.
The Directors believe that the provision of diversified products
would serve to maintain our share in the market and enhance our
competitiveness.

Steady improvement in the level of production technology of
cornstarch. Being the leader in the industry, the Group maintained
leading standards in its output, corn-to-starch ratio and energy
consumption amongst the industry players through technological
upgrade, maintenance of production facilities, enhancement of
product quality management and conducting product research
and development. In the face of surging costs and global financial
crisis, the Group is able to maintain its momentum for profitability
and growth.

Further expansion of market network. The Group has taken
Deneng Golden Corn as the platform to develop our business in
the midwest region of the PRC, hence increased the resources to
strengthen the sales network in that region.

BN REAHEEROR/AR4,699,000T(=F
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OUTLOOK

While countries all over the world are facing the brunt of financial
crisis, strong domestic demand in the PRC market, together with
economic stimulating measures being continuously launched recently,
has made the PRC market relatively more stable than those in other
countries amid the crisis. We believe the drop in the demand for
and export volume of cornstarch in the second half of 2008 were
only temporary in nature because cornstarch and lysine products are
one of the indispensable raw materials for downstream producers
and there are no other appropriate substitutes available. Therefore,
we expect the demand for and export volume of cornstarch will
return to normal in 2009. The price of coal has started to drop
since the fourth quarter of 2008, which effectively reduced the cost
for electricity and steam. In addition to the positive contribution
to the electricity and steam business, it also helps the cornstarch
and lysine businesses which requires huge energy consumption. In
2009, our production objective is to raise the production capacity
and corn-to-starch ratio of Deneng Golden Corn, and at the same
time expand the output of 65% lysine from approximately 11,000
tonnes in 2008 to approximately 15,000 tonnes.

APPRECIATION

' would like to take this opportunity to express my deepest gratitude
to the brilliant leadership of the Board, the continuous efforts of all
the staff and the continued support of shareholders.

Tian Qixiang
Chairman

Hong Kong, 17 April 2009
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEER W R DT

OVERVIEW

During the year under review, the Group's turnover and profit
were inevitably affected by the global financial crisis in the second
half of year 2008. The management had endeavoured to maintain
growth of turnover and profitability of the Group amid an adverse
operating environment of increased coal and corn kernel prices and
slumped selling price of some of our products. With the continuous
efforts and contributions from our experienced management and
professional staff, total turnover for the year ended 31 December
2008 increased by 13.4% to approximately RMB1,530,446,000 (2007:
RMB1,349,962,000). Gross profit margin was 12.4% (2007: 19.7%) and
profit after taxation for the year was approximately RMB95,226,000
(2007: RMB203,720,000).

Basic earnings per share of the equity holders of the Company was
RMB0.0376 for the year ended 31 December 2008 (2007: RMBO0.1251
after adjusted for the four-for-one bonus issue made on 16 May 2008).
The weighted average number of shares used for the calculation
of basic earnings per share for the year ended 31 December 2008
was 2,612,500,000 (2007: 1,628,125,000).

BUSINESS REVIEW

CORNSTARCH EXKB¥
—E 3]
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Overall sales of cornstarch and ancillary corn-refined products for the
year ended 31 December 2008 was approximately RMB1,065,915,000
(2007: RMB914,652,000) which represented about 69.6% of total
sales (2007: 67.8%).

Sales volume and sales amount of cornstarch were 357,520 tonnes
(2007: 327,911 tonnes) and approximately RMB672,799,000 (2007:
RMB633,914,000) respectively. As a result of the global financial crisis
which started off in the second half of year 2008, demand for fast
moving consumer goods, such as paper, which used cornstarch as one
of the major raw materials, was affected. The average selling price of
cornstarch in the second half of year 2008 (approximately RMB1,806
per tonne) was lower than that of the first half year (approximately
RMB1,961 per tonne) and thus resulted in a lower overall average
selling price of approximately RMB1,882 per tonne for the year 2008
as compared to that of 2007 (approximately RMB1,933 per tonne).

The increase in sales of corn gluten meal was mainly due to animal feed
manufacturers shifting their purchases to large and reputable suppliers
by animal feed manufacturers after the outbreak of the melamine
scandal in diary products and animal feeds in September 2008.

Export sales of corn fibre accounted for 68.4% (2007: 78.8%) of
total sales of corn fibre. Sales of corn fibre increased significantly
by 34.7% to approximately RMB84,562,000 (2007: RMB62,797,000)
mainly because the market of corn fibre was prosperous in most of
the time in 2008 and the average export selling price was higher
than that of local sales by about 37.9%.

Sales of corn germ increased significantly by 33.5% to approximately
RMB167,379,000 (2007: RMB125,414,000). Benefited from strong
prices of downstream customer products, such as cooking oil, sales
volume and average selling price of corn germ increased by 17.0%
and 14.1% respectively.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEIWE D

Sales volume and average selling price of corn slurry increased by
36.2% and 33.3% respectively as a result of the Group's effort to
upgrade its concentration technology in corn slurry production.
Sales of corn slurry for the year increased by 82.2% to approximately
RMB2,371,000 (2007: RMB1,302,000).

Cost of goods sold and gross profit margin

Cost of goods sold of cornstarch and ancillary corn-refined products
increased by 20.7% to approximately RMB960,949,000 (2007:
RMB795,888,000). During the year under review, the average cost
of corn kernel was approximately RMB1,537 per tonne as compared
to approximately RMB1,471 per tonne in 2007. While the corn
kernel price had started to decrease in the last quarter of 2008, it is
anticipated that the potential benefit will only be reflected in 2009.
Labour cost and depreciation also experienced an increase of about
36.8% and 83.9% respectively which was mainly attributable to the
establishment and operation of the Group’s new subsidiary B&/&5 1=
BE® EAREWAR A (Linging Deneng Golden Corn Bio Limited)
("Deneng Golden Corn"). The allocated cost in respect of electricity
and steam produced by our own power plant also increased by
about 83.7% as the cost of coal increased significantly during the
first three quarters of the year under review. Moreover, the Group
carried out major repair and maintenance works on its Golden
Corn factory during the year in order to maintain productivity of
its production facilities, which resulted in the significantly increase
in the manufacturing overheads by 37.4%.

In summary, the combined effect of decreased average selling
price of cornstarch, increased average cost of corn kernel and
increased allocated electricity and steam cost had mainly resulted
in the slightly decrease in the gross profit margin for cornstarch
and ancillary corn-refined products for the year under review from
13.0% to 9.8%.
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Turnover

During the year under review, sales amount and sales volume of
lysine was approximately RMB349,235,000 (2007: RMB305,215,000)
and 35,710 tonnes (2007: 26,467 tonnes) respectively. The Group
launched a new product, 65% lysine, in early 2008 and achieved total
sales volume and sales amount of 11,196 tonnes and approximately
RMB70,179,000 respectively. Overall average selling price of lysine
decreased because the average selling price of 65% lysine was
lower than that of 98.5% lysine and the market price of lysine as a
whole decreased progressively under the global financial crisis in

the second half of year 2008.

Sales of fertilisers increased significantly by 39.6% to approximately
RMB20,597,000 (2007: RMB14,751,000) because of the growing
demand for organic and environmental-friendly fertilisers.

Cost of goods sold and gross profit margin

Cost of goods sold of lysine and related products increased by 42.9%
to approximately RMB303,098,000 (2007: RMB212,113,000). During
the year under review, direct materials increased by approximately
29.2% as a result of the increased cost of corn kernel and chemicals
used for the production of lysine. Manufacturing overheads also
increased significantly by 88.0% to approximately RMB17,755,000 (2007:
RMB9,446,000) as a result of the increase in repair and maintenance
works on the 98.5% lysine production line and the new 65% lysine
production line. Moreover, as the cost of coal increased significantly
during the first three quarters of the year under review, the allocated
cost of electricity and steam also increased. Government tax and
surcharge also increased as a result of the significant increase in
export sales of lysine in the second and third quarter of 2008.

During the year under review, gross profit margin for lysine and its
related products decreased from 33.7% to 18.0% which was mainly
attributable to (i) the decrease in average selling price of lysine,
(ii) the lower margin of 65% lysine as compared to that of 98.5%
lysine, and (iii) the increase in the allocated cost of electricity and
steam.
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Turnover

For the year ended 31 December 2008, sales of electricity and steam
was approximately RMB94,699,000 (2007: RMB115,344,000) which
represented about 6.2% of total sales of the Group (2007: 8.5%).

The significant increase in the sales of electricity in 2008 was mainly
attributable to (i) the full year sales effect following the resumption
of electricity sales after July 2007 (which was temporarily suspended
during the period from October 2006 to July 2007 when L&
SHhEfEe EKMEAFR AT (Shandong Juneng Golden Corn
Development Co., Ltd.) (“Golden Corn”"), our wholly-owned subsidiary,
was initially converted into a wholly foreign owned enterprise),
and (i) the adjustment of electricity unit price by the F¥ T ¥E
/& (Commodity Price Bureau of Shouguang City).

The Group terminated its sales of steam to LLIE B 845 AR A A
(Shandong Juneng Special Steel Co., Ltd.) (Juneng Special Steel”)
for its production because of our increasing internal demand for
steam. As a result, the sales amount of steam for the year under
review decreased substantially to approximately RMB58,943,000
(2007: RMB104,943,000).
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Cost of goods sold and gross profit margin

During the year under review, the average price of coal, being the
principal raw material for the provision of electricity and steam,
increased by 52.3% as compared to that of 2007. Although coal prices
had started to decrease in the last quarter of 2008, the Directors
are of the opinion that the potential benefit of lower cost of coal
will only be reflected in 2009.

All in all, the increased average coal price and the change of
sales mix between electricity and steam had mainly resulted in
the decrease in gross profit margin of this business segment from
33.5% to 18.4%.

Other income

Otherincome for the year ended 31 December 2008 mainly consisted
of sales of scrap oil and coal, staff rental income, steam connection
income, sewage service income and government grants, all of
which showed increases compared to those for the year ended 31
December 2007. More particularly, during the year under review, the
Group received different government grants totalling approximately
RMBS5,737,000 (2007: RMB1,000,000). However, the absence of gain
on disposal of leasehold land in the year under review had resulted
in the significant decrease in total other income to approximately
RMB16,269,000 (2007: RMB31,695,000).

Finance income

Finance income mainly represented interest from bank deposits for
the year ended 31 December 2008. The finance income was reduced
to approximately RMB3,852,000 (2007: RMB8,756,000) because the
Group repaid approximately RMB102,220,000 bank borrowings and
invest approximately RMB110,000,000 in Deneng Golden Corn during
the year under review.

Distribution expenses

Distribution expenses increased by 26.0% to approximately
RMB51,640,000 (2007: RMB40,976,000). The increase in distribution
expenses was due to the implementation of export tariff on cornstarch
and the establishment of Deneng Golden Corn in March 2008.
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Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses mainly represented salaries and staff
benefits (including directors’ emoluments), exchange difference,
depreciation and amortisation, taxes and levies and professional
fees. For the year ended 31 December 2008, administrative expenses
increased significantly by 43.2% to approximately RMB54,379,000
(2007: RMB37,985,000) mainly due to (i) the increase in number
of employee, (ii) the full year effect of the establishment of Hong
Kong office, (iii) the establishment of Deneng Golden Corn office,
(iv) payment of directors’bonus of RMB2,000,000 (2007: Nil) and (v)
foreign exchange loss.

Share of result of an associate

The share of profit from our associate, BEX &R EEZ B AR
A7) (Shouguang Golden Far East Modified Starch Co., Ltd) was
approximately RMB6,444,000 (2007: share of loss RMB2,375,000) for
the year ended 31 December 2008.

Taxation

Tax expenses increased from approximately RMB185,000 to
RMB10,755,000 because our wholly-owned subsidiary, Golden Corn,
was subject to the PRC enterprise income tax (the “PRC EIT") with
a 50% relief after the expiry of 2 years' tax exemption period which
ended in the year of 2007. Golden Corn shall enjoy the existing
preferential tax treatment on the PRC EIT until 2010.

We were not liable for income tax in Hong Kong during the year
under review as we did not have any assessable income arising in
Hong Kong.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Directors expect that dividends will be paid as interim and/or
final dividends. We currently intend to pay annual cash dividends of
not less than 30% of our distributable profit in each financial year.
However, the determination to pay such dividends will be made
at the discretion of the board of directors (the “Board”) and will be
based upon the availability of distributable profits, our earnings,
financial positions, funding requirements and other relevant factors
from time to time. The payment of dividends may be limited by legal
restrictions and by agreements that we may enter into in the future.
The Directors are of the views that our dividend policy will not affect
the sufficiency of our working capital in the coming years.

ZZZT \FEF IR Annual Report 2008

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEBHRE DM

THEHM

THREREXZAF S RETIRA(BIEE M
) BREHE WELRERE BEEREBI
rBEEBR BE-ZEENF+=-A=+—H
EFE  THERKRBEBIEMB20ZEH AR
54,379,000t( Z T T £ F : A K #37,985,000
L) FEZHROWEEEB I - (DRI BB
ERENEFFE (IR IUBESERPER (v
S EEIELL AR 2000000t ( ZFEFLF -
) R (v)E R BB -

Pt —EBE N RER

HE_ZTN\FFTA=+—RHIEFE  EHR
SEBENASACEREEBRHERAFNF

B AR ,3750007T) °

IR

MEAZHHAREIS000TEIMNE AR
10,755,000t ' REZRASBEME2EWNB AR
EARRRFRBBH(R_ZZTLFTLE)% - AR
BHRECEMESB((REMEMSED ) ER50%
MR - @ EARTZHRTHECEMBR
BEMEEE T —TEAIF -

MR ARBENEBL EESEFERTEA - &
FAXREBHBEBRNTEREH -

B EBUR

BEEHEY RESERTHR I RHEAIK
o RRARBRBRI N T DREMBFEERHD
A0 FEREBE - A - ZFREH
HEFE(EFEHRBREAHOIRFBEHK
FoARKEEFN - MBERR - BEBREEME
FAREMAIEET - RUKREHSZRIOEZR
B R AEBBIRAIRERI LM haE - EFRA - A
REMBREBRE T EHERKBFNEEES
TRIEEBKTE -



China Starch Holdings Limited BB ZRER A

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEIWE D

The Board proposed a final dividend of HK1.14 cents per share
which represented approximately 27.6% of distributable profit for
the year under review. Subject to the approval granted from the
shareholders of the Company at the annual general meeting to be
held on 1 June 2009, the final dividend is expected to be paid to

the shareholders on 15 June 2009.

HUMAN RESOURCES AND REMUNERATION
POLICES

As at 31 December 2008, the Group had approximately 2,064 full-
time staff (2007: 1,577 full-time staff, of which 498 were seconded
from IIREBXERIEREEER AT
Juneng Holding Group Co., Ltd) (Juneng Holding Group”)). The

(Shandong Shouguang

secondment arrangement with Juneng Holding Group had ceased
since 1 January 2008 as all such secondment staff were transferred
to our Group under our employment. Total staff costs, including
Directors’ emoluments, of the Group was approximately RMB46

million (2007: RMB28 million).

The Group considers the experience, responsibility, and performance of
the Directors and employees of the Group in order to determine their
respective remuneration packages. The Company has also adopted
a share option scheme with a primary purpose of motivating our
employees and other eligible persons entitled under the scheme
to optimise their contributions to the Group and to reward them
for their contribution to the Group. In addition, a remuneration
committee is delegated by the Board to review and determine the
terms of remuneration packages, bonuses and other compensation
payable to the Directors and senior management. As at 31 December
2008, no options have been granted under the share option scheme
of the Company.

In addition, we do not encourage our full-time staff to engage in
other business or employment. Therefore, we require our staff to
seek consent from the Group prior to engaging in other business or
employment during the course of his/her employment with us.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Financial management and treasury policy

The Group adopts a conservative approach for cash management
and investment on uncommitted funds. The unutilised portion
of the net proceeds from the global offering of the Company’s
shares in 2007 (the "Global Offering”) have been placed on short-
term deposits with authorised financial institutions in Hong Kong
and/or the PRC.

Foreign currency exposure

The Directors consider that the Group has limited foreign currency
exposure because our operations are mainly conducted in the PRC.
Sales and purchases are mainly denominated in Renminbi and the
foreign currency risk associated with export sales is not material. In
view of the minimal foreign currency exchange risk, we monitored
the exchange rate closely instead of entering into any foreign
exchange hedge arrangement.

Liquidity, financial resources and capital structure

The Directors are of the opinion that the working capital available
to the Group is sufficient for its present requirements. Major source
of financial resources of the Group include internally generated
funds, banking facilities and net proceeds from the Global Offering.
The Group recorded a strong financial position with net cash inflow
from operating activities of approximately RMB183,223,000 (2007:
RMB272,377,000). As at 31 December 2008, the available and unutilised
banking facilities of the Group amounted to approximately RMB370
million. As at 31 December 2008 and 2007, the Group's borrowings
were all denominated in Renminbi.
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The major financial figures and key financial ratios are summarised

TEMHEEMERM AL EERNT

as follows:

2008 2007
—EENFE e S
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR T ARBFTT

Borrowings: e
~ Within 1 year ——FUA 1,551 92,885
- Between 1 and 2 years ——FEMF 886 886
- Between 2 and 5 years -WEZRF 2,659 12,659
- Over 5 years —HBBRRF 4,654 5,540
Total (Note) et (M) 9,750 111,970
Debtors turnover (days) R (K80 30 38
Creditors turnover (days) FERERFAE (X&) 16 20
Inventories turnover (days) FEREE (RE) 34 39
Current ratio VI 2.5 2.3
Quick ratio REPL & 1.8 1.9
Gearing ratio - borrowings divided by total assets R E - ERRAEEE 0.9% 10.1%

Note: As at the balance sheet date, the Group's fixed rate borrowings, which
represented a government loan, was approximately RMB9,750,000 (2007:
fixed rate borrowings RMB81,970,000 and floating rate borrowings
RMB30,000,000).

Finance costs

Finance costs were reduced significantly from approximately
RMB20,495,000 for the year ended 31 December 2007 to approximately
RMB3,728,000 for the year ended 31 December 2008. As the loan
from the controlling shareholder, Merry Boom Group Limited, was
capitalised upon listing of the shares of the Company in September
2007, the Company was not required to provide any imputed interest
on such loan. In light of the strong financial position after listing,
we repaid all bank borrowings and stopped discounting bills for
the year under review.

Pledge of assets and contingent liabilities

As at 31 December 2008, the Group did not pledge any leasehold
land and building in the PRC nor bank acceptance bills to secure
banking facilities granted to the Group.
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As at 31 December 2008, the Group did not have any material RZ-ZZTZENF+_A=1+—8  AEBWESE KA

contingent liabilities.

Use of net proceeds

FEREFERE

The net proceeds received by the Company from the Global Offering AR TR 2 IRBEE WM FERIBEFROAEAR
amounted to approximately RMB350,258,000. The net proceeds #350,258,0007T - E _EENF+_A=1+—

utilised as at 31 December 2008 is set out as follows: BItEESBMERIEFEIHIIMOT
Available Utilised
T FAFREE =SR]

Intended use

RAAR

Acquisitions of other manufacturer(s)/capital
injections of subsidiary(ies)/joint venture
Acquisition of new machineries/conduct

RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT T ARBT T

R EER, HBAR,
EEPERNTE 177,000 110,000
AT RS T E R

production technology enhancement 73,000 73,000
Acquisition of new machineries for cornstarch AR RIER T AKRBRH KB R
and lysine production facilities expansion HER MR T 22 20,000 20,000
Purchase of raw materials and general BERME RN —RK
productions expenses of new machineries FEER 22,258 22,258
Repayment of borrowing BIEER 23,000 23,000
General working capital —REEBEES 35,000 35,000
350,258 283,258

The unutilised portion of the net proceeds has been deposited FIERIEFEN RSB LOCFEATE RSP
on short term basis in licensed financial institutions in Hong Kong ~ BBk & B (E4S BRTE X o

and/or the PRC.

Material acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries and KEBATIRBEATINERKBERHESE

associated companies

The Group established Deneng Golden Corn in March 2008 and had AREBER _ZZNE=ARIERESTX T HE
>< o ?%

been holding approximately 85.94% interest since its incorporation. £ 5F il 5 37 LA 3 5 5 4985.94%4E 25

A

The business scope of Deneng Golden Corn included purchase and HEBKHESFEES K 1T  HWENMEEE
sales of corn, processing, manufacturing and sales of cornstarch, KB « BIDHE - S EBE & H 4 21 & S A RIR{H
starch-based sweeteners, amino acids and other ancillary products, — fHEEARF ©

and the provision of related services.
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During the year under review, Deneng Golden Corn was mainly
engaged in the manufacture and sale of cornstarch and ancillary
corn-refined products. Deneng Golden Corn was operating two
production lines with original production capacity of 150,000
tonnes each. In November 2008, Deneng Golden Corn completed
technological upgrades on these two production lines and its annual
production capacity of cornstarch was accordingly increased from
300,000 tonnes to 400,000 tonnes in total.

During the year under review, sales of Deneng Golden Corn was
approximately RMB120,531,000 which represented about 7.9%
of total sales of the Group. As one of the production line was
temporarily suspended during the technology upgrading period, the
actual usable production capacity was 150,000 tonnes for the year
under review. The utilisation ratio which represented sales volume
divided by usable production capacity of Deneng Golden Corn for
the period from its incorporation to the year ended 31 December
2008 was about 40.3%.

In view of the relatively low utilisation ratio as a result of the temporary
suspension of one production line for upgrading, Deneng Gold Corn
recorded gross loss during the year under review. The Directors are
of opinion that the operating loss was temporary and did not affect
the Group's operation and financial position in the long run.

Save as disclosed above, the Group had no other material acquisition
or disposal of any subsidiaries and associated companies for the
year ended 31 December 2008.

PROSPECT

The establishment of Deneng Golden Corn in March 2008 was in
line with the Group’s expansion plan as disclosed in the prospectus
of the Company dated 12 September 2007. The Group successfully
upgraded two production lines of Deneng Golden Corn and the
annual production capacity of cornstarch of Deneng Golden Corn
increased to 400,000 tonnes. As a result, the Group's total annual
production capacity of cornstarch increased from 450,000 tonnes
to 850,000 tonnes for the year ended 31 December 2008.

Although Deneng Golden Corn did not contribute any profit to the
Group in 2008, the Directors are of the opinion that this situation
was temporary and will be improved in the long run by increasing
the utilisation ratio and stabilizing its corn-to-starch ratio.
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DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Tian Qixiang, aged 45, is the chairman of the Board principally
responsible for the Group's strategic positioning. He is also responsible
for formulating the Group’s business development objectives
and ensuring that such objectives are implemented by the Board
accordingly. Mr. Tian was the chairman of the board of directors of
IWEREHEES T AME AR AF (Shandong Shouguang Juneng
Golden Corn Development Co., Ltd.) ("Golden Corn”), an indirectly
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, during the period from
July 2003 (when he first joined the Group) up to October 2005. He
was re-appointed as director of Golden Corn in December 2005
and has been the chairman of the board of Golden Corn since
August 2006. Mr. Tian has been the authorised representative and
chairman of the board of directors of IUIEREZ X EREERERA
fR A&} (Shandong Shouguang Juneng Holding Group Co., Ltd.)
("Juneng Holding Group”) since its establishment in October 2005.
Mr. Tian has been working for EX T #E A @] (Electricity Supply
Company of Shouguang City) (“Shouguang Electricity Supply
Company”) since 1984. He was appointed as the deputy manager
of Shouguang Electricity Supply Company in October 1985, and
was further appointed as its deputy party secretary in May 1990.
Mr. Tian has been the manager and party member of Shouguang
Electricity Supply Company since March 2000. Mr. Tian possesses
substantial experience in corporate management.

Mr. Tian completed his study of B IHEE (Electricity and Water
Irrigation) from LI B A 7K K| # & Z2 4% (Water and Electricity Machinery
School) in 1981 and graduated from FEIHXEZ I LIREELES
E R (The Shandong Province Party Committee School of the
People’s Republic of China) with a diploma in &% & 12 (Economics
Management) in 1996. Mr. Tian obtained the qualification as a senior
economist in December 2002.

Mr. Tian is beneficially interested in approximately 54.5833% of the
issued share capital of Merry Boom Group Limited (“Merry Boom”),
a substantial shareholder of the Company, and is also a director of
Merry Boom.
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Mr. Gao Shijun, aged 41, is the chief executive officer of the
Company. Mr. Gao is principally responsible for overseeing the Group's
operations and business management. Mr. Gao joined Golden Corn
in August 1998, and was later appointed as the deputy manager of
Golden Corn in January 2000. Mr. Gao has been a director of Golden
Corn since July 2003 and its general manager since May 2005. Mr.
Gao is also a director of FRiBEaE® EREMABR A A (Linging
Deneng Golden Corn Bio Limited) ("Deneng Golden Corn”), a non-
wholly-owned subsidiary of Golden Corn. Mr. Gao graduated from
LB KE (Shandong University) in 1989 with an undergraduate
degree in Physics.

Mr. Yu Yingquan, aged 40, is principally responsible for the overall
management in investment and corporate finance of the Group. Mr.
Yu first joined the Group as a director of Golden Corn during the
period from July 2003 to October 2005, and was re-appointed as
director on 17 March 2007. Mr. Yu had worked in the accounting
and internal audit departments of Shouguang Electricity Supply
Company (B} MH#E X F])since August 1990 holding positions
as deputy supervisor of audit department, deputy supervisor and
supervisor of finance department and deputy chief accountant.
Mr. Yu took up the position as chief accountant of Juneng Holding
Group upon its establishment to oversee the financial reporting and
performance of all its investments. Mr. Yu is also a director of Juneng
Holding Group since October 2005. Mr. Yu graduated from LU Z 7K
FIFERIEZFZ (Shandong Hydro Institute) in 1990 with a diploma in
7K FI) 48 75 BR B 75 & 32 (Hydro Economic and Financial Management),
and obtained a diploma in BI# & 2 (Finance Management) from
I BR A 487 B 3R # I 2R BT (Shandong Economics Management
Institute) in 1998. Mr. Yu obtained the FE AR MBI @1
B FEE (Certificate of Accounting Professional of the People’s
Republic of China) issued by &Y MHIEE (Finance Bureau of
Shouguang City) in 1997.
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Mr. Liu Xianggang, aged 40, first joined Golden Corn as a factory
supervisor in 1998 and has been a director of Golden Corn since
October 2005. In March 2008, Mr Liu was also appointed as the
general manager and a director of Deneng Golden Corn. He is
responsible for the Group's production technology developments,
cornstarch production and Linging production plant. Mr. Liu had
worked in the production technology department of Shouguang
Electricity Supply Company from July 1990 to July 1997 as technical
staff responsible for production management and production
route design. Mr. Liu graduated from IR T K2 (Shandong
Industrial University) in 1990 with an undergraduate degree in L
¥ B E T (Industrial Management), and obtained a post-graduate
diploma in EE &L E (Industrial Economics) from [ B K245
Bt (the Economics School of Shandong University) in 2003. Mr.
Liu also obtained the qualification as senior engineer in December
2002. Mr. Liu is the deputy supervisor of KRB EEZ B (the
Cornstarch Professionals Committee) of BN TEWHE (China
Starch Industry Association).

Independent non-executive Directors

Ms. Dong Yanfeng, aged 72, has been appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 5 September 2007. Ms. Dong was
granted the qualification as senior engineer by BFIRE EEIRF
(State Medical Control Bureau) in 1988, and is currently the chief
secretary of FBIRN TZE W& (China Starch Industry Association)
responsible for its general management as well as organizing and
supervising the execution of its annual plans. Over the years, Ms.
Dong had won several technology awards, including BHE K R =
Z 4% (Third Level Award on Technology Results) and BHE 2 =
£ 4% (Third Level Award on Technology Advancement) in 1984 and
1986 respectively granted by JAI b BRI ITZ 8 € (Science and
Technology Committee of Hebei Province), BHI#E 25— 48 (First
Level Award on Technology Advancement) in 1986 granted by 83
H BE BB\ A (Chief Medical Company of Hebei Province) and =%
#% (Third Level Award) in 1987 granted by B Bl 25 fil i 4 #8512
Z B2 (Evaluation Committee of the State Science and Technology
Advancement Awards). Ms. Dong’s achievements in technologies
was also evidenced by the grant of a special financial grant from
the State Council in 1993 for her contributions in engineering
technologies.
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Ms. Yu Shumin, aged 67, has been appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 5 September 2007. Ms. Yu graduated from
b F(EE T 22K (Beijing Chemical Technical Institute) in 1963
H{E 2 (Chemical Analysis). Ms. Yu obtained the
qualification as engineer in 2 4T{b2 (Chemical Analysis) in 1988.
Ms. Yu is currently the @3 % & (Deputy General Manager) of the
China Fermentation Industry Association and the BER (General

with a diploma in 2

Manager) of the association’s & #E 5 & (Cornstarch Sweetener
He

Sub-association) and Z JTlE 2 & (Polyol Sub-association).

Mr. Cao Zenggong, aged 46, has been appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 5 September 2007. Mr. Cao graduated
from J& % K2 (Qinghua University) in 1984 with an undergraduate
degree in ENEZF L E B E)L (electrical engineering specialising
in power system and automation). Mr. Cao has been the TETRED
(supervisory engineer) of R EZ|HE (the development planning
department) of IURENEE QA

Corporation) since July 2005 principally responsible for power system

(Shandong Electric Power

planning, feasibility analysis and electricity network management,
and has been appointed as a specialist of the specialist committee
of Shandong Electric Power Corporation in October 2006. Mr. Cao
was awarded the =% %8 (Third Level Award) for his thesis on {2 %&
{LE&ET — AR R B S M B8R (Standardised Design - Keys to
City Electricity Network Construction and Re-modeling) by ILIEE
# T 22 (Shandong Society for Electrical Engineering) in 2001.
Mr. Cao was also granted honorary certificates by 1 BIE /7 18 £] 3%
%€ (Electric Power Design Association) in 2003 and 2004 for his
participation in two award-winning projects, namely the &3k T &
#3382 ® 1830 (Jinan City Electricity Network Development Plan) and
the =A 46 (& M)500kvE EFT TH2 (Yellow River North (Bingzhou)
500kv Transformer Station Project), respectively.
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Mr. Yue Kwai Wa, Ken, aged 43, has been appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 5 September 2007. He
was also an independent non-executive director of Dickson Group
Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the "Stock Exchange”), for the period from July 2008 to
February 2009. Mr. Yue is a Certified Public Accountant with over 16
years of experience in accounting, auditing and corporate finance.
Mr.Yue is also a member of the American Institute of Certified Public
Accountants, a member of the Colorado State Society of Certified
Public Accountants and a member of the Hong Kong Securities
Institute holding a specialist certificate and a practising certificate
in corporate finance.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT TEAM

Mr. Guo Zhibo, aged 42, has been a director of Golden Corn since
October 2005. Mr. Guo is also a director of Deneng Golden Corn.
Mr. Guo was first appointed as the deputy manager of the sales and
marketing department of Golden Corn in August 1998, and was
re-assigned as the deputy chief engineer in January 2000. Mr. Guo
has been in charge with the Group's sales and marketing activities
since July 2003.

Mr. Zhang Junhua, aged 46, has been a director of Golden Corn since
its establishment in July 1998. Mr. Zhang is principally responsible
for overseeing the Group’s overall production and procurement
management. He is also the deputy chairman of the board of
directors of IR B} &R RS MR AR Q7 (Shouguang Golden
Far East Modified Starch Co., Ltd.), a director of Juneng Holding
Group and Deneng Golden Corn. Mr. Zhang graduated from =1t
JKFE Z BT (Northern China Water and Electricity Institute) in 1984
with an undergraduate degree in T2 (Engineering), and obtained
the qualification as engineer in 1993,

Ms. Wei Guoying, aged 39, has been a director of Golden Corn since
October 2005. Ms. Wei is also a director of Deneng Golden Corn. Ms.
Wei was appointed as the Group's chief accountant and department
supervisor in 2004, and is responsible for overseeing accounting
and financial reporting of Golden Corn. Ms. Wei graduated from LU
HASHIPEHFEEER (Intermediate Institute of Accountancy
of Shandong Province) with a diploma in EX &%t (Professional
Accounting) in 1989, and obtained an adult higher education
diploma in @58 (Accounting®) from IR B ERE BT (Shandong
Finance Institute) in 2004. Ms. Wei obtained the qualification as
accountant in May 1996.

ZZZT \FEF IR Annual Report 2008

DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE

EERERERAE/N

REERLE B R-_TTLFNAARHEZR
ERIFNTESE - BE_TZNFLAZ_ZEZ
NFZARRTRRESREZERERRAAREL
FHRITESE  ZRPNBBHEXZABR AT
(THERPT]) £ - REERAF S £F
it BRBACERETHLREBTNF - FAR
TEXESTMHees  MENZMNEMES
MnEeBMBELEFEXEEEE  KAEX
BENCEBMEREXEE -

= EEERM

BEFELE 25 BE_TTRFTARHEES
EANES - FAELETRBESERNESE - 56
FER—NANANFENAELEETHE REHLE
K1E - R_ZTETF-ARIKAERTIZR - 5
EEB-_ZZE=_FLARKEEARAKRENHER
MI5EE) °

REFEERLE 465 B2 EARR-AANFLA
RIZE-—BEREERNES  RELATBZAEE
BARENEREERRBER -t iRILRE
REEREUEBRMARAPNEFENETIE  E
EEREBRBRESERNES - REER—N
NEUFREREFEIKFES  FELEELE
7 —NAN=FEERTIZAEE -

BEXZL 395 BE_TTRFTAERKAS
EARNEF - RL LT NRBESEARANES -
LM —_ZETNFREZERAEENASFEI L
T AEEESERNMBNSBEE - K
IR—HN/\NFEEXRUREGHLTEFXS
B BRISEESFOR - TR - T FREFIL
RUYBBRNEABRASERE R - UL
R—NANANERABRGEER -

27



China Starch Holdings Limited BB ZRER A

DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE
EEREREBEARHN

Mr. Hu Jing, aged 39, has been a director of Golden Corn since July
2003. He is principally responsible for the overall operations of the
Group's lysine production plant and power plant. Mr. Hu joined the
Group in 1998 and he was holding various positions as power plant
supervisor, cornstarch factory manager and power plant manager.
Mr. Hu obtained the qualification as accountant in May 1996, and a
diploma in #&&E%& 12 (Economics Management) from A1 B H & E |1
HEZBEER (The Shandong Province Party Committee School
of the People’'s Republic of China) in 1996.

Mr. Su Tao, aged 42, joined the Group in 1998 and is currently
responsible for raw materials and accessories procurement. He
was appointed as a deputy manager of the sales and supplies
department of Golden Corn in 2002, and was later appointed as the
FE1E (supervisor) of Golden Corn’s supplies department in 2003. He
was appointed as assistant to general manager in 2005, and was
promoted to deputy manager in January 2007. Mr. Su has been the
BZ = (supervisor) of Golden Corn since March 2007.

Mr. Wang Guoliang, aged 33, joined the Group in June 2004 as a
technical supervisor and is currently responsible for the corporate
management, quality and safety control and environmental protection.
He graduated from L3R T % K& (Shandong Industrial University)
with an undergraduate degree in Z48E T#2 (Heat Engineering) in
1997, and has obtained the qualification as engineer in 2002.

Mr. Leung Siu Hong, aged 33, joined the Group in February 2008 as
the financial controller, qualified accountant and company secretary.
Mr. Leung is responsible for company secretarial and financial
reporting matters. He has over 10 years experience in auditing,
accounting, corporate finance and management. Mr. Leung is an
associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and a fellow member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants. Mr. Leung holds a master’s degree in accounting
from the University of Aberdeen, Scotland.
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The Directors have pleasure in presenting their annual report and

the audited consolidated financial statements of the Company

and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) for the year ended
1 December 2008.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
Company'’s subsidiaries are principally engaged in the manufacture
and sale of cornstarch, L-lysine hydrochloride salt and ancillary corn-
based and corn-refined products and sales of electricity and steam.
Details of the principal activities of the Company’s subsidiaries are
set out in note 18 to the consolidated financial statements. There
were no significant changes in the nature of the principal activities
of the Group during the year.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2008 are
set out in the consolidated income statement on page 104.

The Directors recommend the payment of a final dividend of HK 1.14
cents per share, totalling HK$29,782,500, in respect of the year ended
31 December 2008. Subject to the approval of the shareholders of
the Company at the forthcoming annual general meeting (the "AGM")
of the Company, the final dividend is expected to be paid to those
shareholders whose names appear on the register of members of
the Company on 1 June 2009.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members will be closed from 27 May 2009 to
1 June 2009 (both days inclusive), during which period no transfer
of shares will be effected. In order to qualify for the proposed final
dividend and to attend and vote at the AGM, all transfers of shares
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged
with the Hong Kong branch share registrar and transfer office of the
Company, Tricor Investors Services Limited, at 26th Floor, Tesbury
Centre, 28 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong for registration
no later than 4:00 p.m. on 26 May 2009.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements of the share capital of the Company during
the year are set out in note 29 to the consolidated financial
statements and in the consolidated statement of changes in equity
respectively.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

During the year, the Group spent approximately RMB168,293,000 on
additions of property, plant and equipment mainly for the expansion
and enhancement of its production capability.

Details of movements in the Group’s property, plant and equipment
during the year are set out in note 16 to the consolidated financial
statements.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 184. The
summary does not form part of the audited consolidated financial
statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2008, under the Cayman Companies Law, the
share premium of the Company is available for paying distributions or
dividends to shareholders subject to the provisions of its Memorandum
or Articles of Association and provided that immediately following
the distribution of dividends, the Company is able to pay its debts as
they fall due in the ordinary course of business. As at 31 December
2008, the Company’s reserves available for distribution to shareholders
amounted in total to approximately RMB407,831,000.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, sales to the Group's five largest customers accounted
for less than 30% of the Group’s turnover and purchases from the
Group's five largest suppliers accounted for less than 30% of the
total purchases of the Group.

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date
of this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Tian Qixiang (Chairman)

Mr. Gao Shijun (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Yu Yingquan

Mr. Liu Xianggang
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Independent non-executive Directors

Ms. Dong Yanfeng
Ms. Yu Shumin

Mr. Cao Zenggong
Mr. Yue Kwai Wa, Ken

By virtue of Article 108 of the Company’s Articles of Association,
Mr. Yu Yingquan, Mr. Liu Xianggang and Ms. Dong Yanfeng will
retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the
forthcoming AGM.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS’
CONFIRMATION

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of The Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) and as at the date of
this report still considers all of them to be independent.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

As at 31 December 2008, none of the Directors proposed for re-
election at the forthcoming AGM has entered into any service
contract with the Company which is not determinable by the
Company within one year without payment of compensation, other
than statutory compensation.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policies of the Group are formulated based on
the Group's operating results, individual performance, working
experience and responsibility, merit, qualifications and competence
of individual employees and comparable market statistics and are
reviewed regularly.

The directors’ fees are subject to shareholders” approval at general
meetings. Other emoluments of directors are determined based
on the Group's operating results, individual performance, duties,
responsibilities and comparable market statistics.

EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE HIGHEST
PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors of the Company and
the five highest paid individuals of the Group during the year
under review are set out in note 12 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES OR DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR
ITS ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2008, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and the chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong
Kong) (the “SFQ") as recorded in the register kept by the Company
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code") contained in the Listing Rules, were as follows:—

The Company/ Capacity/nature
Name of Director associated corporation of interest
ESps ADR/HEEE 5/ EHME
Mr. Tian Qixiang The Company Interest of a
("Mr. Tian") Y WNE] controlled corporation
HE#ELE REGEEER
(TA%ED

Beneficial owner

ESHAA

Merry Boom Group Limited
fREEEARLA]

Mr. Gao Shijun
BHELE

Beneficial owner

ESHAA

Merry Boom Group Limited
fREEEARAA]
Beneficial owner

Mr. Yu Yingquan Merry Boom Group Limited

THRE%AE REEBERAT ERkEA
Note:

(1) The letter “L" denotes the Directors' long position in the shares of the

Company or the relevant associated corporation.

(2)  These Shares were held by Merry Boom Group Limited. Merry Boom
Group Limited is owned as to approximately 54.58% by Mr. Tian. Mr.
Tian is deemed to be interested in all the Shares held by Merry Boom
Group Limited under the SFO.
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EERFETHRAEREAQAHHEM
BOLERG HEROINESPHE
BmRARR

RIZZENFFT_A=+—8B EFREARAE
ZTBRABRARRSETAEBEZE(ERER
FEREPIENEZ S LPEGRIN(TEZLHE
& 1) EXVER D) B9 B dn ~ MBI KBS+
BRERBREZE R RPEGERAIFIDEARBFE
B E R AT RC Bk SR IE E AR R PR EEY L 21T
ANETTEHZR HHRET R ([RETA ) ARTT
MEARR MR MORBINT ¢ —

Number and class Percentage

of securities held of shareholding

FERSHARER ERESNEIL
(Note 1)
(F¥sE1)

1,750,000,000 Shares (L)(Note 2) 66.99%
1,750,000,000 & B 13 (L) (i 3F2)

131 ordinary shares of US$1 each (L) 54.58%
BIRERAEEIETHLRR(Q)

60 ordinary shares of US$1 each (L) 25.00%
6ORR B R E B 1 £ T ERA (L)

1 ordinary share of USS1 each (L) 0.42%

REREEI ETALBRL

GER

m FEIIRTEZTNARF A B ABEE K
HEEFRE -

() HERNHEEEEERARRA - FEEH
ER AR BEEEEBA458%Em  BIEH
HFREEEN - BAEEHERANCEERBR
RNAFERNRARND R HES #E -



Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2008, none of the Directors
and the chief executive of the Company nor their respective associates
had any interest or short position in the shares, underlying shares
and debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporation
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required
to be recorded in the register kept by the Company pursuant to
section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the "Scheme”) on 5
September 2007. The major terms of the Scheme are as follows:

1. The primary purpose of the Scheme is to motivate our
employees and other eligible persons entitled under the
scheme to optimise their contributions to the Group and to
reward them for their contribution to the Group.

2. Eligible participants of the Scheme are (a) any employee
(whether fulltime or part-time including any executive director
but excluding any non-executive director) of the Company,
any of its subsidiaries or any entity (“Invested Entity”) in
which any member of the Group holds an equity interest;
(b) any non-executive directors (including independent non-
executive directors) of the Company, any of its subsidiaries
or any Invested Entity; (c) any supplier of goods or services
to any member of the Group or any Invested Entity; (d) any
customer of any member of the Group or any Invested Entity;
(e) any person or entity that provides research, development
or other technological support to any member of the Group
or any Invested Entity; (f) any shareholder of any member of
the Group or any Invested Entity or any holder of any securities
issued by any member of the Group or any Invested Entity;
(g) any adviser (professional or otherwise) or consultant to
any area of business or business development of any member
of the Group or any Invested Entity; (h) any other group or
classes of participants who have contributed or may contribute
by way of joint venture, business alliance or other business
arrangement to the development and growth of the Group.
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The maximum number of Shares which may be issued upon
the exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to
be exercised under the Scheme and any other share option
scheme adopted by the Group must not in aggregate exceed
30% of the share capital of the Company in issue from time to
time. The total number of the Shares which may be allotted
and issued upon the exercise of all options (excluding, for this
purpose, options which have lapsed in accordance with the
terms of the Scheme and any other share option scheme of
the Group) to be granted under the Scheme and any other
share option scheme of the Group must not in aggregate
exceed 10% of the Shares in issue on the date on which the
Shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

The total number of Shares issued and which may fall to be issued
upon the exercise of the options granted under the Scheme
and any other share option scheme of the Group (including
both exercised or outstanding options) to each grantee in
any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the issued share
capital of the Company for the time being (“Individual Limit").
Any further grant of options in excess of the Individual Limit
in any 12-month period up to and including the date of such
further grant must be separately approved by the shareholders
of the Company in general meeting with such grantee and
his associates abstaining from voting.

Any grant of options under the Scheme to a director, chief
executive or substantial shareholder of the Company or any of
their respective associates must be approved by independent
non-executive directors of the Company (excluding independent
non-executive director of the Company who or whose associates
is the proposed grantee of the options). In addition, any grant
of options to a substantial shareholder or an independent non-
executive director of the Company or any of their respective
associates, in excess of 0.1% of the Shares in issue at any time
or with an aggregate value (based on the closing price of the
Shares at the date of the grant) in excess of HKS5 million, within
any 12-month period, are subject to shareholders’approval of
the Company in a general meeting.

EITEREZETE A AN E B A r) HAn i
AR R ST B3R T i R TT 6 O BB AR A T 1] Ak
BITHRMD LR - A T ESBBAQFD
B BB ITRR AR A30% o E1TFE IR I % a2
MAEER AR EMmEBRETZRENS
HEREGREME - TEEREZTE
7R & E B (] H Ath B AR A 5T BV IR K2
KA IS AR R ) T AT BE B B R BT R AR 19
HERRE A TESHBBRONRERMME
R ET B EIE EATARIDBI10% ©

AR+ 8 A B R 1T R 8 &
7R 6% [ 1 {] EL A R A A AT B AT X H O BB X
(R R IT/E kM AR TT 6B R
FICAESERANEITRETEITNRD
BT FBERARAEREHITRAI%
(TMERI LR - AMEFR+—EAHRES
BREBEREZR (BEZB) LE—FR
THAEERN EROBREBAGTRERAS
EREARBH BRI ET S EARE
BEALENERE -

RBZTERTARBES - TTHAHK
FERFHMMEANSENBEALTHE
BENEBEARRBILIENTESRS(TE
BEABEREREZARAXEBEALS
BREZZARANEKRBNE L IERTT
ER)AHE o AN WRARQREER
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AR TERE R+ =@A M
N BBERREDETRK.1% - kiR
REBHABRMOKRTENE  LEBRR
5,000,000 7T - AIZBRF IR A AR A AIAR
RARE LHE - FAEE -



The exercise period of the share options granted under the
Scheme is determined by the directors of the Company, which
period may commence from the date of the offer for the
grant of options is made, but shall end in any event not later
than 10 years from the date of the offer for the grant of the
option or the expiry date of the Scheme, if earlier, subject to
the provisions for early termination as stated in the Scheme.

The acceptance of an offer of the grant of the option must be
made within 21 days from the date of the offer for the grant
with a nonrefundable payment of HK$1.00 from the grantee.

The exercise price of the share option is determined by the
Board but shall not be less than the higher of (i) the closing
price of the Shares as stated in the daily quotations sheet
of the Stock Exchange on the date of grant; (ii) the average
closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheets for the five business days immediately
preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of the
Shares.

The Scheme shall be valid and effective till 4 September
2017.
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As at 31 December 2008, no share options have been granted under RZZEENFE+_A=+—H - TEEELRAQ T
the Scheme of the Company. ZETEIm L AR -
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INTERESTS OF THE SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS
IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE
COMPANY

As at 31 December 2008, so far as is known to the Directors, the
following persons, other than a Director or chief executive of the
Company, have an interest or a short position in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register required
to be kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO:

Capacity/nature

Name of shareholder of interest
REREMH B EmtE
Merry Boom Group Limited Beneficial owner
REEBFGRAR EREBA
Victory Investment Beneficial owner
China Group Limited BEnEB A
Wang Rui Yun Interest in controlled corporation,
TiRE Victory Investment

China Group Limited

FERRRARQF RS RAEBRDF
HYFE &R

R-FENE+-A=+—0 BEEFA B
ARARBES RIS GO EHARAER
BEHZEMARG  DTAL(ESAARAE
BN BRI RAR AL AR (5 o
B IAR

SPEHABERERS ¢ Victory Investment

China Group Limited

(1) The letter "l” denotes the long position in the shares of the Company.

(2)  These Shares were held by Merry Boom Group Limited. Merry Boom Group
Limited is owned as to approximately 54.58% by Mr. Tian, an executive
Director and Chairman of the Company. Mr. Tian is deemed to be interested

in all the Shares held by Merry Boom Group Limited under the SFO as

disclosed under the paragraph headed “ Directors’ and Chief Executive’

Interests and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares or Debentures

of the Company or its associated corporations” above.
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Number of shares/ Percentage of
underlying shares issued share capital
M1, B RDEE HEBTREABIL

(Note 1)

(F7ET)
1,750,000,000 (L) 66.99%

(Note 2)

(M$3E2)
176,000,000 (L) 6.74%
176,000,000 (L) 6.74%

Gl
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2008, other than the
directors and chief executive of the Company whose interests or
short positions are set out in the paragraph headed " Directors'and
Chief Executive' Interests and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying

Shares or Debentures of the Company or its associated corporations”

above, the Directors and the chief executive of the Company were
not aware of any person who had an interest or a short position in
the Shares, or underlying Shares of the Company which were required
to be recorded in the register kept by the Company pursuant to
section 336 of the SFO.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as the Scheme of the Company disclosed above, at no time
during the year was the Company, its holding company, its subsidiaries
or fellow subsidiaries a party to any arrangements whose objects
are, or one of whose objects is, to enable the Directors to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of,
the Company or any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ AND CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER’S
INTEREST IN CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE AND
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Continuing Connected Transactions

The Group has the following continuing connected transactions for
the year ended 31 December 2008:

Parties involved

BRER

Type of transactions

R 5 %5

1. Steam provision contract
FKARESLD

IWRSHEEE T AREFRAT
(Shandong Shouguang Juneng Golden
Corn Development Co., Ltd) (“Golden
Corn”) and IUEREHXEEREHER
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BREXFEBEEN R-ZZENFT _A=1—
B BEZIABHENLELXEEREIBITHA
BRALRRERBEZE RN - HERNHEF
PR AR | BN ARREERERITR
AEIN  BEERARBITHRA BRI ABERMA
TR AR SARBE R D 7 B RIRE 75 S
ERPIE3B6IHRBRENARBFENE LM

e

RRIORE -

EEBARODHESFHER

B EXARRBZETEIPTREE SN - R FEAEAR
RARE -~ HERQE - HHEB AR SR RNE
ARMESEEFNENAIEP—EENRSE
EARBARR R SEMEAMEAB RN K
EF M HE -

EERERBERREAGEIRBER
Z PR R

AEEBE_ZTTN\F+_A=T—HILFEN
FHEWEZHWT :

Amount

=8

2008: Approximately RMB235,000
(2007: RMB60,456,000)

—EENF - HARE2350007T
(ZZZ+F : AR¥60,456,0007T)

2 |] (Shandong Shouguang Juneng

Special Steel Co., Ltd) (“Juneng Special

Steel”)

IWRSBIEERESEAFAEARAQA
T2EXRDRURSHEREFRE

[RAB(TERERF])

Annual cap (exclusive of tax paid to
relevant tax authority in the PRC):

2008: RMB70,000,000

(2007: RMB70,000,000)
FREER(TBEBREEXNHEE @R
PRI B RR) -

—ZTZENEF : AK¥70,000,0007T
(ZZZTLF : AR®70,000,0007T)
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2.

Manpower provision

agreement Group
AN R TEANERIEREE

Electricity and steam supply GREEREEEREDMBER QA
agreements (Linging Deneng Golden Corn Bio

T RSB

(“Deneng Bio Tech”)

REEEEEREMARAR(E
e EAK ) RRBREEMRRE

[Ram](TiEgeEmesd)

The details of the above continuing connected transactions are
summarised as follows:
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Steam provision contract

The Group operates its own co-generation power plant which
generates the electricity and steam needed both for the Group’s
production and sales to third parties. On 1 September 2006,
Golden Corn entered into a steam provision contract with
Juneng Special Steel for the provision of steam to Juneng
Special Steel at the relevant prevailing charge rate prescribed
by the ¥ T ¥{E B Commodity Pricing Bureau of Shouguang
City ("Shouguang CPB") from time to time. The pricing term
is subject to adjustment in the event that there are changes
in the prevailing charge rates for the provision of steam as
prescribed by Shouguang CPB.

Juneng Special Steel is owned as to 59% by Juneng Holding
Group, whichis in turn 55% owned by Mr. Tian (who is a director
of the Company and a controlling shareholder of the Company)
and 5% owned by Mr. Yu Yingquan (who is a director of the
Company). As Juneng Special Steel is a subsidiary of Juneng
Holding Group which is an associate of Mr. Tian, Juneng Special
Steel is a connected person of the Company for the purpose
of Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Waiver from strict compliance with the announcement and
independent shareholders’ approval requirements under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules was granted by the Stock
Exchange with respect to the continuing connected transactions
contemplated under the steam provision contract.

Golden Corn and Juneng Holding

Limited) (“Deneng Golden Corn”) and
B R EYRI AR AR (Linging
Deneng Bio Technology Limited)

2008: Nil
(2007:RMB6,950,000)
—EENF F

—EZ4F 0 AR¥6,950,0007T)

Annual cap (exclusive of tax paid to
relevant tax authority in the PRQC):

2008: RMB8,000,000

(2007: RMB7,000,000)
FELIR(TEEE TP E A BRI
FIEEL SR -

—ZET)N\F : AR%8,000,0007T
—ZTTLF : AR¥7,000,0007T)

For the period from 9 April 2008 to
17 June 2008 when Deneng Bio Tech was
a connected person of the Company:
Approximately RMB3,406,000
m-PEN\FNANEE_BR\FAS
THHEM(AEEEDRIBRARARZ
BEAL): HARE3,406,0007T
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Manpower Provision Agreement

Prior to the listing of the Company’s shares on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange, Juneng Holding Group had been providing
staff provision service to the Group. On 5 September 2007,
Golden Corn entered into a manpower provision agreement
("Manpower Provision Agreement”) with Juneng Holding
Group for the provision of staff service by Juneng Holding
Group to Golden Corn. The terms of the Manpower Provision
Agreement is for a period commencing from 5 September
2007 and ending on 31 December 2008.

Juneng Holding Group is 55% owned by Mr. Tian (who is a
director of the Company and a controlling shareholder of
the Company) and 5% owned by Mr. Yu Yingquan (who is a
director of the Company). Juneng Holding Group is a connected
person of the Company for the purpose of Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules.

According to the Manpower Provision Agreement, Golden Corn
shall pay to Juneng Holding Group, for each staff provided, a
fixed monthly rate determined with reference to the average
monthly salary of staff of Golden Corn engaged in similar
functions. The monthly fee payable for each staff provided can
be adjusted subject to the written consents by both parties
to the Manpower Provision Agreement but shall, in any event,
not exceed the average monthly salary of staff of Golden Corn
engaged in similar functions or fees chargeable by independent
third parties providing similar services.

The staff secondment arrangement with Juneng Holding
Group has ceased since 1 January 2008 as all such secondment
staff were transferred to the Group under our employment.
Therefore, the Group did not have any transaction with Juneng
Holding Group under the Manpower Provision Agreement for
the year under review.

The Directors confirmed that the Company had complied with
the disclosure requirements as applicable to the transactions
contemplated under the manpower provision agreement of
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Electricity and steam supply agreements

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 1
December 2008, Deneng Golden Corn (as purchaser) entered into
a steam supply agreement and an electricity supply agreement
on 20 May 2008 (with various supplemental agreements on
the adjustment of pricing term) (collectively the “Supply
Agreements”) with Deneng Bio Tech (as supplier). The unit price
of electricity and steam was contracted at RMB0.45 per kwh
and RMB90 per tonne (both of them including value-added tax)
respectively. However, the unit price of electricity and steam
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was subject to adjustment half yearly save when there is a
substantial variation in the production cost (whether upward
or downward), both of Deneng Golden Corn and Deneng Bio
Tech may adjust the unit price in accordance with the actual
change in the production cost of electricity and steam earlier
otherwise than half yearly.

Prior to 18 June 2008, Deneng Bio Tech held approximately
14.06% interest in Deneng Golden Corn and was therefore
a substantial shareholder of Deneng Golden Corn and a
connected person of the Company pursuant to the Listing
Rules. Accordingly, the transactions contemplated under
the Supply Agreements constituted continuing connected
transactions of the Company.

On 18 June 2008, Deneng Bio Tech transferred about 6.25%
shareholding interest to two independent third parties of the
Company. After such transfer, Deneng Bio Tech ceased to be
a connected person of the Company under the Listing Rules.
Therefore, the transactions contemplated under the Supply
Agreements ceased to constitute connected transactions and
continuing connected transactions of the Company pursuant
to the Listing Rules on and subsequent to 18 June 2008.

As at the date of this report, Deneng Golden Corn still purchases
electricity and steam from Deneng Bio Tech for the production
of cornstarch and corn-related products under the Supply
Agreements.

Connected Transaction

Acquisition of production facilities from Deneng Bio Tech

On 9 April 2008, Deneng Golden Corn, as purchaser, and Deneng
Bio Tech, as vendor, entered into a provisional sale and purchase
agreement (the “Provisional Sale and Purchase Agreement”) for the
acquisition of certain cornstarch production facilities, including
all machinery and equipments (the “Production Assets”) and the
associate lands, buildings and ancillary structures (the "Property
Assets”), from Deneng Bio Tech for a consideration of approximately
RMB105,529,513 and a maximum consideration of RMB38,417,230
respectively. A repayment guarantee agreement (the “Repayment
Guarantee Agreement”) was also entered into among Deneng
Golden Corn, Deneng Bio Tech and E&/& M & 2 A A (The Electricity
Company of Linging City) (the “Electricity Company”), as guarantor,
on the same date in conjunction with the Provisional Sale and
Purchase Agreement for the purpose of governing the performance
by Deneng Bio Tech of its financial obligations under the Provisional
Sale and Purchase Agreement. The Electricity Company is a state-
controlled enterprise established in the PRC and the single-largest
shareholder of Deneng Bio Tech holding 13.25% equity interest in
Deneng Bio Tech.
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As disclosed in the announcement dated 6 June 2008 and 19
December 2008, the application of relevant land use rights and
certificate of title of the Property Assets (the “Relevant Certificates”)
was still processed by the People’s Government of Linging City (B&/&
mARBAT). In this regard, Deneng Golden Corn exercised its right
to extend the completion date and entered into a supplemental
agreement on 5 June 2008 and a further supplemental agreement
(the "Further Supplement Agreement”) on 18 December 2008 to
further extend the deadline for obtaining the Relevant Certificate
to 31 December 2009.

The payment terms of the Production Assets and Property Assets
are summarised as follows:

Production Assets:

(i)  thefirstinstalmentin the sum of RMB70,000,000 within 10 days
from the date of signing of the Provisional Sales and Purchase
Agreement and the Repayment Guarantee Agreement;

(i)  the second instalment in the sum of RMB12,000,000 upon
completion of the acquisition of the Production Assets;

(iii) the third instalment in the sum of RMB22,000,000 within 10
days following completion of the acquisition of the Property
Assets; and

(iv) the remaining balance of RMB1,529,513 as “quality assurance
retainer” after one year from completion of the acquisition of
the Property Assets, on the condition that no material defects
shall be found in the title and/or quality of the Production
Assets and the Property Assets.

Property Assets:

(i)  thefirstinstalmentin the sum of RMB18,000,000 within 10 days
from the date of signing of the Provisional Sales and Purchase
Agreement and the Repayment Guarantee Agreement;

(i) the second instalment, subject to a cap of RMB20,000,000,
which is equal to the consideration for the associated land
within 10 days following completion of the acquisition of the
Property Assets; and

(iii)  the remaining balance of RMB417,230 as "quality assurance
retainer”after one year from the completion of the acquisition
of the Property Assets, on the condition that no material defects
shall be found in the title and/or quality of the Production
Assets and the Property Assets
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The first and second instalments of the Production Assets and the first
instalment of the Property Assets were settled during the year ended
31 December 2008. It was reiterated in the Further Supplemental
Agreement that the time for settlement of the remaining balance
of the consideration for the acquisitions under the Provisional Sale
and Purchase Agreement shall remain as follows:

(i)  the third instalment of RMB22,000,000 for the acquisition of
Production Assets shall be payable within 10 days following
completion of the acquisition of the Property Assets;

(i) the second instalment for the acquisition of the Property
Assets, being the actual expenses to be incurred by Deneng
Bio Tech in acquiring the land use rights of the associated
land (with a cap of RMB20,000,000), shall be payable within 10
days following completion of the acquisition of the Property
Assets; and

(iii) the remaining balances of RMB1,529,513 under the acquisition
of the Production Assets and RMB417,230 under the acquisition
of the Property Assets as “quality assurance retainer” shall be
payable after one year from the completion of the acquisition of
the Property Assets, on the condition that no material defects
shall be found in the title and/or quality of the Production
Assets and the Property Assets.

As at the date of this report, the Relevant Certificates have not yet
been obtained and so the Provisional Sale and Purchase Agreement
has still not been completed. However, the acquisition of Production
Assets which represents a substantial portion of the subject assets
under the Provisional Sale and Purchase Agreement was duly
completed during the year under review.

Annual review of continuing connected transaction

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the above
continuing connected transactions for the year ended 31 December
2008 and confirmed that the continuing connected transactions
were:

(a) entered into in the ordinary and usual course of business of
the Group;

(b) entered into on normal commercial terms; and
(c) inaccordance with the terms of the respective agreements that

are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the shareholders
of the Company as a whole.
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The auditor of the Company have also reviewed the continuing
connected transactions on a sample basis and confirmed that
the continuing connected transactions:

(@) were approved by the Board;

(b) were in accordance with the pricing policies of the
Company;

() had been entered into in accordance with the respective
agreements governing the transactions; and

(d) had not exceeded the respective annual caps as disclosed
in the prospectus of the Company dated 12 September
2007 (the "Prospectus”).

Other than as disclosed above, no contract of significance, to
which the Company, any of its holding companies, subsidiaries
or fellow subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director had
a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at
the end of or at any time during the year, nor had there been
any contract of significance entered into between the Group
and a controlling shareholder of the Company during the year
ended 31 December 2008.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

There was no purchase, sale or redemption by the Company or
any of its subsidiaries, of the Company'’s listed securities during
the year ended 31 December 2008.

COMPETING INTERESTS

As at the date of this report, Juneng Holding Group, an investment
holding company established in the PRC, was 55% owned by
Mr. Tian (who is a Director and a controlling shareholder of the
Company) and accordingly is an associate of Mr. Tian for the
purpose of the Listing Rules. As at the date of this report, Juneng
Holding Group was interested in approximately 33% of the equity
interestof LI & ¢ E ge 4B R A R A 7 (Shandong Shouguang
Juneng Heat and Electricity Development Co., Ltd.) (Juneng Heat
and Electricity Development”), a company established in the PRC
and is principally engaged in the provision of electricity to the
provincial power grid of Shandong Province. Each of Juneng
Holding Group and Juneng Heat and Electricity Development has
given an irrevocable non-competition undertaking in favour of
the Company. For further details, please refer to the paragraph
headed “Competing business of controlling shareholders”under
the section headed “Business”in the Prospectus.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2008, in so far as the
Directors were aware, none of the Directors or their respective
associates had any interest in a business apart from the Group’s
businesses that competed or was likely to compete, either directly
or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company'’s
articles of association or the laws of Cayman Islands, which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to
its existing shareholders.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of its Directors, as at the
date of this report, there is sufficient public float of not less than
25% of the Company'’s total issued shares as required under the
Listing Rules.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Directors are of the opinion that the Company has complied
with the code provisions set out in the Code on Corporate
Governance Practices contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing
Rules throughout the year.

The Company’s corporate governance practices are set out in
the Corporate Governance Report on pages 45 to 101 of this
annual report.

AUDITOR

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu (“Deloitte”) were re-appointed as
the auditor of the Company at the annual general meeting
held on 16 May 2008 and resigned on 11 November 2008.
PricewaterhouseCoopers (“PwC") was first appointed as auditor
of the Company by the Board following the resignation of
Deloitte with effect from 11 November 2008. The consolidated
financial statements have been audited by PwC who shall retire
and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment at the
forthcoming AGM.

On behalf of the Board
Tian Qixiang
Chairman

Hong Kong

17 April 2009
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of the Company
is mindful of the importance of good corporate governance practices
and procedures in safeguarding shareholders'interests and enhancing
the performance of the Group. With this objective in mind, the
Company is committed to the establishment and implementation
of good corporate governance practices and procedures.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

During the year under review, the Company has complied with the
code provisions prescribed in the Code on Corporate Governance
Practices (the "CG Code”) set out in Appendix 14 of the Rules (the
“Listing Rules”) Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) which are
adopted by the Company as its own code of corporate governance
practices.

In December 2008, the Board has also resolved to amend its Securities
Dealing Code and terms of reference of audit committee including,
but not limited to, the followings (the “Amendments”):

- the extension of blackout period;

- the requirement of written clearance on dealing of securities
by the Directors; and

- the responsibility of reviewing the adequacy of resources and
experience of staff of the Company’s accounting and financial
reporting function.

The Amendments have become effective from 1 January 2009 and
are in line with the amendments to the Listing Rules promulgated
by the Stock Exchange in December 2008.

In view of the recent modification of the blackout period made
by the Stock Exchange in February 2009, the Securities Dealing
Code of the Company has been further amended in line with the
modification.

The Board is pleased to present the major principles in the CG Code
that were applied by the Group during the year. The recommended
best practices of the CG Code as mentioned below are not part of
the Company’s code of corporate governance practices.
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A.1

Complied
with (V)/
Details Explanation Implementation
-y (3) BiTER
BEF(V)/
R (E)
DIRECTORS
5=
The Board
BExg

Principle: The Company should be headed by an effective board which should assume responsibility for leadership

A

and control of the Company and be collectively responsible for directing and supervising the Company’s
affairs. Directors should take decisions objectively in the interests of the Company.

RABA—ETZAERNESERE  EXCRAERAENERARMNEL  YESBREREY

AN

E“F‘

B

NAER - EFREZTHTE  ERARERAARRAZAHE -

Code Provision

ST Rl 5L

A1 The board should meet regularly and board 4 During the year, the Company convened
meetings should be held at least four times a total of 18 Board meetings, of which 4
a year at approximately quarterly intervals. It meetings were regular meetings scheduled
is expected that such regular board meetings at the beginning of the year in accordance
will normally involve the active participation, with the Code Provision A.1.1.
either in person or through other electronic
means of communication, of a majority of REEAN ARAIEHBRATTNRES
directors entitled to be present. Accordingly, a 2% HP4RNBREBESFAEXA I RESF
regular meeting does not include the practice M8l EHgE -

of obtaining board consent through the
circulation of written resolutions.

ExgRTHRg ES29RREFE
RELER  RAOABE—R - BB RE
AitEEFecHgREaRToBERL
FEeEENESHRILEE NBEBEME
B A EER2EH Hit - £S5
BV TRENEHEEAZRIADEES
SHEME ©
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EEERRE

Implementation
BTHER

The Directors’ attendance record in 2008 is
shown as follows:

ESEN_ZTT/\FNLFLEFBOT

Attendance
HRERE
Board members Regular meetings Other meetings
EZEHE THER S ]
Executive Directors
UTES
TIAN Qixiang (Chairman) 3/4 13/14
REH(ER)
GAQ Shijun (Chief Executive Officer) 3/4 12/14
At E(TRAH)
YU Yingquan 4/4 14/14
T#2
LIU Xianggang 4/4 12/14
B5M
Independent
non-executive Directors
BUABTES
YU Shumin 4/4 11/14
RRE
DONG Yanfeng 4/4 10/14
Eitg
CAQ Zenggong 4/4 10/14
B0
YUE Kwai Wa, Ken 4/4 12/14
458

Such meetings involved the participation, either
in person or through other electronic means
of communication, of the Directors.

NEEROHESHILRNEBEME
FRATEZHE -
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Complied
with (v)/

Details Explanation

ES:| (3]
2EF(V)/
2 (E)

Implementation

BITER

A.1.2 Arrangements should be in place to ensure v Prior to convening the meetings, the company
that all directors are given an opportunity secretary consulted with each of the Directors
to include matters in the agenda for regular if there is any matter to be discussed before
board meetings. issuing formal agenda.
EXgRIARE UHRE2BESEHR Eg#®p RANEHEHARERTRD
ReRbBmdFRIAEZTSEH AR EBRNFAESBFLEAGERE -
2 o

A13 Notice of at least 14 days should be given of v The schedule of the four regular Board meetings

a regular board meeting to give all directors
an opportunity to attend.

ﬁﬁaﬂ%% HezREdEE=L+THER
yl “Fﬁ*ﬁ%% CEMERELE -

For all other board meetings, reasonable notice v
should be given.

ERNBHREMMAE=ESH
A

EELA

were made available by the company secretary
at the beginning of the year to encourage
the Directors to actively participate in Board
meetings.

ERFEY - R
eEZNRHEX BOR
*@ ujuﬁ%%ﬁﬁ_i °©

ANECFEIHMARTENE
HEBEFE

Notices of the regular Board meetings have
been given to the Directors at least 14 days
prior to the actual dates of convening such

meetings.
CRBNNTEEERERTEHNEESSH
RO THBARBELEEES -

For other Board meetings, reasonable notice
had been given in compliance with the
Company'’s articles of association.

RHEMEEEEAMS &
NEERGETRER %Do

S AR A H)
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All directors should have access to the advice
and services of the company secretary with
a view to ensuring that board procedures,
and all applicable rules and regulations, are
followed.

MEESEEARGARANMENERNEZR
WEORY  BNESTHEREFEREF R
FBEERRR RO ESES
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Implementation
BTHR

The Directors may make enquiry to the company
secretary any time in respect of the agenda
or other matters of the meetings as well as
updates on rules and regulations.

ARAMERBEISEFTEASHAZEX
H i FIHAR IR AR IR G E 5

A.1.5

Minutes of board meetings and meetings of
board committees should be kept by a duly
appointed secretary of the meeting and such
minutes should be open for inspection at any
reasonable time on reasonable notice by any
director.

REAZENSEWERBFESTSNE
TZEeMeILE FREMESEY
EEBN BRAREHRERCREREER
AEENRFRER -

The company secretary is responsible for
preparing draft minutes of Board meetings,
which should be circulated to and reviewed by
all the Directors before signing by the chairman
of the Board meetings for record purpose of
the Company and the Directors.

ARAMERERREFTE@RCE(TR)
VTEHELEEMNGEEREFEHNRIEES
CERIEEERR UHARARES
fERCER M o

The Directors may request the company
secretary for a copy of any minutes of Board
meetings.

E=ARERAANERHEIMNESTS S
ARALERZ BIAN o
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Complied
with (V)/
Explanation Implementation

(3] BETER
2EF(V)/
R (E)

A.1.6 Minutes of board meetings and meetings of Please refer to A.1.5.
board committees should record in sufficient
detail the matters considered by the board and BREAIS
decisions reached, including any concerns raised
by directors or dissenting views expressed. The final version of minutes of Board meetings

are signed by the chairman of the Board
EEehkHBETZESNERLH  BY meetings upon confirmation for record
TR LR EEMEREENERNAEE purpose.
RAFHMANTE  HPEZEREFRY
MERREXIRENRBEER - HEFEERTREZFEESFESER
FRTE T AR ER o

Draft and final versions of minutes of board
meetings should be sent to all directors for
their comment and records respectively, in
both cases within a reasonable time after the
board meeting is held.
EEgeadRE BRAERRAKLER
RERLEFNVREEREREEZDE
B URHEEREER  ZKRERAME
Hicsk 2R -

A1.7 There should be a procedure agreed by the The Directors may seek for independent

board to enable directors, upon reasonable
request, to seek independent professional
advice in appropriate circumstances, at the
company’s expense.

EFeRuBERERF EEFHAEZR
KA EEENBATSKBEYLERE
R BRHARRAXN -

The board should resolve to provide separate
independent professional advice to directors
to assist the relevant director or directors to
discharge his/their duties to the company.

EFZeRIRZIREFREBIUERE
R UGB EREFRTEHARNE
£ e

professional advice at the expense of the
Company as and when necessary upon making
request and obtaining approval at the Board
meetings.

EFERARTESKBUERER A
EEFeZ LREZRRME - BERITA
NCIFERIY

In addition, as stated in Article 101 of the
Company'’s articles of association, the Company
should bear all expenses reasonably incurred by
the Directors while discharging their duties.

BRIz ARIEZEREI0VFEL  EFE
BTERERELENEHAEEBAEHA
Tag -
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A.1.8 If a substantial shareholder or a director has a
conflict of interest in a matter to be considered
by the board which the board has determined
to be material, the matter should not be dealt
with by way of circulation or by a committee
(except an appropriate board committee set
up for that purpose pursuant to a resolution
passed in a board meeting) but a board meeting

should be held.

FEEABRRIEZTEETER TEENS
BRFEESER/ERNMNEER - A
FAEENEABRAES AREEXNXAE T
ZEeRE(REESSLZ LBBIRE
MmAFRIBLtE ERARZMNEZE @RI - ME
FeRIRFEETESFS -

Independent non-executive directors who, and
whose associates, have no material interest
in the transaction should be present at such
board meeting.

ERGPAGREBEATLEBEEKRI=
MBYNTESEZEEEBENEES
B

Recommended Best Practices

BERTEER
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Complied
with (v)/
CIERENT Implementation
(E) BITER
BEFWV)/
R (E)

v During the year under review, Board meetings
at which matter considered by the Board
involving such conflicts of interest, which
were determined by the Board as material,
were conducted by physical meeting.

REOBEFE EESURSHTRBBSR
EEERTBEARAMEEREENT
HERFENEFEEHE -

If such Directors or shareholders are present
at the meeting, statements must be made
before reaching any resolutions and, as the
case may be, the resolution should be voted
in the absence of such Directors.

FREFHBERINFEEREG L HEITR
v EUFERBERRRENEAZERAHE
EHEETRBREE -

A.1.9 The company should arrange appropriate
insurance cover in respect of possible legal

actions against its directors.

NREREERA RS E N ERTHE
EERORRL L

= The Board considers no practical need to
arrange such insurance.

EZeRRAERRYLREERTFE -
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Board committees should adopt, so far as
practicable, the principles, procedures and
arrangements set out in A.1.1 to A.1.8.

EEeETLZESREVENTHNEENR
RAAININZEANSERIMREE - BF %
B o

Complied
with (V)/
Explanation

(3]
2EF(V)/
R (E)

Implementation

BITER

The Board has established the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee
and the Nomination Committee (collectively
the "Committees”). Meeting schedules of the
Committees are made available to the members
at the beginning of the year.

EETBRTREEZXZED  FMWEE
%Kég(lv/ﬁﬁf%“a ) E&K
B % B [ I8 7 F A R E R AR R

10 )0 S
° mﬂbaﬁﬁ

\
/

As stipulated in the terms of reference of the
Audit Committee, the Audit Committee should
meet at least twice a year. The Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee
should meet at least once a year. Unless consents
from all relevant committee members are
obtained, notice of not less than 7 days should
be given for all meetings of the Committees.
The 4 regular meetings requirement of CG
Code A.1.1 is not adopted with respect to
the Committees as the Directors considered
that it is not necessary for the proper and
efficient discharge of their respective duties.
The right of any member or the secretary
of the Committees to convene a committee
meeting is sufficient to cater for the need to
convene one in case this is necessary.

REECZESRESRERT  BFXRXE
EEFRIFAEMA - FHEE S RIESR
ZEESFRIHAE R - BIFFHANE
Ee2BXERE MEZESNEZR
HMPERADRER - ARFAEREES
RMEXEREMTRANEBIRERE
BARE WARESRSUEHRLE
LERBTESENBEMS WIEMBE -
ZEgEAKESIMENEHNEZESEH
E’J%%‘JE&MFHE%‘%%%’%%TEF'aﬁ@

ZHEE o

CG Codes A.1.2 to A.1.8 are applicable to the
Committees.
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A.2 Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
FERTHRAR

Principle: There should be a clear division of the responsibilities between the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer
of the Company to ensure a balance of power and authority.

R ARRERERTBARZBENBRENETRERY - UEFRENNRED HHE -

Code Provision

< Al 5L

A.2.1 The roles of chairman and chief executive v Mr.Tian Qixiang is the Chairman of the Company
officer should be separate and should not be and Mr. Gao Shijun is the Chief Executive Officer
performed by the same individual. of the Company.
TRERETRARNBERERAERY - X TE HEFTER/RARAERE  SHERER
H— ARIBFFRE - RNBIOITHER -

The division of responsibilities between the The Chairman is primarily responsible for the
chairman and chief executive officer should be strategic positioning of the Group and the
clearly established and set out in writing. Chief Executive Officer is primarily responsible
for the operation and business development
FTRETRAH  EBRENS TREES of the Group.
EWIAEESH o
ITRFIZEESENEBIE - TRAR
T2EEENRKEMEBHER -

A2.2 The chairman should ensure that all directors v In respect of regular Board meetings, and
are properly briefed onissues arising at board so far as practicable, other Board meetings,
meetings. the company secretary provides necessary

information on relevant issues to all Directors at
ITRERREZSERZ L MEESHYEE least three days before the date of convening
MAEZRAIMSEIE - of the Board meetings.

REHEFEeRR(EVEATHER
TEMEEEERM:  AANWESEE
ZERTERAYMRL=ZERERES
RUBASENAFTES -
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(3] BETER
2EF(V)/
R (E)

A2.3

The chairman should be responsible for ensuring
that directors receive adequate information,
which must be complete and reliable, in a
timely manner.

ITREEERREFARKIZTHINE
A MEBEMITBATHER SE -

Recommended Best Practices
EEREER

Please refer to A.2.2.

BREA22

A2.4

One of the important rules of the chairman is
to provide leadership for the board.

ITRETREEZACRASESRS -

The chairman should ensure that the
board works effectively and discharges its
responsibilities, and that all key and appropriate
issues are discussed by the board in a timely
manner.

TRERREZTSAMIMENRE  BRITE
BERBE ULKHMEEENEE FRE

1Tatam °

The chairman should be primarily responsible
for drawing up and approving the agenda
for each board meeting taking into account,
where appropriate, any matters proposed
by the other directors for inclusion in the
agenda. The chairman may delegate such
responsibility to a designated director or the
company secretary.

ITREIZEEECTYHESAESTE S
AR EEEBRT  EBETER
LREMESRERZMAZENEMNEE - =
FASKERETEREENESTHAAMW

==
=

The chairman of the Board is an executive
Director whose function is to ensure the
development objectives are executed by the
Board.

EESTRARTESEL HPHIE
BRERERBEEEHESGNT

The company secretary assists the chairman in
preparing the agenda for each Board meeting
and ensures that matters proposed by other
Directors are included in the agenda.

ARMEREGEIREESAEZSS
ZHEE YHRARAHEMBEFIREDL ZFW
FREINAZREBZF °

54



No.

w5

A.2.5

The chairman should take the responsibility
for ensuring that good corporate governance
practices and procedures are established.

TREAEERRAANERFNERE
AEMLIE

Complied
with (v)/
CIERENT
(E)
BEFWV)/
R (E)
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Implementation

RiTHHR

The chairman, with the assistance of the
company secretary, is responsible for evaluating
the effectiveness of the Company’s corporate
governance practices and procedures and
to make recommendation on any change
considered necessary by the chairman, the
Directors or the company secretary.

ERARWEHRDT  TEEEFEHEARF
ﬁ%%ﬁ%ﬁ&%f%ﬁﬂﬁ?*i%\

R 2% -

A.2.6

The chairman should encourage all directors
to mark a full and active contribution to the
board’s affairs and take the lead to ensure
that the board acts in the best interests of
the company.

TRESBMEESENIRAETESEES
% WAFIER REFSTENAR
Al ER & o

During the year under review, there is
satisfactory attendance for Board and Board
Committee meetings.

REOBEFE EFehETZEENLY
FCSREBR 4T °

A2.7

The chairman should at least annually hold
meetings with the non-executive directors
(including independent non-executive

directors) without the executive directors

present.

TERESBFEIENTES (/B
WITES) BT - RNRERTESHENSG
E

The Chairman, Mr. Tian Qixiang, is a member
of the Remuneration Committee and the
Nomination Committee. Therefore, it is
considered that the Chairman had the
opportunity to discuss all relevant issues
with the independent non-executive
Directors annually without the need for a
formal requirement in this regard.

ITEHEEAARCTFNEESGRREESR
eXE - AR ARELERSEEIRES
VN TESSFAMAAEEMASEE M
BAGIREERNEK -
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Implementation

BITER

A2.8 The chairman should ensure that appropriate v
steps are taken to provide effective
communication with shareholders and that
views of the shareholders are communicated
to the board as a whole.

ETRERARRIGEE SRR EBRRA YL
8 URBERBRRER A EEZIBEE
=g

The Company has provided effective

communication through:

RRFEKLBBIATRERERHEA RN BB

RE

(1) its annual reports/interim reports/
announcements/circulars by providing
the shareholders and potential investors
with the corporate information

FR PR DE S BERHAREREE
KLEERERAREM

(2) the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange by releasing its latest news to the
shareholders and the potential investors

X B FNESE 32 B 6 48 U [ AR OB FE R B
ERMEIBLE

(3) the engagement of public relations agency
to handle general enquiry from shareholders
and potential investors

EEARAAREREREERAE
BB

&

convening of press conference and briefing
meetings with investors from time to time to
explain the latest business development

TEA %ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬂ?ﬂ*ﬁ/\&?xﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁ@ﬁ
BRI EFIER

A29 The chairman should facilitate the effective v
contribution of non-executive directors in
particular and ensure constructive relations
between executive and non-executive
directors.

TFERREER(RHRFATESR )YE
SEFLAMER > UHRERATEFEFE
HITESZRERERENRERK -

Please refer to A.2.6.
BREA26
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A.3 Board composition

EEEEM
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Principle: The Board should have a balance of skills and experience appropriate for the requirements of the business

of the Company. The Board should ensure that a balanced composition of executive and independent non-

executive Directors so that a strong and independent judgement can be exercised.

RR: EEFeRREBEAFREBMAGEEMFEROMNER EFSREARNITEBYIFNTEENES R

oy - DA(EBESDYE Hi o8 K N B S H B -

Code Provision

FANEX
A.3.1 The independent non-executive directors v All corporate communications of the Company,
should be expressly identified as such in all such as announcements/circulars/financial
corporate communications that disclose the reports/website of the Company that disclose
names of directors of the company. the name of Directors have expressly identified
each independent non-executive Director of
NAIFMEHBEEU RN ARIEAFR - & the Company.
ZARER BB IIIEMITEESD °
RAWRNE BEHHBRE WL E P
EERRBHBERESLSE  WIMAERRD
AIRBUIFNTEESD °
Recommended Best Practices
ERREER
A3.2 The company should appoint independent v The Board consists of four executive Directors
non-executive directors representing at least and four independent non-executive Directors.
one-third of the board. Independent non-executive Directors represent
50% (i.e. more than one-third) of the Board.
NREIEENBIYIIFATEZSEREESS
KEABEL=5—- EETeXNERNBRNITESERMOE B I
MITESEX  BUFRTEFEEETS
ABG0%(BIER=5—) °
A33 The company should maintain on its website v The Company has maintained on its website

an updated list of its directors identifying
their role and function and whether they are
independent non-executive directors.

NAEEEPE EREFREHSIINES
SXRERE WHRAEAEMBEE ARk
AREERRBYIEMITES -

an updated profile of its Board members,
and identified all independent non-executive
Directors.

ARAMBUEDKREHINSEZTGKE K
BRYEREBBIUIERTES -
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A.4 Appointments, re-election and removal

ZE - -EEBNER

Principle: There should be a formal, considered and transparent procedure for the appointment of new directors to

the Board. All directors should be subject to re-election at regular intervals.

EXQRHEER KEEZBLAEAENHNEEZZARET  MAEFHREBRETRENSHE

Independent non-executive Directors are
appointed for a term of two years subject
to retirement by rotation at least once every
three years according to Article 108 of the
Company'’s articles of association.

BYHFATESNTHERERIBEAD A
ERI1BKRTCERRERIE  EVE=F—

S
IN °

A :
72 o

Code Provision

ST Rl 5L

A4 Non-executive directors should be appointed
for a specific term, subject to reelection.
EBTEENEEEBREEY  WAE
SEFRE -

A4.2 All directors appointed to fill a casual

vacancy should be subject to election by
shareholders at the first general meeting after
their appointment. Every director, including
those appointed for a specific term, should
be subject to retirement by rotation at least
once every three years.

MERBERERERMEREINESEHR
BEXZERNERARRAE EREIBRRE
R -BREZ(BREAEEEHNES)E
WRRE BELEB=F—R-

58

These are provided for under the Company’s
articles of association and the terms of
appointment of each Director.

EREHCREARAAAERELREES
MR ERIELRE -



No.

o

Recommended Best Practices
BENETR

Complied
with (v)/
CIELENT
(E)
BEFWV)/
R (E)

—ZFET N\EFT Annual Report 2008

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

EERRE

Implementation
BTHR

A4.3

Serving more than nine years could be relevant
to the determination of a non-executive
director’s independence.

EEEFATESTNBE LR  [EEES
BENLF |RAER—EZ B R -

If an independent non-executive director serves
more than nine years, any further appointment
of such independent non-executive director
should be subject to a separate resolution to
be approved by shareholders.

EBYFATETEECSBNAT - EAH
BEZRTZRBUFFNTESTYRIABY
RFBETABHRREZBBG

The board should set out to shareholders in
the papers accompanying a resolution to elect
such an independent non-executive director
the reasons they believe that the individual
continues to be independent and why he/she
should be re-elected.

EEeRERBECRBBIUNTES
HORZRBEM XM - MBRRIIFES
ERSHZBALTINBBELALTHIERNUR
MR SEEFETELAEENRA -

All independent non-executive Directors of
the Company were appointed on 5 September
2007, therefore none of their independence
are at this stage being affected due to serving
more than nine years.

RAMBYFATESTHE_TTLFAN
ARBZEN AHEERETRHEBEB
NEMPEEBIIENRE

The Nomination Committee would nevertheless
consider other factors in the determination
of the independence of each independent
non-executive Director.

BREZZ8ENASEREHEMAZTKEE
BEIIFRTESNRIIE

Each of the independent non-executive Directors
had provided their annual confirmations on
their independence in accordance with the
Listing Rules.

EBIFNTESRE LM RRREBEE
B FE R -
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A4.4 The company should establish a nomination v

committee.
NEERMIBBEES -

A majority of the members of the nomination v
committee should be independent non-
executive directors.

REZZBEANBIYUFRTESTHKRS
e

The Nomination Committee was established
on 5 September 2007.

The Nomination Committee comprises of four
independent non-executive Directors and an
executive Director.

REZEENEHMNUBIIERNTEER
—RRITEFAEK °

The Company held one Nomination Committee
meeting during the year from 1 January to
31 December 2008. The attendance of the
meeting is as follows:

ARBAR-_ZEENF-—A—HE-_ZEZN
FH_A=1T—HFEL B177—RKE
2EZEeeH FRASHHERFBEET:

Members of the

Nomination Committee Attendance
REZEEEGHE IR B
YUE Kwai Wa, Ken (Chairman) 1/1
REE(ER)

TIAN Qixiang 1/1
FHHE

YU Shumin 1/1
OB

DONG Yanfeng 1/1
S

CAO Zenggong 1/1
LT

Such meeting involved the participation,
either in person or through other electronic
means of communication, of the committee
members.

NEteZPBmEZE8eXBERIHFLER
HEFRATELHE -
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A4.5

The nomination committee should be
established with specific written terms
of reference which deal clearly with the
committee’s authority and duties.

AREEE]ARAZEEABNBESR
BRHAZEENBEMET -

The nomination committee should discharge
the following duties:

REAZEQRBETATERE:

- toreview the structure, size and composition
(including the skills, knowledge and
experience) of the board on a regular basis
and make recommendations to the board
regarding any proposed changes;

EHMBHEEROEE - ABRER(D
Erbe  MMRERAHE) | L ETER
ERMEBNE SRR LTS

- to identify individuals suitably qualified
to become board members, and select or
make recommendations to the board on
the selection of individuals nominated for
directorships;

MEAEAEERAEIESNAL I
HEEREAATHEIERIRUAES

SRHEER

. toassess the independence of independent
non-executive directors; and

B IFRITESZNEILME &

- to make recommendations to the board on
relevant matters relating to the appointment
or re-appointment of directors and succession
planning for directors in particular the
chairman and the chief executive officer.

WEFZTAEHNZEUREE(LER
TRERITBAR) BETENAREER
EEgRhES -

Complied
with (v)/
Explanation
(E)
BEFWV)/
R (E)
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BTR

The Nomination Committee has established
written terms of reference with reference to
and no less exacting than this recommended
best practice.

REZBEC2ERARERMAF T L
HERAR X BERE -

During the year, the Nomination Committee
had discharged the following duties:

RAFE  RERBEHRITTUTIIE:

— making recommendation to the Board for the
re-election of Directors at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company;
and

MARBEERRBFAENESTERM
EEeFhERE R

- reviewing the independence of the
independent non-executive Directors and the
annual written independence confirmation
provided by each of them.

EHBLFATESNBLERRERE
BFEEEIBLIEHER
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A4.6 The nomination committee should make v The major duties of the Nomination Committee
available its terms of reference explaining aretoreview the structure and composition of the
its role and the authority delegated to it by Board, to review and provide recommendations
the board. to the shareholders of the Company on the

terms of Director's service contract, and to
RAZESRAFAEBESE HEEA assess the independence of the independent
BURESEERTENESN - non-executive Directors.

REZEGNIZREA/RIESTEINR
BRAEK  BRARLEFORE G QKRR
AARRBRERZZ WA EBELIEH
TESNEILE -

The Nomination Committee considers each
individual’s professional knowledge, industry
experience, personal ethic and personal skills
when it makes recommendation to the Board as
to whether that individual is suitably qualified
to become a member of the Board.

RERALTREENEBMNAERTEMM
EEeFhEER REZBEZEEA
ITHERME TELR  EABRAR
& ARE

Details of the terms of reference of the
Nomination Committee are available at the
Company’s website.

HANREAZEERREEANRCRER
YNSIE DN
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BEFWV)/
R (E)

A4.7 The nomination committee should be provided v This is part of the rights and powers of the
with sufficient resources to discharge its Nomination Committee under its terms of
duties. reference.
RAZEGREHGEREERABITHR R AEE SRS EIR N EEN & E
8o NE—&k7 °

A48 Where the board proposes a resolution to E No new independent non-executive Director

elect an individual as an independent non-
executive director at the general meeting, it
should set out in the circular to shareholders
and/or explanatory statement accompanying
the notice of the relevant general meeting
why they believe the individual should be
elected and the reasons why they consider
the individual to be independent.

FEFEERNIBERAG LRERIAREML
RALTRBIFDTES  FHEBRRAE
3B P IE T B0 BOIR 3R 8 BR Ke 3 R BR B
o BRI AEEFERAEEEZEAL
MIEHARMARSZBALTEBLAL
MRA e

had been appointed in the year under
review.

REEFE  BEMBUFNTESTESR
(R
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A.5 Responsibilities of directors

ExEfE

Principle: Every Director is required to keep abreast of responsibilities as a Director of the Company and of the conduct,

business activities and development of the Company.

SEERETHRBEEADAEENME

Code Provision
SFANMEC

B :

* AR R EIEY

4

L

BHH  EHEDRER -

A.5.1 Every newly appointed director of an company
should receive a comprehensive, formal and
tailored induction on the first occasion of his
appointment, and subsequently such briefing
and professional development as is necessary,
to ensure that he has a proper understanding
of the operations and business of the company
and that he is fully aware of his responsibilities
under statute and common law, the Exchange
Listing Rules, applicable legal requirements and
other regulatory requirements and the business
and governance policies of the company.

BENZANETHREEREXZ AR
EfzE ETARKFASEMEOMIER
M HRTEESHENNTARERE
B AEREAEARNEEREFEE
BERIER  URTEMERFEER R
BEE (EMAAD - EREERRTER
HEMEERENANRRABNESKERBR
THRE °

No new Director was appointed in the year
under review.

ROBEFE  MEFESERT -

In order to keep abreast of the latest
development of the Company, the Directors
are provided with regular updates on the
rules and regulations and so far as practicable,
individual training provided by professional
organisations.

REFARRNENER - EFETHRMER
AIRBRPIEFIAR (EIERITHERT)
REREBREAERE -
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A.5.2

The functions of non-executive directors
should include but should not be limited to
the following:

Complied
with (v)/
CIELENT
(E)
BEFWV)/
R (E)

Implementation

R{THHR

All independent non-executive Directors are
members of the Audit Committee, Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee.

FRTEFHBEERBREETRR TS BUFHNITEE 2 HBERBEXEZEGK
1 g

. participating in board meetings of the
company to bring an independent judgement
to bear on issues of strategy, policy,
performance, accountability, resources, key
appointments and standards of conduct;

Ti%aa% Eﬁ& ‘ﬁ
kﬁ S “Ti%fﬁ FEY - &R I%éﬁc
RigFRAEFEHELE  BHBEYHNER

- taking the lead where potential conflicts of
interests arise;

EHIREEN G E RS REERSEHE
=

- servingonthe audit, remuneration, nomination
and other governance committees, if invited;
and

ERLEEZZES FMHEES &%
B REMERZEGKE &

. scrutinising the company’s performance
in achieving agreed corporate goals and
objectives, and monitoring the reporting
of performance.

HFHRERARINKRREREZIMRENEE
BEMA R ]Lm%‘—(E# RARIRBEMNE

=

E_O

During the year under review, the independent
non-executive Directors participated in Board
meetings (including those when there were
matters involving conflicts of interest to be
considered).

REBEFE  BYFHITEFTCLHES
SR (BEBTERS AN EBREEN

i
= AR

In addition, the independent non-executive
Directors reviewed the comparison of profit
forecast for the year with actual performance in
the regular Board meetings of the Company.

o BYFATEFEERAFNEHRE
QQE%#%&?ttﬁiiﬁﬂ TR 62 E B
%EEJEJ/
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Every director should ensure that he can give
sufficient time and attention to the affairs
of the company and should not accept the
appointment if he cannot do so.

BREZREMRELN L B M E LB A
BRERRNER  BRAITERIRME -

During the period, the Directors have been
actively participating in the Board meetings.
For details, please refer to A.1.1.

REAN SEZHEHRL2EEESH - +F
IBEBEAREAIL °

Directors must comply with their obligations
under the Model Code set out in Appendix 10
and, in addition, the board should establish
written guidelines on no less exacting terms
than the Model Code for relevant employees
in respect of their dealings in the securities
of the company. For this purpose, “relevant
employee” includes any employee of the
company or a director or employee of a
subsidiary or holding company of the company
who, because of such office or employment,
is likely to be in possession of unpublished
price sensitive information in relation to the
company or its securities.

E=VAETHETO(RESTAD): BF
ENENEHREEEARESFEERE
Em#ES - EalABTEZ AR ES R
RR-pUmME [FHAEEIBHEAFME
MAEBREAEEBEMAIESEABAR
RAREFSFNRAFAREHRZERNE
B XERAMBRARXEGRABINILEFE
SXER -

The Company has established its own Securities
Dealing Code on no less exacting terms than
the Model Code set out in Appendix 10 to
the Listing Rules.

ARAHETAGHCESFEETA
AL B R AIK 8+ (R ESFRIDE

e

JIR

A\

>

The amendments to Securities Dealing Code
were passed at the Board meeting held on 19
December 2008 to comply with the amended
Listing Rules that became effective on 1 January
2009. In view of the recent modification of the
blackout period made by the Stock Exchange
in February 2009, the Securities Dealing Code
of the Company has been further amended
in line with the modification.

E-_ZZEN\F+_AThBRETNESSE
RO EBTE(ESFBEETRET AR
BETAE-A—BAERZEBITRA( L
mRA) - EROMHBIAN —TTNEF—
ARZEEMELER]  XRAREE—FE
RIHESFEETRINNABRESR -

Having made specific enquiry of all Directors,
all Directors confirmed that they have complied
with the Securities Dealing Code during the
period from 1 January 2008 to 31 December
2008 and up to the date of this report.

RAMBERHELHARSHEL MAES
ERRBE_SZTNF-—A—BE-FTZN
FT-_A=+t—"HHEAIBEARER
B —HEENKEFEETH)D -
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A5.5

All directors should participate in a programme
of continuous professional development to
develop and refresh their knowledge and
skills to help ensure that their contribution
to the board remains informed and relevant.
The company should be responsible for
arranging and funding a suitable development
programme.

FMEESR2ERBEEXRRTE R
W E BN AE - U REREEST
EHE2EEANRIEMENBRATHES
SHELER -  RRAIEAERHIGENER
BN REARES °

Since talent is the most valuable asset of
the Company, the Company has encouraged
Directors and senior management to further
their studies. The Company will offer support,
such as subsidies of tuition fee, news with
regard to rule enforcement and latest Listing
Rules with the assistance of the company
secretary, to Directors and staff.

ARFRI—EBBESNMEMSEABRE
EE AERAMERARREREEZ —°
NAERESME TREEECNHE - 7
WMEBEME  ERRMWENGE TR
EFEMRH EMRRERESE -

The company secretary will also record
attendance of Directors on their participation
to seminars/lectures for the Board’'s

information.

REMENERISEERF AL EH
W EENTHREEERE -
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B15 (E) BETER
2EF(V)/
R (E)

Each director should disclose to the company at
the time of his appointment, and on a periodic
basis, the number and nature of offices held in
public companies or organisations and other
significant commitments, with the identity
of the public companies or organisation and
an indication of the time involved. The board
should determine for itself how frequently
such disclosure should be made.

BREBFENEIZERRAARKE(ALR
HEREHRRE) RN AR A R SH B TR
VOB RMEEAREMEBEAAE  EH
VAR AR AP AN RN ER
HETABBEMIRNER -EFQE
BITREMRZ AVEH —IRIKE -

The Directors have disclosed to the Company
at the time of their appointment and are
reminded to keep the Company updated with
regard to the number and nature of offices
held in public companies or organisations and
other significant commitments.

EEAERXZERCRAARKBELAAA
BB RT AR AR A AR B B Y B
B RMEIA R T A -

The company secretary is responsible for
updating the disclosed information from time
to time when necessary.

AANEEENEREBTHENCORE
BH -

Non-executive directors, as equal board
members, should give the board and any
committees on which they serve such as the
audit committee, remuneration committee
or nomination committee the benefit of their
skills, expertise and varied backgrounds and
qualifications through regular attendance and
active participation.

FNTEEERREMEERARFHA
MEFENE  BEHHLFESFE AR
FhEZEEeXEBMNZER(JINEXERE
E FHNZESXRBEREG)NGRLE
MmB2EEK  UEKE EXHNILTE
MBS RERELRR

They should also attend general meetings
and develop a balanced understanding of the
views of shareholders.

FARTESIREFERRAE - HRAMK
ROERBRIERERE -

There is satisfactory attendance of the
independent non-executive Directors at Board
meetings and Board Committee meetings
during 2008.

BYFATEEFR _ZZN\ENESFER
BETZBEEZ8RHMFELHRSTARME

Mr. Yue Kwai Wa, Ken, an independent non-
executive Director, attended the annual general
meeting and the extraordinary general meeting
held on 16 May 2008 on behalf of other
independent non-executive Directors.

BYRTESRFELLERREMEL
FRTEFLRET _EZT/N\FRATRE
ZBERBFRE MBERFRAS -




—ZFE N\EFTR Annual Report 2008

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
P

Complied
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No. i Explanation Implementation
iR 55 (E) BITER
BEFWV)/
R (E)

A5.8 Non-executive directors should make a v The independent non-executive Directors had
positive contribution to the development of made such contribution through meetings of
the company’s strategy and policies through the Board and the Board Committees with all
independent, constructive and informed relevant information provided to them in a
comments. timely manner prior to the meetings in order

that they can provide informed comments.

FRTEFASBREBYL  EERMER

BERBENEREQAGEREREEIED BN TESTHEEESERETLZESY
IFEAR ° wLIEHER  HEe@RpBERRER
BEBER  BEHERERHENBERE
A.6 Supply of and access to information
BERRHRER

Principle: Directors should be provided in a timely manner with appropriate information in such form and of such
quality as will enable them to make an informed decision and to discharge their duties and responsibilities
as Directors of the Company.

RE: BFEERHEZHNEREN  HPALXREARSFENEEREFHEEHNBR TIELRTE @ WEE
TEERARREFNBENEME -

Code Provision

ST 53

A.6.1 In respect of reqular board meetings, an agenda v The documents of regular Board meetings and
and accompanying board papers should be Committee meetings (and so far as practicable
sent in full to all directors in a timely manner in other Board meetings) are sent out to all
and at least 3 days before the intended date Directors three days before the date of the
of a board or board committee meeting (or meeting.

such other period as agreed).

ExecHeskEE T REeeR(RE

EESEMERNAERENE HEES PETTOERTEMEESRE) X H
ﬂ&%k%%@i%*lzdﬁfﬁﬁﬁ EERASMNZAXHTEE
SESNERTZREEHRAMN=A

(S EREMREAR) XL
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Implementation
BTER

A6.2 Management has an obligation to supply v
the board and its committees with adequate
information in a timely manner to enable it

to make informed decisions.

EEEREANEFEREETZE SR
HARHNERER  UEERENEZE

BRABEROBER TELIRE -

The information supplied must be complete and v
reliable. To fulfil his duties properly a director

may not in all circumstances be able to rely

purely on what is volunteered by management

and further enquiries may be required.

EEEMRHUNENAVETEAE - EF
PRERTESHE ML TEREMA
BATEEEEREIHRHENEN - F
B fERBITIFE—2ER -

Where any director requires more information v
than is volunteered by management, he should
make further enquiries where necessary.

THEFEFR2EEERHEMEI(EE
BXEBREMINNER  BRIZFEZHE
E—TEH

The board and each director should have v
separate and independent access to the
company’s senior management.

EZgLEBREZTRABRTTEBARASMR
EIEABHBILRE o

The company secretary will attend relevant
Board meetings and Board committee meetings
while other persons may be invited to provide
explanations on issues to be discussed where
necessary in order to provide the Directors with
adequate information for making informed
decisions.

RAMEHELFERNEZTERETZ
BEgem NEAFERTSABEMAL
AEZEERTIWNERER UEE
FARNEREFHABERE

=

the
communication channel among the Directors

The company secretary acts as
and his responsibilities include accessing to
the Company’s senior management as per the
request of the Directors.

RANEASEEZHNEREE BB
FEFESEBATNEREER -
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A.6.3

All directors are entitled to have access to
board papers and related materials.

FEEELEEEHESSERERE
%o

Such papers and related materials should be
prepared in such form and quality as will enable
the board to make an informed decision on
matters placed before it.

HEEREBERNRETY A RZERE
EECENREEFTTHAFTAFELAR
BIRBERRE -

Where queries are raised by directors, steps
must be taken to respond as promptly and
fully as possible.

FEEFRHEERE  RALARRIEA
BRIEL[EZENMEE -

Complied
with (v)/
Explanation
(E)
BEFWV)/
R (E)
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Implementation
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The Directors may request the company
secretary to provide access to the Board
papers and related materials.

EFANRAARMEEREHNESTEEL
HEEF -

The company secretary and Chairman would
respond to the queries raised by the Directors
in a timely manner.

NRAMEMTIFEHERDERARERER &
EEREANREGOE -
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ESE| (3 BTRER
BEF(V)/
FR T (E)
B. REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
ESREREEASNTHH
B.1 The level and make-up of remuneration and disclosure
il 5z % TR A9 K E R AR R

Principle: There should be a formal and transparent procedure for setting policy on executive Directors’ remuneration

and for fixing the remuneration packages for all Directors of the Company. No Director should be involved

in deciding his own remuneration.

RE : RFEERBLEAMAEAENRERF  UGIFTABATEFHENBR MBI SEFNFHINTE - A
EETE2EITEAFHOME -

Code Provision

=T RIS

B.1.1 Companies should establish a remuneration v The Remuneration Committee was established

committee with specific written terms of
reference which deal clearly with its authority
and duties. A majority of the members of
the remuneration committee should be
independent non-executive directors.

N EFERR AL E B R E K B B o F
ZEe FHARARERBREVNEZES
MERNMBE - FHEZE S AIIKE
RERBIIFNITES -

on 5 September 2007 with written terms of
reference.

FWEEeE T LFNAARAKILY
RN TR XBESE -

The Remuneration Committee of the Company
consists of all independent non-executive
Directors and the chairman of the Company.

ARElNFHHEEEXRERE
TEFERARBEFEAK °

BB
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The Remuneration Committee held one
Remuneration Committee meeting during
the year from 1 January 2008 to 31 December
2008. The attendance of the meeting is as
follows:

ARBR-_ZFTZENFE-A—BE-FZN
FT+_A=1t—"RHFEIL BT K%
MEzEees FRSHLFERFBET:

Members of the
Remuneration

Committee Attendance
FMESENE R
YUE Kwai Wa, Ken (Chairman) 1/1
REEER)

TIAN Qixiang 1/1
HHEF

YU Shumin 1/1
RO

DONG Yanfeng 1/1
o

CAO Zenggong 1/1
R

Such meeting involved the participation,
either in person or through other electronic
means of communication, of the committee
members.

NE@BHHZEE@RERTHENEBR
HipEFBAESH -
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Implementation
BiTER

B.1.2 The remuneration committee should consult the
chairman and/or chief executive officer about
their proposals relating to the remuneration of
other executive directors and have access to
professional advice if considered necessary.

FHEZE SR EMBTESNHIES
BAXTER/HTHRER WRRERH
Z - NARREXER -

To ensure good communications, the Chairman
of the Company also acts as one of the members
of the Remuneration Committee.

RTBEREBERE ARAEETZHFME
EgXkEz—-

The Remuneration Committee has the rights
to seek advice from professional consultants
at the Company's expense under its terms of
reference.

BESEENERTHNEZESARAER
BRRAERER  BRABAREXMN -
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o

The terms of reference of the remuneration
committee should include, as a minimum, the
following specific duties:

FWZE AR RBETEMERERER
%Tﬂ%m%f-

- to make recommendations to the board
on the company's policy and structure for
all remuneration of directors and senior
management and on the establishment
of a formal and transparent procedure for
developing policy on such remuneration;

RABEENSREE AN I
KRR RRRIZIERMABERENE
Vﬁﬁ%:ﬁ%ﬁﬁ’ﬁ%$@%ﬁ%

u?‘Jz’

- to have the delegated responsibility to
determine the specific remuneration
packages of all executive directors and
senior management, including benefits
in kind, pension rights and compensation
payments, including any compensation
payable for loss or termination of their office
or appointment, and make recommendations
to the board of the remuneration of non-
executive directors; and

EESSg@ A THE  BET 28
EENSMERASNRE TGS
3%#iﬁﬂ”‘ﬁ%i%ﬂ&ﬁﬁé
(BRERAIKIEBBERRENREE)
ﬁ%%ﬁ%%% TR EE SR N R

Cemod

- to ensure that no director or any of his
associates is involved in deciding his own
remuneration.

EREMESRETABEANSETE
HEN

Complied
with (v)/
CIELENT
(E)
BEFWV)/
R (E)
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Implementation

R{THHR

The Remuneration Committee has established
a written terms of reference in accordance with
the requirements as set out in the CG Code.

FHEZERERECERERTESTRIAH
Kiﬂmﬁxﬁﬁﬁl

During the year, the Remuneration Committee
had discharged the following duties:

RAFE  FMEESHTTUTEE :

- reviewing the remuneration of the
Directors and its adjustments and make
recommendations to the Board; and

EHEENFHMALFMRARRESS
fEhEZERE &

— reviewing and making recommendations to
the Board on the remuneration policies.

ERMMEZSRFMERRIELES -

During the year under review, there is no loss or
termination or removal of office or appointment
of Directors or senior management.

REEFE BEEETHSREEAER
RIS RRBE R ERE -

75



China Starch Holdings Limited 7 Bl B Z R AR A 7

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
ERERHRE

Complied
with (v)/
Explanation
(E)
BEF(V)/
R (E)

Implementation

BITER

- to review and approve performance-based
remuneration by reference to corporate
goals and objectives resolved by the board
from time to time.

FR2REEFSTRBANLANER B
A LA IR R B TE F B

- to review and approve the compensation
arrangements relating to any loss or
termination of the offices or dismissal or
removal of Directors or senior management to
ensure that such compensation is determined
in accordance with relevant contract terms,
and is reasonable and appropriate.

BT RIEEEE RS REEA LR AR
IR 1F B B BT TS RN BE R - bLEE
RZEREEREBA D ERET B AR

L=

EE

B.1.4

The remuneration committee should make
available its terms of reference, explaining
its role and the authority delegated to it by
the board.

FHEZEERAHEBERE  HERA
BRESEBERTHENES -

The major duties of the Remuneration Committee
are to review and make recommendations to
the Board on the Company’s remuneration
policy and structure compensation scheme
of the Directors and senior management as
well as to determine the specific remuneration
packages of all executive Directors and senior
management.

FHMEZEENTIERE AT ARALF
FHEELEMERENFMBR LGRS
MM ERLER  UREEMBHRT
EENEREEBNTMEE -

Details of the terms of reference of the
Remuneration Committee are available at
the Company’s website.

AN EEeNBELECEA LA
BIEARF -

The remuneration committee should be
provided with sufficient resources to discharge
its duties.

FHMEZEeRERGARERNBITER

= ©°

This is part of the rights and powers of the
Remuneration Committee under its terms of
reference.

WhHME S e BEaEE R N HEN KE
Ny —&D -
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Recommended Best Practices
BENETSR

B.1.6 A significant proportion of executive directors’ v
remuneration should be structured so as
to link rewards to corporate and individual
performance.

HTESNFMHERT  BERAREIH
BN R T KB AR o

Under the service contracts of the executive
Directors, all executive Directors are entitled
to a discretionary bonus representing up to
5% of the audited consolidated profit of the
Group (after taxation and minority interests
and payment of such bonuses).

REATESNRBER - 2RATESA
AR @ AR B T AR & F B (BR B &
DEHBRRERIAR IR EILALIR) 5% 2B
TBIEAL -

Resolution approving the discretionary bonus
to executive Directors would be discussed by
the Remuneration Committee before being
submitted to the Board for discussion. To
avoid any conflict of interests, the executive
Director receiving the bonus is not allowed
to vote in the relevant resolution.

BRGTHTESHREANRZT R
RBFHEEENHMETIERESER
W RRNEERABEIEANRITES
NEENRELANBRFRE -

Bonus for the executive Directors in 2008 is
proposed to be discussed at the Remuneration
Committee meeting held in 2009. No bonus
was payable to executive Directors in 2007.

—EENFHRTEENRAFEE_FT
NFETNFHZEeEI Lalm —F
ZLERLARARNITEFTIRERLAL °
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BITER

B.1.7 The company should disclose details of any E
remuneration payable to members of senior
management, on an individual and named
basis, in their annual reports and accounts.

ARAEEEFEREREEAREESRS
MREBAENHE  YWIHERSRER

The management believes that:

EEERS

1) the remuneration payable to senior
management comprises an insignificant
portion of the expenses; and

FEf =B A B B B 5 A < ey L IR

2) disclosing remuneration payable to
individual staff on named basis may affect
overall staff morale,

W?M%EIW%M& EO e E S
EE T LR

m@

thus will not consider disclosing the name
and remuneration of senior management on
an individual basis.

AT E RS L BREE A B &5

AN
+ °

ANBHHA -
B.1.8 Where the board resolves to approve any N/A
remuneration or compensation arrangements TER

which the remuneration committee has
previously resolved not to approve, the board
must disclose the reasons for its resolution in
its next annual report.

RESSERABAENT ML AT
MEEGERIBALNTRAE EFEA
ET—HERPHEEHBBZBAZNR
& o

The Board has never approved any matters
which have previously been rejected by the
Remuneration Committee during the year.

FEW ﬁ%AIﬁ BAHMEE G LA
FORDNTHEBEAEIE -

78



No.

w5

C. ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
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C.1 Financial reporting
Bt 75 BB ¥R
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Principle: The Board should present a balanced, clear and comprehensible assessment of the Company's performance,

position and prospects.

R EFgRYE BWAEEMARARNKRE  BRARAS -

Code Provision
SFANE X

C1. Management should provide such explanation
and information to the board as will enable
the board to make an informed assessment of
the financial and other information put before
the board for approval.

BEERANESCRHAINEERER
MER  BREFEAURIERGMMALE
M R EMER  (FHARBENFE -

The financial information and plans were
provided before and discussed in the regular
Board meetings. The Chairman and financial
controller were responsible for detailing the
latest business developments to the Directors
and had provided the Directors with all such
information and plans.

EEFenEHeRNeREMTRYH
BRMEAE - TEANMBRERERARE
EMERTNEBRER  LAEFRHEMHM
BERRERKEE -
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The directors should acknowledge in
the Corporate Governance Report their
responsibility for preparing the accounts, and
there should be a statement by the auditors
about their reporting responsibilities in the
auditors’ report on the financial statements.

EERA(EEERME)TERMMA R
HRBWEE - ZEENINEES B SR
212 SR RS P BB PRV R ¥R B T AE
B o

Unless it is inappropriate to assume that the
company will continue in business, the directors
should prepare the accounts on a going
concern basis, with supporting assumptions
or qualifications as necessary.

RAERRAABEFELEETL T
2B EERAENKRBEEARRRKE
RERERE BEFEFERBABKAMR

BER -

When the directors are aware of material
uncertainties relating to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt upon the
company’s ability to continue as a going
concern, such uncertainties should be clearly
and prominently set out and discussed at length
in the Corporate Governance Report.

FEEHNBAEARTHBAEMHFHBERALE
EBREFELATIFERLLENRE N EFE
H(ERERRE)FRBENE LFMAN
itk F AR X o

The Directors hereby acknowledge their
responsibility for preparing the accounts of
the Company. For the statement by the auditors
about their reporting responsibilities in the
auditors’ report on the financial statements,
please refer to pages 102 to 103.

EFRRBARMMPERRARARENE
f- BRAZERMEMBRENDZEMBS
PRAMEEREREEIEENER  F2H
10221038 °

As of 31 December 2008, the Company
continues to prepare its financial report on
an ongoing basis.

ARNBE-SENET=A=+—ALN
R RIS AR KBRS -

The Board is not aware of any material
uncertainties relating to events or conditions
that may affect the business of the Company
or cast doubts on its ability to continue as a
ongoing concern.

EFZeESRBEREMNERTABREN
IEREHEARACEBAFEERE
RREMBEN ©
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The board's responsibility to present a balanced,
clear and understandable assessment extends
to annual and interim reports, other price-
sensitive announcements and other financial
disclosures required under the Exchange Listing
Rules, and reports to regulators as well as to
information required to be disclosed pursuant
to statutory requirements.

FHEFeRYE BAWEkABHIER
ARBENEE BRERFERS LD HR
HFHMAPEBRESREHNBE RRE

(ETHRADREATRENHEMT K E
B RAEREEERINREENERE

EPIRERAT HENER -
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R (E)

v The Management Discussion and Analysis
section in the annual report of the Company
has provided an analysis on the business
during the year.

ARBNERNEETREDITELYH R
FRBIET DM °

Recommended Best Practices

gu&? i%%ﬁ

Cc14 The company should announce and publish
quarterly financial results within 45 days after
the end of the relevant quarter, disclosing such
information as would enable shareholders to
assess the performance, financial position and

prospects of the company.

RAIENABBEREGEREISRARM RT
XFEMBEE MARBENER  ©A
REMEIRRFAZARNREA - MR R
A ©

Any such quarterly financial reports should
be prepared using the accounting policies
applied to the company’s half-year and annual
accounts.

AEBRBEEALSEFTETBRER - BE
%%%ﬂ%\ﬂ¥¢7&$f$ﬁm &t
285

E The Company has no intention to issue quarterly
financial report for the time being.

NG

EETEITRFTERERS ©
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ESE | (3 BITRER

BEF(V)/

R (E)
C.15 Once the company decides to announce and N/A Please refer to C.1.4.
publish its quarterly financial results, it should i A
continue to adopt quarterly reporting for BRECI4-0

each of the first 3 and 9 months periods of
subsequent financial years.

NA—EBERERAMETNEFTES XS
BIENERNYM R FEREERBEE =
BEARENEANFTEES

Where the company decides not to announce
and publish its financial results for a particular
quarter, it should publish an announcement to
disclose the reason(s) for such decision.

BERBIRENDMETER —FEOM B
X BETIERARS  BEEHRENR
o
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Implementation
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Principle: The Board should ensure that the Company maintains sound and effective internal controls to safeguard
the shareholders’investment and the Company’s assets.

REl: EEERERARMNANEZZSBRZEMAAY  UWRERRNKRERAFTNEE -

Code Provision
SFANEX

C.2.1 The directors should at least annually conduct
a review of the effectiveness of the system
of internal control of the company and its
subsidiaries and report to shareholders that they
have done so in their Corporate Governance
Report. The review should cover all material
controls, including financial, operational and
compliance controls and risk management
functions.

EERRLEFRIT -ARALEMB L
AINANEERREEAR  YAE(EEXE
ARE)TRRRERS LKA BT °
ERRIEREMFEENEZETEH 8
EMGER  EFEERAREENARRE

REIRINEE ©

The Board is ultimately responsible for the
internal control of the Group.

il

EEeRRASERNNEENRREE
%O

During the year, the Board has engaged
Horwath Risk Advisory Services Limited to
review the internal control system of the Group.
The report has been completed by November
2008 and submitted to the Audit Committee
and the Board for discussion.

E=EgaAFECEREERRR MRS
BERAERAEBAZERSETRE - A
AREE_TTNF+ - ATKAERSA
EREEEMEETSIFETR °

The Group has performed risk evaluations on
human resources, financial, budget control,
internal audit and capital usage functions
and the Group is not aware of any material
weaknesses.

BAEEBEHABER 5 BHEE
T REBBHNESEREELTART
fl » CWEREABRK -

Besides, the Group has also strengthened its
measures governing information disclosure
during the year with an aim to enhance the
ability and sensitivity of information disclosure
of the Group to the investors and general
public.

Britb 29 » REBTERAFENRTER
KREBEME  BENRESASEEMIRE
ERABEBEENENMBREE -
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Recommended Best Practices
BEREER

C22

The board’s annual review should, in particular,
consider:

EEeFRINSIEEFIEETIE
15

the changes since the last annual review in
the nature and extent of significant risks,
and the company’s ability to respond to
changes in its business and the external
environment;

g R BEARROMEREE
L T u& Tﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁiﬁ
BAMER S @2

the scope and quality of management’s
ongoing monitoring of risks and of the
system of internal control, and where
applicable, the work of its internal
audit function and other providers of
assurance;

EEERERRARRAEE RSN
THBERRE - R(IER) R H
R R E M IRFE R E R T

the extent and frequency of the
communication of the results of the
monitoring to the board (or board
committee(s)) which enables it to build
up a cumulative assessment of the state of
controlin the company and the effectiveness
with which risk is being managed;

MEEFS(HETZEQ)FEEEER
WHERERRY  ZREMEE =
SREUEARMEREER KRR E R
MNEBRERYRENTEER

The Board conducts annual review for the
Group's exposure to risks (including operating
environment and financial situation).

EresfggRJdSRENRR(BREES
RERMBER) -

Audit Committee formulates review proposal
at the beginning of the year and external
and internal auditors perform relevant works
according to the proposal.

BEZZ B HEFIE B E R 83 A sh
BoOA Bz B R SET AR T -
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R (E)
C22 - theincidence of significant control failings
(Contd) or weakness that has been identified at any
(%8) time during the period and the extent to

which they have resulted in unforeseen
outcomes or contingencies that have had,
could have had, or may in the future have, a
material impact on the company'’s financial
performance or conditions; and

B E A IR B A B AR RR
EAREEBEORY - REEIR
AR ERAEAEROBERE - 0
HERRABERY A ANHHRARNSE
REEL TREELANWRTREE

EMEAVE R

the effectiveness of the company’s processes
relating to financial reporting and Listing
Rule compliance.

REIABAUEHRERET(ETRADR
ENREFEEEM °
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BITER

C23

The company should disclose as part of the
Corporate Governance Report a narrative
statement how they have complied with the
code provisions on internal control during the
reporting period. The disclosures should also
include the following items:

EKERERREINLOAST  AFE
R ARBEE A ERENANETER
AREZENSTRE - BERBEATHLIE
BIETIIER :

- the process that the company has applied
for identifying, evaluating and managing
the significant risks faced by it;

NAEIFEASER « FHE MR EREEEAMEKXR
[2\ B FTERER MO A2 e

The Board hereby acknowledges in the annual
report that it is responsible for the effectiveness
of the internal control system of the Group.

EZSEAMFERSTELARAER
SENFEERFNARL

In 2008, the Board has engaged Horwath Risk
Advisory Services Limited to review its internal
control system.

Efggﬂi‘%$@5%6¢
E/—Jﬁlgﬁ jiﬂh DBEFi‘E/% A"Aiu‘

£ 2 B 7R

The Audit Committee is satisfied with the
internal control system of the Company in
2008 and did not reveal any significant defects
of the internal control system.

EREEERME_STEN\FARAAIE
BERG TEBFAPEZZRGHEEEXR
FDEJFETE%% °
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ko (3] ETER
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C23 - any additional information to assist

(Cont'd) understanding of the company’s risk

(&) management processes and system of
internal control;

EAEHRRATNBRERIZFRAHDE
ERFMEINEHR

- an acknowledgement by the board that
it is responsible for the company’s system
of internal control and for reviewing its
effectiveness;

EZSARHEBUHRARNANIEERSRE
' WEAEERIZGIENERIE

- the process that the company has applied
in reviewing the effectiveness of the system
of internal control; and

AT AMESE R R T A RFTRRY
BE R

- the process that the company has applied to
deal with material internal control aspects
of any significant problems disclosed in its
annual reports and accounts.

D FIB IR A [ 34 T AR B TR )
SLEE LR O PN
PR o
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The Company aims to ensure disclosures
provide meaningful information and do not
give a misleading impression.

ARARBNHERFABRENREERENE
£ METETARRENERE -

Complied
with (V)/
Details Explanation
ESE| (E)
EEF(V)/
R (E)
C24 The company should ensure that their v
disclosures provide meaningful information
and do not give a misleading impression.
NRAEBERFAKRENREEEENER - M
HREGABRENREE -
C.25 The company without an internal audit =

function should review the need for one
on an annual basis and should disclose the
outcome of such review in the company’s
Corporate Governance Report.

%%ﬁﬁﬁ‘ﬁ’f?%llﬂ% RAEEBFRIES
FEMRILANGE - AREE(LEE R

%WWEZE% A AR o

The Board believes that, considering the scale
of the Company, it is more efficient to engage
independent internal auditor to conduct annual
review rather than establishing a dedicated
internal audit department.

EFERARARRAIRE - SMNEE LA ES
12 BB S 1T F 2 AR AT H A S F B A BB A%
ZHPFIEBAE -
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Audit Committee
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Implementation

RiTHHR

Principle: The Board should establish formal and transparent arrangements for considering how it will apply the
financial reporting and internal control principles and for maintaining an appropriate relationship with the

A

Company'’s auditors.

B =2 e b a0 (] FE PR B 765 O R K P P B 4 IR ) N AT A 5 R

M HE

Code Provision

S RIMER ST

C3.1

Full minutes of audit committee meetings
should be kept by a duly appointed secretary
of the meeting (who should normally be the
company secretary). Draft and final versions
of minutes of the audit committee meetings
should be sent to all members of the committee
for their comment and records respectively,
in both cases within a reasonable time after
the meeting.

BERZEENTESRLEREHEARE
NEEWEBERAAME)RE - BZ
REERRCBNTIRARREREES
ZR-BRAERKEAANLTREXZESERE
B VIRHAEREER  REERE
Higsr 2 e

REVZBEVEEWEREDEREEERAE

The company secretary is responsible for
preparing minutes of the Audit Committee
meetings. The draft minutes is circulated to
and verified by the participants, then signed
by the Chairman of the meeting for final
confirmation and duly kept by the company
secretary.
QTW%% ,E%ﬁééé\gﬁﬁ
EEMERE
¥ - A
AIMEFIE

The Audit Committee held five meetings during
the year from 1 January 2008 to 31 December
2008, of which two were regular meetings. The
attendance of the meeting is as follows:

ERZBEEeR T N\F-—A—BE-F
§A¢+fﬂf+ BEEL - 8217T7TH

Re& HPWARTHEZ g
HERFEOT

Attendance
Members of the HEREY
Audit Committee Regular meetings Other meetings
ENZEEHE THEE HitgE
YUE Kwai Wa, Ken (Chairman) 22 3/3
REE(IR)
YU Shumin 2/2 3/3
FRE
DONG Yanfeng 22 3/3
Eft2
CAQ Zenggong 22 2/3

2%
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Implementation
BTER

C3.1 Such meetings involved the participation,
(Cont'd) either in person or through other electronic
() means of communication, of the committee
members.
NEERTAZEEXRERGLFEIER
HipEFBATESH -
C32 A former partner of the company’s existing v No employee of the auditing firm, including

auditing firm should be prohibited from acting
as a member of the company’s audit committee
for a period of 1 year commencing on the
date of his ceasing:

AR AR ARKENZERRMAIME
ABRAEUATHR(ABRPREER/E)E
A—FR TREERARERZESHK

=
g8 :

- to be a partner of the firm; or

BRI AZARERANBEH - 3

- to have any financial interest in the firm,
whichever is the later.

WA BEEZARMMBHEA A -

partner of the firm, has been appointed by
the Company as a member of the Audit
Committee.

ARARMYEZERZBLTNEFEE (B
BEANMEREZZBEGKE -
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C33

The terms of reference of the audit committee

should include at least the following duties:

ERZEERNBBEREAZ S RETHI
e -

- to be primarily responsible for making
recommendation to the board on the
appointment, reappointment and removal
of the external auditor, and to approve the
remuneration and terms of engagement of
the external auditor, and any questions of
resignation or dismissal of that auditor;

TZATMIMNERBENNERE  EHEE
MERAEFSRMRRE  HEINSZH
B £ 385 B N2 B PR {6k AR - MR IR AR (R A%
K% BRI B B S BHR RX AR BRED B L 2R

- to review and monitor the external
auditor’s independence and objectivity
and the effectiveness of the audit process
in accordance with applicable standard and
discuss with the auditor the scope of the
audit;

RRE AR ERN R ERINERBE N E
THEREBEARBRTBRENERIE - I
EZ AN s TIEEE

- to develoop and implement policy on
the engagement of an external auditor to
supply non-audit services;

B MIET BB RN R BN R L OE R
ATARFSEVR

Complied
with (v)/
Explanation
(E)
BEFWV)/
R (E)

Implementation
BTR

The Audit Committee has established its written
terms of reference on no less exacting terms
with reference to the CG Code.

BERZEGN2ELXERERTANE
THERRAK X EEE -

Details of the terms of reference of the Audit
Committee are available at the Company’s
website.

HHANEZZESREEEANTERER
REBI AR -

During the year, the Audit Committee has
discharged the following duties:

RAEE  BERREEHITTUTRE

— discussing the internal control review report
and recommendations with the external
and internal auditors and management;

HEONE AR EZ ST EEE R R A
MEEBERME REAFER

- reviewing the audit and financial reporting
issues, including the annual results for the
year ended 31 December 2007 and the
interim results for the six months ended
30 June 2008, with the management;

HEEERNABAEZ LM BERES
HE(BREBE-_TTELF T -_A=1t—
BEFENFERERBE_TTN\F
NAZTHLEREANTHES)
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Implementation
BITER

C33 - to monitor integrity of financial statements
(Cont'd) of a company and the company’s annual
(%) report and accounts and half-year report,

and to review significant financial reporting
judgements contained in them; and

ERRRNPBERR L ARFERS &K
BRFFERENTEE  XEHBRRN
BEMEBMBERRNEAER ¢

- to review the company’s financial controls,
internal control and risk management
systems.

R A TP B ER - ABERRERE
52 1 -

— discussing the annual audit issues with
the external auditor; and

BB wRERFEERLE
H: R

— making recommendation to the Board on the
appointment of the external auditors.

FEFSEBE EIBZREED -

For the year ended 31 December 2008, the
fees paid/payable to the organisations below
by the Company is as follows:

BE-TEN\F+-A=+—BLFE "
ARRBN,/ AT iR

HK$'000

FEL
Deloitte Touche (audit) -
Tohmatsu (%3h) -
BYHBERA (interim report review) 622
R (BT HHS) 622
PricewaterhouseCoopers (audit) 1,380
BRI KBRS (%it) 1,380

SHH
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C34

The audit committee should make available its
terms of reference, explaining its role and the
authority delegated to it by the board.

EZZEQRAMEREEE HEEA
BREZSERTHENES -

Complied
with (v)/
Explanation
(E)
BEFWV)/
R (E)
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RiTHHR

The major roles and functions of the Audit
Committee are to review and supervise the
financial reporting process, financial controls,
internal control and risk management system of
the Group and to provide recommendations and
advices to the Board on the appointment, re-
appointment and removal of external auditors
as well as their terms of appointment.

ERZEENIBRERD AR RE
EAEENPBREREF  MBES A
EREE N A b E IR GIE - 3 Bh SN S A BAD
E’Uéﬁpé%ﬁéﬁc& B AR R E E’J?E
FRAESEFHEZERRERER

Details of the terms of reference of the Audit
Committee are available at the Company's
website.

HHEMNERZZESRBEERARTELER
NEREE AR o

C35

Where the board disagrees with the audit
committee’s view on the selection, appointment,
resignation or dismissal of the external auditors,
the company should include in the Corporate
Governance Report a statement from the audit
committee explaining its recommendation and
also the reason(s) why the board has taken a
different view.

REZFETREEZRZESEHHE &
f BEXBERINEZHMEENER
NRE|EE(EEERRE)FINHEZEE
CSHAERENER  UREZSHETR
ERMERA -

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu has resigned as
the auditors of the Company with effect from
11 November 2008. The Audit Committee
has recommended the Board to appoint
PricewaterhouseCoopers as the auditors of
the Company and to hold office with effect
from 11 November 2008 until the conclusion

of the forthcoming annual general meeting.

Y WERITEFAMITIR_ZTNE T
—H-?-—EI%EK“?ZV%(EW B
BEeRExs P78 = RUKGE & AT A
EBHRAR ﬂZ*Z%(Eﬂi' H_FFNF
T—A+t " RRERERERRBEFAE
RERBIE -
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Implementation

BITER

C36 The audit committee should be provided with v

sufficient resources to discharge its duties.

This is part of the rights and powers of the Audit
Committee under its terms of reference.

ENZESREHGERRERABITHER WhEREE S RESEIR A EN M E
g T —FB5H o
Recommended Best Practices
BEERETR
C3.7 The terms of reference of the audit committee v The Audit Committee has adopted measures

should also require the audit committee:

ERZBEENBELE AR

- toreview arrangements by which employees
of the company may, in confidence, raise
concerns about possible improprieties in
financial reporting, internal control or other
matters. The audit committee should ensure
that proper arrangements are in place for
the fair and independent investigation of
such matters and for appropriate follow-up
action; and

NAREMNATNZEE - REEE B
$MW%E$ P B BE 4% sl H At 75 H Al BE

BAENTEZTRREEL -EXZEE
ERREEERH  RARHLEEEE

HATFBUNRAERERNEZTE - &

- to act as the key representative body for
overseeing the company’s relation with the
external auditor.

BEEAREINEZBIM N EEREK
BEER_EZENBERK -

(such as exit interviews with Directors/financial
controller/general manager) to facilitate
appropriate investigation or action by the

management.
ECZBECERMT —LER(PIW: EF
SR REEENRRER) FEE

BEEELEERAERNTH -

The Audit Committee meets the external
auditors annually without the presence of
the management to discuss issues including
their cooperation and problems.

BERZZEEBFERAEEELIANER
THINEZHER  HPATBREMEDN
BEEEMBELENRE -
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No. Explanation Implementation
a5 (3] BiTER
BEF()/
R (E)
D. DELEGATION BY THE BOARD
EEERINER
D.1 Management functions
EEIRE

Principle: The Company should have a formal schedule of matters specifically reserved to the Board for its decision
and the Board should give clear directions to management as to the matters that must be approved by the
Board before decisions are made on behalf of the Company.

RAl: RAAEE-—EEANEEFER  JHFHNEZEFTSERENEFE  MEFSERRQFELREA
JERREIE TN EREMLEIRAHETGHE

Code Provision

ST I 5L

D.1.1 When the board delegates aspects of its v Four executive Directors with different expertise
management and administration functions and defined roles are responsible for the
to management, it must at the same time daily operations of various aspects of the
give clear directions as to the powers of Company. Prior approval from the Board has
management, in particular, with respect to be obtained for all significant matters of
to the circumstances where management the Company.
should report back and obtain prior approval
from the board before making decisions or MUBMITESHIZASZRSEHEBRIESE
entering into any commitments on behalf of ARABHTENABEEE - EARBEMNE
the company. REE - HRBESSIESL -

EEES/REEERTHRINET @HE S
BRTEEER  CARKREEENE
ho BTIEWEES BRIREMBBER
TEEERANESSERAMERRAA
1t (E (] 7R XE 3 7T 37 1E fa] 7 54 A JE B 1S
FeMESEETE -
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Implementation
BiITER

D.1.2 A company should formalise the functions v
reserved to the board and those delegated
to management. It should review those
arrangements on a periodic basis to ensure
that they remain appropriate to the needs of
the company.

NAERKLRE TEFS MBI ML
BRTEEENBEDHIEE TK: QF
8 E HIER s ARRB B LA QA

The Chairman is responsible for the strategic
positioning of the Group, formulating the
development objectives and ensuring that
such objectives are implemented by the Board
accordingly. The Chief Executive Officer is
responsible for overseeing the operations and
business development of the Group.

TRAARENBRIZERERBENSR
BV HERELEFRHEFTTHBNRIT - 17
BAHBEEERAENKEMERER -

The Board is also responsible for reviewing the
structure of organisation and Board regularly
to ensure that the Company can operate

properly.

E=ZeNAAE R A RESTSRE
NBERAARIZELE o

Recommended Best Practices
BEREER

D.1.3 The company should disclose the division v
of responsibility between the board and
management to assist those affected by
corporate decisions to better understand the
respective accountabilities and contributions
of the board and management.

NAERFEESQHEEE L ANBED
T UBBMABLETERARZEE BER
EXgRERESANAEARAERRIE
HER -

Please refer to D.1.1.

B2EDI e

D.1.4 Directors should clearly understand delegation v
arrangements in place.To that end, the company
should have formal letters of appointment
for directors setting out the key terms and
conditions relative to their appointment.

EXREEREETNRNEBRRZE B
- ABRERBLEANEETZREE  FTHA
B EH = B IR IEM -

Each of the Directors has a formal letter of
appointment setting out the key terms and
conditions in respect of his appointment. They
also maintain a copy of the terms of reference
of their respective Committees.

BEEHALAZEZ FTHAREZRME
B E B IR MR M - R - B PrERE
B8 BERE -
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D.2 Board Committees
EEgETWZEES

Principle: Board Committees should be formed with specific written terms of reference which deal clearly with the
committees’ authority and duties.

RR: ZEFgBESZBeNNUEIASENFERESE BSEISZESRNLBE

Code Provision

ST Al 5L

D.2.1 Where board committees are established to v The Board has established the Audit Committee,
deal with matters, the board should prescribe the Remuneration Committee and the
sufficiently clear terms of reference to enable Nomination Committee with their own terms
such committees to discharge their functions of reference.
properly.

BRI TEREZES FHESR

FENVYEZECREBSH EEERRS ghREEEE REEEH ﬁ/\ﬂﬂgﬁéﬁ
BEMNFTAZSZESNRERE ER I
HMEESREEEITAR

D.2.2 The terms of reference of board committees v This is part of the terms of reference of each
should require such committees to report Committee.

back to the board on their decisions or

recommendations, unless there are legal or L EeREGEN—n -
regulatory restrictions on their ability to do

so (such as a restriction on disclosure due to

regulatory requirements).

EXZgETREZEBS E’JHﬂ*%ﬁlﬁ%ﬁrﬁu

ERERENEFCERIRTNER

BRIFZER B “é”ﬁ/jE_Ti_‘A—EkkkﬁE%”ﬁﬁ[ﬁﬁﬁ
BE 1 1Lt T i (1l 40 X BE 4R 5E M R il 4R

%) -
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ES | (E) BiTHER
BEEF(V)/
fRRE(E)
E. COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
SR EEE
E.1 Effective communication
BREE

Principle: The Board should endeavour to maintain an on-going dialogue with shareholders and in particular, use
annual general meetings or other general meetings to communicate with shareholders and encourage their
participation.

RAl: EFSRFNERRFSERFYHE  LHEERRAFASIHM2BERERRER BB MN2
oo

Code Provision

=T Al XX

E.11 In respect of each substantially separate issue v Each substantially separate issue was proposed
at a general meeting, a separate resolution at general meetings by separate resolution
should be proposed by the chairman of that held during the year under review.
meeting.

REBEFERTHRRAE L BRER
ERRAEL @2ETFENERERB BUNEEAEEBIRLRZESR
VEEE@ERIREIRZESR
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The chairman of the board should attend
the annual general meeting and arrange
for the chairmen of the audit, remuneration
and nomination committees (as appropriate)
or in the absence of the chairman of such
committees, another member of the committee
or failing this his duly appointed delegate, to
be available to answer questions at the annual
general meeting.

ExeTRELEBRREAFTFAS X hk
BEZZEe FHEZESRRERZES(R
AEEAME)NER  REZFREEN
ITRRERHES - RRB(RWZREZER
ERHE MEEEZENKRR)ERRESF
RE EBIZERER e

The chairman of the independent board
committee (if any) should also be available
to answer questions at any general meeting to
approve a connected transaction or any other
transaction that is subject to independent
shareholders’ approval.

EXEeE TNBEYZES(WE)INEFER
EEMEMALENTRIHNBRRAE LEIE
RE - BRER 5 REME M ARLE I
ERR 5 °

Complied
with (v)/
Explanation
(E)
BEFWV)/
R (E)
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Implementation
BTR

The Chairman of the Board, Mr. Tian Qixiang,
and the Chairman of the Audit Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee, Mr. Yue Kwai Wa, Ken, had attended
the 2008 annual general meeting and been
available to answer questions.

EEEIRHAEAEREZEES
MEEGRREEEENEFEARTELLE
HELR T N\FRREEFAGILES
%IEE fE o

In addition to the general meetings which
provide a valuable opportunity for direct
communications between the Directors and
shareholders, the Company also updates the
shareholders, investors and public with the
latest business developments of the Company
as soon as possible through the public relations
agency and the Company's website.

RTEBERRAENEER S EE R
WMERKRRBEERKEBRI  ARAIER
RERARRAABUEERR REERD
R ABREBARBZFEHBNR ©
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B15 (E) BETER
2EF(V)/
R (E)

E.2

Voting by poll
UBREFARR

Principle: The Company should regularly inform shareholders of the procedure for voting by poll and ensure
compliance with the requirements about voting by poll contained in the Listing Rules and the

FAl :

constitutional documents of the Company.

RAETHMNERRABUARZEIRARORNERF - WHERET ETRARRFABRSEXHAE G

BEFARRNBRE °

Code Provision

ST RIHE S

E.2.1

The chairman of a meeting should ensure
disclosure in the company’s circulars to
shareholders of the procedures for and the
rights of shareholders to demand a poll in
compliance with the requirements about voting
by poll contained in Rule 13.39(4) of the Listing
Rules. In particular, pursuant to Rule 13.39(3),
the chairman of a meeting and/or directors
who, individually or collectively, hold proxies
in respect of shares representing 5% or more of
the total voting rights at a particular meeting
shall demand a poll in certain circumstances
where, on a show of hands, a meeting votes
in the opposite manner to that instructed in
those proxies. If a poll is required under such
circumstances, the chairman of the meeting
should disclose to the meeting the total number
of votes represented by all proxies held by
directors indicating an opposite vote to the votes
cast at the meeting on a show of hands.

AEETHFEBREANBBREBRIAN - B
FHIANEEFTARFNEFF LA&HX%T
*E?F(tm%ﬂﬁ'»% 1339NEE KR
= R IA A F t/\EKAEf&/jZE
Tz FANKEREEZARREKE
L I RN ) E’] XK%(TE.:AE.:&X
F) 5%3A L - ,,\&,E\-\,«E\J%Nim%ﬁ
BI»5813.39(3 1'mﬁﬁ5iﬁ']fﬁ EETERLT
(ﬁDk%‘bA%?EEﬁ%&i}%ﬁ% P ROREREZ
TEHJQ?\:ZE’J%T&Fﬁhf\%*ﬁ}i)gilx}&
TET?%B% MEHEBRTNERKNAKE
FRETRR HIJKAIP}*EQ;%H&
BEEERAMELZERERKREEEMRE
R B = E L/\%%E\/TL/\gﬁiiﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂ-rFﬁ&
MERE °

The circulars of the general meetings dated
23 April 2008 and 29 April 2008 have set out
the procedures for demanding a poll.

—ETN\FOA-_+=AR-_ZET/N\FH
AZ+TNAAMBRRARSREEA - 2 KHI
NIRRT ARRNEF -

In addition, the chairman of the general
meetings have disclosed the total number
of votes represented by all proxies held by
the Directors indicating an opposite vote
to the votes cast at the meeting on a show
of hands before deciding whether a poll
should be demanded and before reaching
any resolutions.

BRUb 25N RERAGIFEREEREEX
L/(&TF‘K%%J%&EL&ETTJ&E%EIL%B%)}Z
BTEERAZRIARRERENAERD
BEE LM%ETM%???‘H%J%HT%&E’J
HRER -

In view of the amendment to Rule 13.39(4) of
the Listing Rules with effect from 1 January
2009, all resolutions will be put to vote by
way of a poll at the annual general meeting
to be convened in June 2009.

ERBE-_FTNF— H BHAMRK ETR
EIJ%]3394)1‘7RE’]{ T E_ZETAF XA
B0 % ﬁaﬂmﬁxiﬂﬁﬁAt FT A R
DA?Q?%E%??%Hﬁ?Eﬁ °
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E2.2

The company should count all proxy votes and,
except where a poll is required, the chairman
of a meeting should indicate to the meeting
the level of proxies lodged on each resolution,
and the balance for and against the resolution,
after it has been dealt with on a show of hands.
The company should ensure that votes cast
are properly counted and recorded.

NRAEHEMBZERRRENTEUAR
BROFEERURETAEITRR S REEX/E
BES LXABBERBRNZTERREKR
O ARERMREZH(AEF A
FOR) o RAIEERAARBHBEERE R
FOSRTESE ©
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Explanation
(E)
BEFWV)/
R (E)
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The branch share registrar and transfer office of
the Company is responsible for managing the
voting results of the proxies 48 hours before
the time for holding of the general meetings
and acts as an independent scrutineer at the
general meetings to monitor the vote taking
and counting procedures.

RNABP R R AR K S A48/ iy B 12
RERKEBRENEHERLFAFETRR
RENERE  UHBIYFNERKRER

MERE -

E2.3

The chairman of a meeting should at the
commencement of the meeting ensure that
an explanation is provided of:

ARETFEEBRESHEMGKCHEETT
£H:

- the procedures for demanding a poll by
shareholders before putting a resolution to
the vote on a show of hands; and

FERFBRIARF 7 ANFOR Z AR B 5K IA
BREFTARANER © &

- the detailed procedures for conducting a
poll and then answer any questions from
shareholders whenever voting by way of a
poll is required.

EERUBREFARRNBAT - UER

FRETRORAREEFBRIE L TR E
HEARER ©

The chairman of the general meeting has
provided an explanation of the procedures
for demanding and conducting a poll at the
annual general meeting and extraordinary
general meeting, both of which were held
on 16 May 2008.

—EENFAATARABTHORRBSE
SLERFIAEE RRAREXFE
BRERLUARETNETRRZER °
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B R BENRE

PRICENVATERHOUSE(COPERS

BORKESMEBAR

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
CHINA STARCH HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Starch Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(together, the "Group”) set out on pages 104 to 183, which comprise
the consolidated and company balance sheets as at 31 December
2008, and the consolidated income statement, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated cash flow
statement for the year then ended, and a summary of significant
accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FORTHE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
and the true and fair presentation of these consolidated financial
statements in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants, and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. This responsibility includes designing,
implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the
preparation and the true and fair presentation of financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies;
and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the
circumstances.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit and to report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report.

102

PricewaterhouseCoopers EIZRKESEEHAT
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We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance as to whether the financial statements are free from
material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The
procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the
entity’s preparation and true and fair presentation of the financial
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An
audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made
by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of
the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the
Group as at 31 December 2008 and of the Group’s profit and cash
flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared
in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 17 April 2009
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China Starch Holdings Limited F El& ¥ ERER A 7

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

e ER

For the year ended 31 December

BET_A=1+—HILFE

Note 2008 2007
B 7 —EENE —EELF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR AREF T

Turnover EERE 5 1,530,446 1,349,962
Cost of goods sold SHE KA (1,341,283) (1,084,677)
Gross profit EH 189,163 265,285
Distribution expenses SIHER (51,640) (40,976)
Administrative expenses THER (54,379) (37,985)
Other income H AW A 6 16,269 31,695
Operating profit W IbES 99,413 218,019
Finance income BE WA 7 3,852 8,756
Finance costs B E AR A (3,728) (20,495)
Share of result of an associate B —REtE R RIS 19 6,444 (2,375)
Profit before taxation B 752 B AR 9 105,981 203,905
Income tax expenses TSR 10 (10,755) (185)
Profit for the year R EF)E 95,226 203,720
Attributable to: AT BIEEN -

Equity holders of the Company AYNEIE- S35 EDN 98,234 203,720

Minority interests DY RS (3,008) -

95,226 203,720

Basic and diluted earnings per share ERERREERFT

(RMB) (AE®) 13 0.0376 0.1251
Dividends s 14 17,870 70,794
The notes on pages 111 to 183 are an integral part of these financial 111 2183BE MM T I BRZEP IS ©
statements.
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
mEEERER

As at 31 December

W+=-—A=+—H
Note 2008 2007
B 5 —EENF ZTELF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR® TR AR¥EF T
Non-current assets FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment EIN L 16 539,706 425,518
Prepaid lease payments TR HEER 17 27,539 28,190
Deposits paid for acquisition of property, WEEME -« BE L&
plant and equipment Eﬁrﬂ/\ 16 18,000 -
Interest in an associate NN Nl OE 19 36,517 29,643
Deferred tax assets EERIEE E 27 206 1,183
621,968 484,534
Current assets REBEE
Inventories 58 20 132,292 117,695
Prepaid lease payments TERHEER 17 831 819
Trade and other receivables B 5 I H th FE UK 21 113,555 144,559
Amount due from a related company FEM —RBE R R FIE 22 - 230
Pledged bank deposits EEMIRITER 23 - 2,000
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBREEEY 23 242,825 362,648
489,503 627,951
Current liabilities N IE=Ri
Trade and other payables B 5 R EMERK 24 152,463 133,260
Income tax payable FERT RIS 5,128 11,379
Employee housing deposits BIFERZS
- Basic deposit portion - EXREFEH D 25 26,499 26,846
~ Instalment portion - D EIT R ER S 25 12,407 3,857
Borrowings & 26 1,551 92,885
198,048 268,227
Net current assets REBEEFE 291,455 359,724
Total assets less current liabilities BWEERARBERS 913,423 844,258
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

mEEEAER
As at 31 December
R+—A=+—H
Note 2008 2007
iir=s —EENE —ETLF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR® T ARETT
Non-current liabilities FREBEE
Employee housing deposits BIFEERZS
— Instalment portion - D HAN AR D 25 - 15,409
Borrowings &= 26 8,199 19,085
Deferred income EEHA 28 17,527 17,423
25,726 51,917
Net assets EERE 887,697 792,341
Capital and reserves EXR#E
Share capital &N 29 237,762 50,477
Reserves s 634,943 741,864
Attributable to equity holders ERFR ARG 872,705 792,341
Minority interests DY R 14,992 -
Total equity RSB 887,697 792,341
Tian Qixiang Yu Yingquan
HER FxE
Director Director
EF EE

The notes on pages 111 to 183 are an integral part of these financial 111 E183E WM I BRERZHR IS -

statements.
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BALANCE SHEET
EERER

As at 31 December

m+=ZA=+—8H
Note 2008 2007
B 5E —EENE T F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET R AR®ET T

Non-current assets ERBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RETE A RIRIRE 18 159,121 159,121

Current assets REBEE
Other receivables H {th i sk 21 259 143
Amount due from a related company FEU — KA A RIFIA 22 - 256
Amounts due from subsidiaries NG E/ Q] 18 480,851 439,923
Cash and cash equivalents BehBEeEEY 23 9,060 22,385
490,170 462,707
Current liabilities REBEE

Other payables A A 5K 24 3,698 1,374
Net current assets RBEEFHE 486,472 461,333
Total assets less current liabilities HEERRBAR 645,593 620,454

Capital and reserves BXRK#E
Share capital [N 29 237,762 50,477
Reserves {1 30 407,831 569,977
Total equity B 645,593 620,454

Tian Qixiang Yu Yingquan
HEX FE2
Director Director
EE EF

The notes on pages 111 to 183 are an integral part of these financial  $111E2183B MM T N BBRZHBP IS
statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
mEEREBR

For the year ended 31 December

BET_A=1+—HILFE

Attributable to equity holders of the Company
ARARREA AL

Share  Share Special Capital Statutory Retained Minority
capital premium reserve reserve reserve  profits  Total interests  Total
YERR

k& ROEE HEIRE E28% iERG SFNE #%  ER A%

Note RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000

izt AREFT AREFTAREFAARBTTIAREF TAREFAARETTAREF TARE T

(Note 30(1)
(Bt&E300)

At 1 January 2007 R-TELE-F-F 151 S60660  STAM 3124 34317 183785 - I8

Net profit for the year RERHA - - - - - 203720 203720 - 20370

Dividends %E 14 - - - - - (70794 (70,794) - (70,794)

Issue of shares upon loan capitalisation ERERLERIRN 29(v) 4812534 - - - - 183N - 183N

Issue of shares upon capitalisation ERfik Rk 290ii) 33,589 - (33589) - - - - - -

Issue of shares upon the global offering ~ 2IREEERTRY 290) 16689 353813 - - - - 370502 - 370502
Transaction costs attributable ERAER

t01ssue of shares RHIA - (20244 - - - - (20244) - (2024

Transfer to statutory reserves B \LEHE 30(v) - - - - AT (174) - - -
At 31 December 2007 RZTELE

TZA=T-H 50477 458893 27080 57424 52965 145502 792341 - 792341

At 1 January 2008 R-TENE-F-F 50477 458893 27080 STA4 52965 145502 792341 - 793

Net profit for the year KERHA - - - - S92 98234 (3008 9526

Dividends %E 14 - - - - - (17870)  (17870) - (17810)

Transfer to statutory reserves BA\EEHE 30(1v) - - - - 11888 (11889) - - -

Contribution from a minority “FHBAA-%

shareholder of a subsidiary PERREE - - - - - - - 18000 18000

lssue of bonus shares ¥R 290) 187285 (187,285) - - - - - - -
At 31 December 2008 RZETN\E

+-A=1-H 237,762 271608 27080 57424 64853 213978 872705 14992 887,697

The notes on pages 111 to 183 are an integral part of these financial

statements.
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
SRERERER

For the year ended 31 December

HE+T-A=T—HIFE

2008 2007
—EENE ZTELF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR® TR AR¥EF T
Cash flows from operating activities RETHELEZRERE
Profit before taxation B 25t B A R 105,981 203,905
Adjustments for: KAELNTIER -
Finance income BE WA (3,852) (8,756)
Finance costs A& AR 3,728 20,495
Share of result of an associate JEME —REGE R A REA (6,444) 2,375
Depreciation of property, M - BEREEITE
plant, equipment 53,353 46,429
Realised gain arising on injecting A —KEERBNEAME -
property, plant, equipment and land 5= KA L BEER
use right as capital to an associate FEEENDFRWE (430) (430)
(Gain)/loss on disposal of property, HEWE - WER&E
plant and equipment W),/ &8 (173) 970
Gain on sales of leasehold land HEME Tk - (24,402)
Amortisation of prepaid lease payments A HERA 830 939
Amortisation of staff quarters rental BETHEEHEEWARKEAR
income and steam connection income B B B 5 (4,408) (1,978)
Net foreign exchange loss b 5 E5 18 5 58 6,708 2,237
Operating cash flows before movements HEESHREE 2 ATH
in working capital KERERE 155,293 241,784
Increase in deferred income attributable FORE BB REE ARG N
to steam connection 4,512 7,270
Increase in inventories FEEN (14,597) (1,780)
Decrease/(increase) in trade and B 5 I H th FE UK
other receivables B, (1) 19,620 (5,184)
Increase in trade and other payables B 5 K B b FE S FRAE 0 30,572 30,033
Cash generated from operations KEEEMES 195,400 272,123
Interest received 2 HF B 3,852 8,756
Income taxes paid ERUANFTIS R (16,029) (8,502)
Net cash generated from operating activities #8& /EEFTEEMIRE FEE 183,223 272,377
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
RERERER
For the year ended 31 December

HET_A=1+—HILFE

2008 2007
—EBENF —ZTTLF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T ARETTT
Cash flows from investing activities RETHELEZERSRE
Purchases of property, plant and equipment  EE¥% - BE K& # (168,293) (26,374)
Deposits paid for acquisition of property, WEME  BEREEEMNZS
plant and equipment (18,000) -
Increase in prepaid lease payments TERTAE & FIE N (191) -
Proceeds on disposal of property, HEWE - BFELREIER
plant and equipment 925 211
Proceeds on disposal of leasehold land HEHELHATER - 15,294
Repayments from related companies BERRIER 230 1,770
Investment in an associate R—REERNRIRE - (9,713)
Decrease in pledged bank deposits EEARITFR LD 2,000 35,500
Net cash (used in)/generated BREEE(ER) EED
from investing activities R FE (183,329) 16,688
Cash flows from financing activities METHELECZHERE
Interest paid ERFE (1,694) (13,477)
Dividends paid EfRE (17,870) (144,474)
Proceeds from issue of shares BITRD TSR - 370,502
Expenses on issue of shares BITRMOME R - (20,244)
Proceeds from borrowings BEEEN - 182,000
Repayments of borrowings EBEEE (102,220) (331,388)
Decrease in employee housing deposits BIFERZFERMD (9,240) (4,599)
Repayment to related companies RAE N BIER - (13,342)
Capital contribution by minority interests DHRRERTE 18,000 -
Net cash (used in)/generated METH(FER) EE
from financing activities HIREFEE (113,024) 24,978
Net (decrease)/increase in cash BeNIReEEY
and cash equivalents Om ), & hnEga (113,130) 314,043
Cash and cash equivalents at the FUNHEeRRESEFED
beginning of the year 362,648 55,976
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes EREHN T E (6,693) (7,371)
Cash and cash equivalents at the end FRONBEeRRESEFED
of the year represented by bank (RIRTTEHR KB 2IIR)
balances and cash 242,825 362,648

The notes on pages 111 to 183 are an integral part of these financial

statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

General information

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands
under the Cayman Islands Companies Law as an exempted
company with limited liability on 29 November 2006. Its
ultimate holding company is Merry Boom Group Limited
("Merry Boom”) (incorporated in the British Virgin Islands). The
address of the registered office is Cricket Square, Hutchins
Drive, P. O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman
Islands. The principal activities of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) are the manufacture
and sale of cornstarch, lysine and its related products and
generation and sales of electricity and steam.

The Company has its primary listing on the Main Board
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”).

These consolidated financial statements are presented in
Renminbi ("RMB”), unless otherwise stated, and are approved
for issue by the Board on 17 April 2009.

Summary of significant accounting policies

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out
below. These policies have been consistently applied to
all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Company
have been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRS"). They have
been prepared under the historical cost convention,
except for certain financial assets and financial liabilities,
which are measured at fair values, as appropriate.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with HKFRS requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires management
to exercise its judgement in the process of applying
the Group's accounting policies. The areas involving
a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas
where assumptions and estimates are significant to
the consolidated financial statements, are disclosed
in note 4.

e MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2008
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2008
HE_TZN\F+-A=1+—HLFE

2

112

=TT

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(a)

Amendments and interpretations effective
in 2008

The HKAS 39, Financial instruments: Recognition
and measurement, amendment on reclassification
of financial assets permits reclassification of
certain financial assets out of the held-for-trading
and available-for-sale categories if specified
conditions are met. The related amendment
to HKFRS 7, ‘Financial instruments: Disclosures’,
introduces disclosure requirements with respect
to financial assets reclassified out of the held-
for-trading and available-for-sale categories. The
amendment is effective prospectively from 1 July
2008.This amendment does not have any impact
on the Group's financial statements, as the Group
has not reclassified any financial assets.

HK(IFRIC) = Int 11,"HKFRS 2 — Group and treasury
share transactions, provides guidance on whether
share-based transactions involving treasury shares
orinvolving group entities (for example, options
over a parent’s shares) should be accounted
for as equity-settled or cash-settled share-
based payment transactions in the stand-alone
accounts of the parent and group companies.
This interpretation does not have an impact on
the Group's financial statements.

HK(FRIC) = Int 14, '"HKAS 19 — The limit on
a defined benefit asset, minimum funding
requirements and their interaction’, provides
guidance on assessing the limit in HKAS 19 on
the amount of the surplus that can be recognised
as an asset. It also explains how the pension
asset or liability may be affected by a statutory
or contractual minimum funding requirement.
This interpretation does not have any impact
on the Group's financial statements.

HK(IFRIC) - Int 12, 'Service concession
arrangements’applies to contractual arrangements
whereby a private sector operator participates
in the development, financing, operation and
maintenance of infrastructure for public sector
services. This interpretation does not have impact
on the Group’s financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Summary of significant accounting
policies (Continued)

2.1

Basis of preparation (Continued)

(b)

Standards, amendments and interpretations
to existing standards that are not yet effective
and have not been early adopted by the
Group

The following standards and amendments to
existing standards have been published and are
mandatory for the Group's accounting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2009 or later
periods, but the Group has not early adopted
them:

HKFRS 1 (Revised) First-time Adoption?

HKFRS 1 and HKAS 27 Amendments to HKFRS 1 First-time
(Amendments) Adoption of HKFRSs and HKAS 27
Consolidated and Separate Financial
Statements -Cost of an Investment in
a Subsidiary, Jointly Controlled Entity or
Associate '

HKFRS 2 Amendment to HKFRS 2 Share-based
(Amendment) Payment - Vesting Conditions and

Cancellations '

HKFRS 3 (Revised) Business Combinations 2

HKFRS 7 (Amendment) Financial Investments: Disclosures -
Improving Disclosre about Financial
Investments !

HKFRS 8 Operating Segments '

HKAS 1 (Revised) Presentation of Financial Statements

HKAS 23 (Revised) Borrowing Costs '

HKAS 27 (Revised) Consolidated and Separate Financial
Statements ?
HKAS 32 and HKAS T Amendments to HKAS 32 Financial
(Amendments) Instruments: Presentation and HKAS 1
Presentation of Financial Statements
- Puttable Financial Instruments and
Obligations Arising on Liquidation '

HKAS 39 (Amendment) Amendment to HKAS 39 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement - Eligible Hedged Items ?

HK(IFRIC)-Int 9 HKAS 39 Embedded Derivatives ®

HK(IFRIC)-Int 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes 3

mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2008
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2008
HE_ZZN\F+-_A=1+—HLLFE

2 Summary of significant accounting
policies (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(b) Standards, amendments and interpretations
to existing standards that are not yet effective
and have not been early adopted by the
Group (Continued)

HK(IFRIC)-Int 15 Agreements for the Construction of
Real Estate !
HK(IFRIC)-Int 16 Hedges of a Net Investment in a

Foreign Operation *

HK(IFRIC)-Int 17 Distributions of Non-cash Assets to Owners 2

HK(IFRIC)-Int 18 Transfer of Assets from Customers ©

In addition, Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants ("HKICPA") has also issued
Improvements to HKFRSs which sets out
amendments to HKFRS 5, HKFRS 7, HKAS 1,
HKAS 8, HKAS 10, HKAS 16, HKAS 18, HKAS 19,
HKAS 20, HKAS 23, HKAS 27, HKAS 28, HKAS 29,
HKAS 31, HKAS 34, HKAS 36, HKAS 38, HKAS 39,
HKAS 40 and HKAS 41, primarily with a view to
removing inconsistencies and to clarify wordings.
Except for the amendments to HKFRS 5, which
is effective for the financial periods on or after
1 July 2009, other amendments are effective for
financial periods beginning on or after 1 January
2009 although there are separate transitional
provisions for each standard.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting
policies (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(b)

Standards, amendments and interpretations
to existing standards that are not yet effective
and have not been early adopted by the
Group (Continued)

Note:

! Effective for financial periods beginning on or after
1 January 2009

2 Effective for financial periods beginning on or after
1 July 2009

: Effective for financial periods beginning on or after
1 July 2008

4 Effective for financial periods beginning on or after
1 October 2008

> Effective for financial periods ending on or before

30 June 2009

o Effective for transfer of assets from customers

received on or after 1 July 2009

The Group is in the process of making an
assessment of the impact of these new and
revised HKFRSs upon initial application and
does not anticipate that these will result in
any material impact on the Group's result of
operations and financial position.
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For the year ended 31 December 2008
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3 Significant accounting policies

(a)

116

Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporated
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company (its subsidiaries). Control is
achieved where the Company has the power to govern
the financial and operating policies of an entity so
as to obtain benefits from its activities.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposal of during
the year are included in the consolidated income
statement from the effective date of acquisition or up
to the effective date of disposal, as appropriate.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies into line with those used by other members
of the Group.

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and
expenses are eliminated on consolidation.

In the Company's balance sheet the investments
in subsidiaries are stated at cost less provision for
impairment losses (note 3(k)). The results of subsidiaries
are accounted for by the Company on the basis of
dividend received and receivable.

The Group applies a policy of treating transactions with
minority interests as transactions with parties external
to the Group. Disposals to minority interests result
in gains and losses for the Group and are recorded
in the consolidated income statement. Purchases
from minority interests result in goodwill, being the
difference between any consideration paid and the
relevant share acquired of the carrying value of net
assets of the subsidiary.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(b)

Investment in associate

Associates are all entities over which the Group
has significant influence but not control, generally
accompanying a shareholding of between 20% and
50% of the voting rights. Investments in associates are
accounted for using the equity method of accounting
and are initially recognised at cost. The Group's
investment in associates includes goodwill identified
on acquisition, net of any accumulated impairment
loss. See note 3(k) for the impairment of non-financial
assets including goodwill.

The Group's share of its associates’ post-acquisition
profits or losses is recognised in the consolidated
income statement, and its share of post-acquisition
movements in reserves is recognised in reserves. The
cumulative post-acquisition movements are adjusted
against the carrying amount of the investment. When
the Group's share of losses in an associate equals or
exceeds its interest in the associate, including any other
unsecured receivables, the Group does not recognise
further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or
made payments on behalf of the associate.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group
and its associates are eliminated to the extent of the
Group's interest in the associates. Unrealised losses
are also eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.
Accounting policies of associates have been changed
where necessary to ensure consistency with the
policies adopted by the Group.

In the Company's balance sheet the investments
in associated companies are stated at cost less
provision for impairment losses (note 3(k)). The
results of associated companies are accounted for
by the Company on the basis of dividend received
and receivable.
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For the year ended 31 December 2008
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Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(c)

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the
consideration received or receivable and represents
amounts receivable for goods and services sold in the
normal course of business, and sales related taxes.

Sales of goods are recognised when goods are delivered
and title has passed.

Sales of steam and electricity are recognised when steam
and electricity are generated and transmitted.

Steam connection income received from customers
for the provision of steam supply are deferred and
amortised into the consolidated income statement
over the estimated usage period.

Interest income from a financial asset is accrued on a
time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding
and at the effective interest rate applicable, which is
the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future
cash receipts through the expected life of the financial
asset to that asset’s net carrying amount.

Staff quarters rental income is amortised over the
expected occupancy period of the staff quarters
by the employees of 5 years on a straight-line basis
(note 28).
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3 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(d) Leases

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the

terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks

and rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other

leases are classified as operating leases.

(i)

(ii)

The Group as lessee

Rental payable under operating leases are
charged to income statement on a straight-
line basis over the term of the relevant lease.
Benefits received and receivable as an incentive
to enter into an operating lease are recognised
as a reduction of rental expense over the lease
term on a straight-line basis.

Leasehold land

Interest in leasehold land is accounted for as
operating leases and amortised over the lease
term on a straight-line basis.

(e) Foreign currency

(i)

(ii)

Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements
of each of the Group's entities are measured
using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (the
“functional currency”). The consolidated financial
statements are presented in Renminbi, which
is the Company’s functional and the Group's
presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated
into the functional currency using the exchange
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting
from the settlement of such transactions and
from the translation at year-end exchange rates
of monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are recognised in the
consolidated income statement.
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Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(e) Foreign currency (Continued)

(iii) Group companies

The results and financial position of all the Group
entities (none of which has the currency of a
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional
currency different from the presentation currency
are translated into the presentation currency
as follows:

- assets and liabilities for each balance sheet
presented are translated at the closing rate
at the date of that balance sheet;

- income and expenses for each consolidated
income statement are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is
not a reasonable approximation of the
cumulative effect of the rates prevailing
on the transaction dates, in which case
income and expenses are translated at the
dates of the transactions); and

- all resulting exchange differences are
recognised as a separate component of
equity.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising
from the translation of the net investment in
foreign operations, and of borrowings and other
currency instruments designated as hedges of

such investments, are taken to shareholders’

equity. When a foreign operation is partially
disposed of or sold, exchange differences that
were recorded in equity are recognised in the
consolidated income statement as part of the
gain or loss on sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on
the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as
assets and liabilities of the foreign entity and
translated at the closing rate.
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3 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(f)

(9)

(h)

Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs are recognised as and included in
finance costs in the consolidated income statement
in the period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their
fair value where there is a reasonable assurance that
the grant will be received and the Group will comply
with all attached conditions.

Government grants are recognised as income over the
periods necessary to match them with the related costs.
Grants related to depreciable assets are deducted in
arriving at the carrying amount of the relevant asset.
Grants related to expense items are recognised in
the same periods as those expenses charged in the
consolidated income statement and are reported
separately as “other income”.

Employee benefits

(i) Pension obligations

The Group's contributions to the Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme are expensed as incurred.
Both the Group and its employees in Hong
Kong are required to contribute 5% of each
individual’s relevant income with a maximum
amount of HK$1,000 per month as a mandatory
contribution. The assets of the scheme are held
separately from those of the Group and managed
by independent professional fund managers.
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Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(h)

Employee benefits (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Pension obligations (Continued)

For employees in Mainland China, the Group
contributes on a monthly basis to various defined
contribution plans organised by the relevant
municipal and provincial governments in the
PRC based on certain percentage of the relevant
employees'monthly salaries. The municipal and
provincial governments undertake to assume
the retirement benefit obligations payable to all
existing and future retired employees under these
plans and the Group has no further constructive
obligation for post-retirement benefits beyond
the contributions made. Contributions to these
plans are expensed as incurred.

Bonus entitlements

The expected cost of bonus payments is
recognised as a liability when the Group has
a present legal or constructive obligation as a
result of services rendered by employees and
a reliable estimate of the obligation can be
made. Liabilities of bonus plan are expected
to be settled within twelve months and are
measured at the amounts expected to be paid
when they are settled.
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3 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(h)

Employee benefits (Continued)

(iii) Share-based compensation

The Group operates an equity-settled, share-
based compensation plan. The fair value of the
employee services received in exchange for the
grant of the options is recognised as an expense.
The total amount to be expensed over the
vesting period is determined by reference to the
fair value of the options granted, excluding the
impact of any non-market vesting conditions (for
example, profitability and sales growth targets).
Non-market vesting conditions are included in
assumptions about the number of options that
are expected to vest. At each balance sheet
date, the entity revises its estimates of the
number of options that are expected to vest. It
recognises the impact of the revision of original
estimates, if any, in the income statement, with
a corresponding adjustment to equity.

The proceeds received net of any directly
attributable transaction costs are credited to
share capital (nominal value) and share premium
when the options are exercised.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

(i) Current tax

The tax currently payable is based on taxable
profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit
as reported in the consolidated income statement
because it excludes items of income or expense
that are taxable or deductible in other periods
and it further excludes income statement items
that are never taxable or deductible. The Group's
liability for current tax is calculated using tax
rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the balance sheet date.
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Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(i)

(j)

Taxation (Continued)

(ii) Deferred tax

Deferred tax is provided in full, using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts in the consolidated financial
statements. However, deferred tax is not accounted
for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset
or a liability in a transaction other than a business
combination that at the time of the transaction
affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or
loss. Deferred tax is determined using tax rates
(and laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the balance sheet date and are
expected to apply when the related deferred
tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax
liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent
that it is probable that future taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences
can be utilised.

Deferred income tax is provided on temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries
and associates, except where the timing of
the reversal of the temporary difference is
controlled by the Group and it is probable that
the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, other than those
under construction, are stated at cost less subsequent
depreciation and impairment losses. Plant and
equipment under construction for production,
rental or administrative purposes, or for purposes
not yet determined, are carried at cost, less any
recognised impairment loss. Plant and equipment under
construction is classified to the appropriate category
of plant and equipment when completed and ready
forintended use. Depreciation of these assets, on the
same basis as other property assets, commences when
the assets are ready for their intended use.
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3 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

0)]

(k)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of
property, plant and equipment other than those under
construction over their estimated useful life and after
taken into account of their estimated residual value,
using the straight-line method.

The above items of property, plant and equipment
are depreciated on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives as follows:

Buildings 15-35 years
Plant and machinery 5-12 years
Motor vehicles 6 years
Other machinery 4-10 years

An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the assets. Any gain or loss arising
on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and
the carrying amount of the item) is included in the
consolidated income statement in the year in which
the item is derecognised.

Impairment of investments in subsidiaries,
associate and non-financial assets

At each balance sheet date, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its assets to determine whether
there is any indication that those assets have suffered
an impairment loss. If the recoverable amount of an
asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount,
the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its
recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised
as an expense immediately.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset is increased to revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined
had no impairment loss been recognised for the
asset in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss
is recognised as income immediately.
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Significant accounting policies (Continued)

M

(m)

Research and development expenditure

Research expenditure is recognised as an expense
as incurred. Costs incurred on development projects
(relating to the design and testing of new or improved
products) are recognised as intangible assets when
all of the following criteria are fulfilled:

(@) itistechnically feasible to complete the intangible
asset so that it will be available for use or
sale;

(b) managementintends to complete the intangible
asset and use or sell it;

(c) there is an ability to use or sell the intangible
asset;

(d) it can be demonstrated how the intangible
asset will generate probable future economic
benefits;

(e) adequate technical, financial and other resources
to complete the development and to use or sell
the intangible asset are available; and

(f)  the expenditure attributable to the intangible
asset during its development can be reliably
measured.

Other development expenditures that do not meet
these criteria are recognised as an expense as incurred.
Development costs previously recognised as an
expense are not recognised as an asset in a subsequent
period. Capitalised development costs are recorded
as intangible assets and amortised from the point at
which the asset is ready for use on a straight-line basis
over its useful life, not exceeding five years.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is calculated using the weighted
average method. Net realisable valve is the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business, less
applicable variable selling expenses.
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3 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(n)

(o)

Financial instruments

Financial assets

(i)

(if)

Classification
The Group classifies its financial assets into loans
and receivables.

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial
assets with fixed or determinable payments
that are not quoted in an active market. They
are included in current assets, except for those
with maturities greater than 12 months after the
balance sheet date. These are classified as non-
current assets. The Group'’s loans and receivables
comprise ‘trade and other receivables’and ‘cash
and bank balances’in the balance sheet (notes
(p) and ().

Recognition and measurement

Regular purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on trade-date—the date on which
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.
Loans and receivables are carried at amortised
cost using the effective interest method.

The Group assesses at each balance sheet date
whether there is objective evidence that a
financial asset or a group of financial assets is
impaired. Impairment testing of trade and other
receivables is described in note (r).

Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders
is recognised as a liability in the Group’s financial
statements in the period in which the dividends are
approved by the Company’s shareholders.

REMBBMRME
For the year ended 31 December 2008

BE—FT\F+-A=+—AIL5E
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REMBERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2008
E_TTEN\F+_A=T—HBLFE

3

128

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(p)

(a)

(r)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand,
deposits held at call with banks and other short-term
highly liquid investments with original maturities of
three months or less.

Segment reporting

A business segment is a group of assets and operations
engaged in providing products or service that are
subject to risks and returns that are different from
those of other business segment. The business segment
reported in these financial statements is in consistent
with the internal financial reporting system. As the
Group's operation and assets are mainly located in the
PRC, no geographical segment is presented.

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at
fair value and subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method, less provision
for impairment. A provision for impairment of trade
and other receivables is established when there is
objective evidence that the Group will not be able to
collect all amounts due according to the original terms
of the receivables. Significant financial difficulties of
the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter into
bankruptcy or financial reorganisation, and default or
delinquency in payments are considered indicators that
the receivable is impaired. The amount of the provision
is the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the present value of estimated future cash flows,
discounted at the original effective interest rate. The
carrying amount of the assets is reduced through the
use of an allowance account, and the amount of the
loss is recognised in the consolidated income statement
within administrative expenses. When a receivable is
uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance
account for receivables. Subsequent recoveries of
amounts previously written off are credited against
administrative expenses in the consolidated income
statement.
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Significant accounting policies (Continued)
(s) Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental
costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares
or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net
of tax, from the proceeds.

(t) Trade payables

Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method.

(u) Comparatives

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to
conform with current year's presentation.

Critical accounting judgements and key
sources of estimation uncertainty

In the application of the Group's accounting policies,
which are described in note 3, management is required
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions on the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be
relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised
if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

4.1 Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning
the future, and other key sources of estimation
uncertainty at the balance sheet date, that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within
the next financial year.

3

REMBBMRME
For the year ended 31 December 2008
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REMBERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2008
E_TTEN\F+_A=T—HBLFE

4 Critical accounting judgments and key
sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

4.1 Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(a) Impairment of trade and note receivables

Note 3 describes that trade and note receivables
are carried at amortised cost using the effective
interest method, less any identified impairment
losses. Animpairment loss is recognised in income
statement when there is objective evidence that
the asset is impaired, and is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the present value of estimated future cash
flows as expected by management discounted
at the original effective interest rate. Where the
actual future cash flows are less than expected,
a material impairment loss may arise.

(b) Valuation on inventories

The Group assesses periodically if the inventories
have been suffered from any impairment in
accordance with the accounting policy stated in
note 3.The Group carries out an inventory review
on a product-by-product basis at each balance
sheet date and makes allowance for obsolete and
slow-moving items. The management estimates
the net realisable value for such finished goods,
work in progress and raw material primarily on
the estimated future selling price and market
conditions. Where the estimates of the net
realisable value are less than expected, a material
allowance may arise.
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Critical accounting judgments and
key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

4.1 Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(c)

(d)

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in various
jurisdictions. Significant judgement is required
in determining the provision for income taxes in
each of these jurisdictions. There are transactions
and calculations for which the ultimate tax
determination is uncertain. The Group recognises
liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based
on estimates of whether additional taxes will
be due. Where the final tax outcome of these
matters is different from the amounts that
were initially recorded, such differences will
impact the current and deferred income tax
assets and liabilities in the period in which such
determination is made.

Useful
equipment

lives of property, plant and

The Group's management determines the
estimated useful lives and related deprecation
charges for its property, plant and equipment.
This estimate is based on the historical experience
of the actual useful lives of property, plant and
equipment of similar nature and functions. It
could change significantly as a result of technical
innovations and competitor actions in response
to severe industry cycles. Management will
increase the depreciation charge where useful
lives are less than previously estimated lives,
or it will write-off or write-down technically
obsolete or non-strategic assets that have been
abandoned or sold.

mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2008
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REMBERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2008
HE_TZN\F+-A=1+—HILFE

5 Turnover and business segments 5 EEEREKDE
An analysis of the Group’s turnover for the year is as REERAFENEERBOTAT -
follows:
2008 2007
—EEN\E —TTLF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® TR ARETT
Cornstarch and corn-refined products ERBHEERRNTESR 1,065,915 914,652
Lysine and its related products FERBE Kk HARREE @ 369,832 319,966
Electricity and steam BAOKENA 94,699 115,344
1,530,446 1,349,962
(a) Business segments (a) XK

For management purposes, the Group is currently REEMES ASEBERNA=ZfEKLSE

organised into three operating divisions — cornstarch, DEMER—E KB BRE BN

lysine, electricity and steam. These divisions are the NFEAR - BEDBHBEAEE2HE

bases on which the Group reports its primary segment FELHERAER o

information.

Principal activities are as follows: FEFZFBHHOT :

Cornstarch - the manufacture and EARBY - AEREEEKRBRYD
sale of cornstarch REFRRIMNIEIZE®R
and its corn-refined
by-products

Lysine ~ the manufacture and bl - HENHEBRE
sale of lysine and its corn REEAREEM
based by-products.

Electricity and steam - the production and sale BEORFEA - FERBEEES
of electricity and steam N#E A

Segment information about these businesses is EUEBNDHMERZINAT -

presented below.
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Turnover and business segments (Continued)

Results for the year ended 31 December 2008

mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2008
BE-_ZZEN\F+_A=1+—HILFE

5 EXBREKRIHE

(a) XBHEE)

BE_ZZEN\F+-A=t+—-HL#F

S
Electricity
Cornstarch Lysine and steam Eliminations Total
E KRB BE® SHIREA 88 &t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARETR AR¥TR AR%¥Tn AR®TR AR¥Txn
Turnover EEL
External sales HINEE 1,065,915 369,832 94,699 - 1,530,446
Inter-segment sales DEEEE 6,900 - 140,589  (147,489) -
Total A5t 1,072,815 369,832 235,288 (147,489) 1,530,446
Result ES
Segment result DEPELE 89,941 66,831 19,396 - 176,168
Unallocated distribution and KOEDHER
administrative expenses THRER (86,091)
Other income H A 9,336
Finance income BEWA 3,852
Finance costs BE KA (3,728)
Share of result of an associate B —RE & DR EE 6,444
Profit before taxation B %5 A1) ) 105,981
Income tax expenses FriEfi (10,755)
Profit for the year FEFIE 95,226
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For the year ended 31 December 2008
BHE_ZTZN\F+-_A=+—HLFE

5 Turnover and business segments (Continued) 5 EEERERDSIBE)
(a) Business segments (Continued) (a) ¥EK2IW(E)
Results for the year ended 31 December 2007 BE—_EEt+tE+-A=+—8LE
EZ¥E
Electricity
Cornstarch Lysine  and steam  Eliminations Total
TR Balk |HIKEA HiH CE

RMB'000 ~ RMB'O00  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTL ARBTT ARBTT AREBTI AREBTI

Turnover e

External sales HINAE 914,652 319,966 115,344 - 1,349,962

Inter-segment sales o EEEE - - 81,771 (81,771) -
Total A&t 914,652 319,966 197,115 (81,771) 1,349,962
Result ES

Segment result P EE 88,889 103,843 39,835 - 232,567
Unallocated distribution and RKOEEDER

administrative expenses TR E A (44,076)
Other income Hi A 29,528
Finance income BhE WA 8,756
Finance costs B E AR (20,495)
Share of result of an associate il — B2 QR R (2,375)
Profit before taxation BB A1 203,905
Income tax expenses FTEf i (185)
Profit for the year FEFE 203,720
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REMBBMRME

For the year ended 31 December 2008
BE_TZEN\F+_A=1+—HILFE

Turnover and business segments (Continued) 5 EEBERERDIBE)
(a) Business segments (Continued) (a) EXKDIW(E

Balance sheet as at 31 December 2008

R-ZZENF+-A=+—HWEE

BEX
Electricity
Cornstarch Lysine and steam Eliminations Total
B BEE BIREA g &t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT AR®BTR ARWTR AR¥TR AR%TR
Assets BE
Segment assets DEPEE 380,321 164,481 170,709 - 715,511
Interest in an associate N
UNSIL:Of 2 36,517
Unallocated assets ANREE 359,443
Total assets BE 1,111,471
Liabilities &
Segment liabilities DEEE 43,716 25,414 9,473 - 78,603
Unallocated liabilities AABEEE 145,171
Total liabilities wafkE 223,774
Balance sheet as at 31 December 2007 RZZEEEF+_A=T—HHNEE
BEXR
Electricity
Cornstarch Lysine  and steam  Eliminations Total
FRBH Bk BHREA B A&t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTT ARETT ARETT ARETR
Assets BE
Segment assets DEEE 234,131 181,889 205,148 - 621,168
Interest in an associate N 29,643
RAH R
Unallocated assets RKOBEE 461,674
Total assets BE 1,112,485
Liabilities &
Segment liabilities NEEE 28,155 29,786 31,596 - 89,537
Unallocated liabilities Ao AE 230,607
Total liabilities S=N 320,144
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REMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2008
E_EEN\F+_A=T—HLFE

5 Turnover and business segments (Continued) 5 EEERERDSIBE)
(a) Business segments (Continued) (a) ¥EK2IW(E)
2008 —EEBN\F
Other information Hipgx
Electricity
Cornstarch Lysine and steam Unallocated Total
ERBH BER BIREA RIWEE At

RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTRE AR®TR ARBTR ARBTR AR®T:R

Assets BE
Capital additions of property, ~ BAYE - B&E
plant and equipment and RaEfER
prepaid lease payments BREER 144,319 7,503 12,867 3,795 168,484
Depreciation nE 14,745 17,798 15,914 4,896 53,353
Amortisation of prepaid BRNHEER
lease payment B35 - - - 830 830
2007 —EELF
Other information Hofth & K}
Electricity
Cornstarch Lysine  and steam  Unallocated Total
ERBR Ak THAREA ROREE At
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT AR®Tr ARETT ARETT ARETR
Assets BE
Capital additions of property, BRAYE * B&E
plant and equipment WET:| 1,383 30,936 2,765 4,195 39,279
Depreciation nE 11,943 14,732 16,505 3,249 46,429
Amortisation of prepaid EAHEER
lease payments B - - - 939 939
(b) Geographical segment (b) HED
The Group's operations and assets are located in the REBENEBREEFEGRPE -
PRC, thus no geographical segment by location was It 7 4R Ak [ 2 HR b & 5 B o 1k
presented. Moreover, segment revenue from customers G AMBIBAL B E o 0 R B B BN
by geographical location for each of the countries ZEBEFPHD WAL R AER BRI
other than PRC is less than 10% of the total revenue ABI10% + B LI 2 it = 5 & o

of the Group. Therefore, no geographical segment
is presented.
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Other income

REMBBMRME
For the year ended 31 December 2008
BHE_ZTTN\F+_A=1T—"HILFE

6 HWA

2008 2007
—EENEF —ZTTLF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR AREFIT
Government grants received for being ERBRMR Lk ERBEDRRN
a manufacturer of lysine and its related B 5 72 1 78 B AY BT 78 B
products (Notes (i), (i) and (iii)) (P 3Eq), (i) R i) 5,737 1,000
Amortisation of staff quarters rental BETHEEHEESWAZN(HiE28)
income (Note 28) 2,476 811
Amortisation of steam connection R AL (Msk28)
income (Note 28) 1,932 1,167
Realised gain arising on injecting property, — M—XKEERRNEAYE -
plant and equipment and land use right W KRB L REER
as capital to an associate FEEENEER NG 430 430
Gain on sales of scrap of coal and oil SHE R R EE R e Y a 1,744 509
Gain on disposal of leasehold land HEMRE AW
(Notes (iv) and (v)) (B =EGv) R (v) - 24,402
Others HA 3,950 3,376
16,269 31,695
Note: Mzt -
(i) Government grant of RMB5,000,000 was paid by 2} T2 () BAXWHEFTEPREZ_ZTZTN\F+=

(iii)

FAii B (Shouguang Technology Bureau) for the year ended 31
December 2008 in respect of the development of 65% lysine
technology. It was granted at the discretion of the government
and was not recurring in nature.

Government grant of RMB737,000 was paid by 55 ¢ MBI
/& (Shouguang City Finance Bureau) for the year ended 31
December 2008 to support a subsidiary, IIERFHERES
EAKFEAFBRZAF (Shandong Shouguang Juneng Golden
Corn Development Co,, Ltd.) ("Golden Corn"), being one of the
largest agricultural businesses in the city and the application
of environmental-friendly and energy-saving facilities. It was
granted at the discretion of the government and was not
recurring in nature.

Government grant of RMB1,000,000, for the year ended 31
December 2007 was paid to Golden Corn by &% 283k
EHERBEFT (Finance office of Shouguang Shengcheng
Street Office) to support the use of advanced technology in
the production of lysine. It was granted at the discretion of the
government and was not recurring in nature.

(i)

(iii)

A=+ —B 1 FE 5 %e5%E & B 51l
T BT A BY A R #65,000,0007T © B IR
EIEHBABRERE R IEEE LD -

EXTHBBERBE-_ZSENF+=_A=
+—HIEFELZ B ARK737,000
L AEEMBARILREBAERES EK
REARARTEERDKATAEZEK
MEBTEy —HBRARRKRKEELE -
EERD T ABRARERE R IELE T
& o

REXATERETERSEVRAANEEZ
TE+LF+ A=+ —HLEFEINEF
B AR ¥1,000,0007T F & EoK - AT H
FEALERKEERAR - EERL A
BT RIS R E R FEAECEMEE o
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REMBERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2008
HE_ZZN\F+-_A=+—HLLFE

Hi A (2)
MisE  (48)

6 Other income (Continued) 6

Note: (Continued)

(iv)  Gain on disposal of leasehold land of RMB24,332,000 for the (iv)

year ended 31 December 2007 was arising from the disposal

HE-_ZT+E+_F=1+—HUIEELt
PERE T TEXT I MEER OB
w= AR 624,332,000 T E A B L EREE
AANRE6,045000 N E T o

of leasehold land with a carrying amount of RMB6,045,000 to

S MBS L (Shouguang Land Reserves).
(v)  Gain on disposal of leasehold land of RMB70,000 for the year vy, BE_ZEZL+F+_A=+—HIEFEI
PERETHTEAMHEEATNKEA
R¥70000 DEABHEEHERAR
#47,000TC RO E L3 o

ended 31 December 2007 was arising from the disposal of
leasehold land with a carrying amount of RMB47,000 to &Yt
M H#E R A (Electricity Supply Company of Shouguang City).

7 Finance income 7 ®MEUWA
2008 2007
—EENE TERELF
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARET T ARET T
Interest income on bank deposits SRITIE AT B YA 3,852 8,756
8 Finance costs 8 ®MERAK
2008 2007
—EENE —EELF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥E TR AREFIT
Imputed interest on employee ETEERBEMNHEEFE
housing deposits 2,034 910
Imputed interest on loan from a shareholder —ZBRREFHHEFE - 5,939
Interest on bank borrowing wholly ARAFRNEHEEN
repayable within 5 years RITHE AR 1,694 13,646
3,728 20,495
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For the year ended 31 December 2008
BE-_ZZEN\F+_A=1+—HILFE

10

Profit before taxation 9 BRFLAIF
Profit before taxation has been arrived at after charging/ BRESATFEE R (FFA) THIRIE
(crediting):
2008 2007
—EENE ZTELF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR ARBEFT
Depreciation of property, ME - BERRBITE
plant and equipment 53,353 46,429
Amortisation of prepaid lease payments FENEE RS 830 939
Total depreciation and amortisation Pree M 4R %E 54,183 47,368
(Gain)/loss on disposal of property, HEWME - WER&E
plant and equipment (W), BB (173) 970
Net foreign exchange loss PE 5 B 18 %5 7,406 2,509
Cost of inventories recognised as expenses MR AX HAFERA 1,224,103 1,002,070
Provision for impairment of inventories GFERERE 3,839 -
Operating lease payments KEHESRE 552 196
Employee benefits expense EERANFAX
including directors’ emoluments (Note 11) BIERESEH (M) 45,948 27,967
Research and development expenses M LkFEER 1,151 774
Auditor’s remuneration 1% B % B 1,197 2,676
Listing expenses FmAX - 8,814
Income tax expenses 10 FiERik i

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as
the Group entities’ profit neither arose in nor was derived
from Hong Kong during both years. Taxation on overseas
profits has been calculated on the estimated assessable
profit for the year at the rates of taxation prevailing in the
countries in which the Group operates.

MR AEEZERXMEFEANLBEES
BEE SRR - B\ EE SR
TR B - BINFIE I AR R F AT
AU BEERARELEXBERORITH

Sz =4
KEtE o

2008 2007

—EENE —EEF

RMB’000 RMB’'000

AR T AR®ET T

Current PRC income tax BIEAAR B AT 1S 7% 9,778 -
Deferred tax (Note 27) EEFIA (M sE27) 977 185
10,755 185
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(E_TEN\FH_A=T—HIFE

10 FAfEBixx (@)
AN LR R S AT SR B A R AR A T

10 Income tax expenses (Continued)

The tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the profit
before taxation is as follows:

140

2008 2007
—EENF —ETELF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREFIT
Profit before taxation B 54 A A 105,981 203,905
Tax at the foreign enterprise income LASMNE 1 ZE 1S B 2 25%
tax rate at 25% (2007: 27%) ZETEF 27%)FTERTIA 26,495 55,055
Tax effect of share of result of an associate  JEME— KL QR EEMNHRTRIE
net of tax MR E (1,611) 641
Effect of different tax rate TRMETE (15,719) (60,956 )
Tax effect of expenses that are not & TE FE AR T AR B S AT H1OR Y
deductible in determining taxable profit Ax BB E 5,187 7,190
Tax effect of income not taxable BARBMW AN B (548) (1,814)
Change of deferred taxation resulting from 3 F3 1 58 2 2 2 A= )
the applicable change in tax rate B IEEH) - 69
Tax loss for which no deferred tax asset BRERELEHIEEE THREEE
was recognised 4,357 -
Reduction of income tax in respect R R By RA I S i
of tax benefit (7,406) -
10,755 185

Note:

On 16 March 2007, the PRC promulgated the Law of the People’s
Republic of China on Enterprise Income Tax (the “New Tax Law") by
Order No. 63 of the President of the People’s Republic of China. On
26 December 2007, the State Council of the PRC issued the Notice
of the Implementation of the Grandfathering Preferential Policies
under the New Tax Law (the “Notice”), (Guofa [2007] No. 39) the
applicable tax rate for all the PRC enterprises will change to 25% from
1 January 2008. The Notice provides a five-year transition period from
its effective date for those enterprises which were established before
the promulgation date of the New Tax Law and which were entitled
to a preferential lower tax rate under the then effective tax laws or
regulations. Thus, Golden Corn can still entitle to 50% relief of PRC
Foreign Enterprise Income Tax for the next three years from 2008.

Further under the New Tax Law, non-resident enterprises without
an establishment or place of business in the PRC or which have an
establishment or place of business in the PRC but whose relevant
income is not effectively connected with the establishment or a place
of business in the PRC, will be subject to withholding tax (depending
on the applicable tax rate on the treaty) on various types of passive
income such as dividends derived from sources within the PRC.

GEE

RIZEZLF=ZA+RE PEBREBEPEARHK
%ﬂi)ﬁ%%&%ﬁﬁﬁ%?qﬂﬁﬁ}\ﬁ LB P
BEROE(FHBOE]) - RZETEF+-AZX
H- CP?%I‘%%&%(E%E(‘EM@%% SHBE
EEBEABEA) ([BF]) (BE320071395%) -
H-TTN\F-A—BE FATFECENER
MR 2 A325% o SR AEFT BOA R MR B HRT A L
RARIRRC AL E By 0B A ARG F A BIEM X
BENGE  FREEBLERAHEE T AHAF
FEERHE - Bt - @ KA _TTNFRER=
FNEZHEINECENORETRFE

UESh - RIBFTOE - R R ER P B ML
HEBE - KNP ERAR LK EBHEEH
YA B2 e B A ST 3l ST 1t B O S R U - SR
EBEBEA (IR B FEIRANAE ) 84
BRB (B FROTRNERHRE) -
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10 Income tax expenses (Continued)

11

Note: (Continued)

According to the notice Caishui 2008 No. 1 released by the Ministry
of Finance and the State Administration of Taxation, distributions of
the pre-2008 retained profits of a foreign-invested enterprise to a
foreign investor in 2008 or after are exempt from withholding tax.
Therefore, the retained profits at 31 December 2007 in the Group's
foreign-invested enterprises'books and accounts will not be subject

to withholding tax on future distributions.

Employee benefit expenses

REMBBMRME
For the year ended 31 December 2008

BE-TT/\F+-A=+—HILEE

10 FiSHix< )
GERC)

a7 4 s (SRR N S I N = o R i S
2008515 - WNEGCEH —_ZTENFAHE
GHERZZEZNFRUAEBOREFEINRE
HOBIRBIERED - Bt XREEIINERER
—EELFET AT -BEOERMEREE SR
TR BB AR SR REHANTEIRT

11 EERFBEX

2008 2007

—EENE TETF

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥ET AREF T

Wages and salaries IERSS® 34,162 23,578
Pension cost BRe&EH 6,767 2,995
Staff welfares 8 T4EH 5,019 1,394
45,948 27,967

4 152 WO (LR AT P AR R AN SR R SRR R EY

No forfeited contributions are available to reduce the contribution

payable by the Group in future years.

PRI HEER -
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2T Z

12 Emoluments for directors and five highest

142

paid individuals

NEFE+ZA=+—HIFE

12 EERABBEH ALK EMH

(a) Directors’ emoluments (a) EEHM
Basic Retirement
salaries and benefit
allowance Bonus contribution Total
EXES BAK
594" AN BRHER k]
RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’'000
ARBTRT AR®Tr AR¥TR AR¥TxR
2008 —EENFE
Executive directors HWITEE
Tian Qixiang HE#F 516 500 - 1,016
Yu Yingquan Tz 300 500 - 800
Gao Shijun SttE 360 500 16 876
Liu Xianggang e 252 500 16 768
1,428 2,000 32 3,460
Independent non-executive BUFHTES
directors
Dong Yanfeng Ee 50 - - 50
Yu Shumin FIREK 50 - - 50
Cao Zenggong 32 30 - - 30
Yue Kwai Wa, Ken REE 89 - - 89
219 - - 219
1,647 2,000 32 3,679
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For the year ended 31 December 2008
BE_TZEN\F+_A=1+—HILFE

12 Emoluments for directors and five highest 12 EERAEZESHEATHNEHM 2
paid individuals (Continued)

(a) Directors’ emoluments (Continued) (a) EEHEE)
Basic Retirement
salaries and benefit
allowance Bonus contribution Total
EX#Fe RAR
KAk TE4T B Gk
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTT ARBTT ARETT AR®BTET

2007 —TTLF
Executive directors HITES
Tian Qixiang HHEF 166 - - 166
Yu Yingquan TEz 97 - - 97
Gao Shijun StEE 201 - 13 214
Liu Xianggang e 150 - 13 163
614 - 26 640
Independent non-executive BUFHTES
directors
Dong Yanfeng =g 13 - - 13
Yu Shumin RRER 13 - - 13
Cao Zenggong HIHET 8 - - 8
Yue Kwai Wa, Ken REHE 32 - - 32
66 - - 66
Total Bt 680 - 26 706
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E_EEN\F+_A=T—HLFE

12 Emoluments for directors and five highest 12 EERAEESHFATNEFM &)
paid individuals (Continueq)

(b) Five highest paid individuals (b) EBBEHFAL
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments rEEBRERSGFALHR  OH(ZE
in the Group, four (2007: three) were directors of the T+F ZR)AARFTNEE  HE
Company whose emoluments are presented above. The MHFR EXX2%) - 2 T —R(ZEFE
emoluments of the remaining one (2007: two) individual +F: MB)REFATHHEMET -

were as follows:

2008 2007
—BENE  —TTLE
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®BTR ARETT

Employees EE8
— basic salaries and allowance ~E AR F e KoEEL 551 785
- retirement benefits scheme — RIRBFET B K 8 13

contributions

559 798
Their emoluments were all ranged within 1% 5 1) % B Y9 #8138 1,000,000 7T ©
HKS$1,000,000.

(c) During the year, no emoluments have been paid by 0 R AEEBERESSIHAEES
the Group to the directors or any of the five highest FALZNEE - ERRSI AN
paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon ALEERNERIIEARERALN
joining the Group or as compensation for loss of HE -
office.




13

14
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Earnings per share

The calculation of the basic earnings per share attributable
to the ordinary equity holders of the Company is based
on the following data:

13

REMBBMRME
For the year ended 31 December 2008
BE_TZEN\F+_A=1+—HILFE

BRER
Vi N/NE] ﬂt%_ﬁﬁgﬁﬁ/\ﬁﬁﬁﬁig$§iﬂ
TR AT EAEFTE

2008 2007
—EBENF —TTLF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T R ARBFT
Earnings BH
Earnings for the purpose of basic earnings  FLETE SR ERZFIM & F)
per share (profit for the year attributable (RARIERFFBA
to equity holders of the Company) e AR FEFE) 98,234 203,720
2008 2007
—ZEBN\F ZTELF
Number of shares ROEE
Weighted average number of ordinary Mt B EBRESREN B
shares for the purpose of basic earnings T mAR N T8
per share 2,612,500,000 1,628,125,000

The weighted average number of ordinary shares for the
purpose of basic earnings per share for 2007 has been
adjusted for the bonus issue made on 16 May 2008.

No diluted earnings per share has been presented because
no dilutive potential ordinary shares exist for both 2008
and 2007.

Dividends

The dividends paid in 2008 was RMB17,870,000 (HK3.83
cents per share). Prior to the listing of the Company's share
on the Stock Exchange in September 2007, the dividend
of RMB70,794,000 was paid by the Company to Merry
Boom, the ultimate holding company for the year ended
31 December 2007.

14

A E ST LFERELRN 2 ER
mEFBE ER-_FTZENFHA +/\EI
EITAREITMIEHAE -

HR-ZETZNFER ST LFHEAEE
BEEBRE  QUERZ7SREERN -

%

IL:\

RZZEZENEIZIRNHORE 7%)\%%
7,870,000 ;L ( & 3838 W) - XA
Eﬁﬂxfﬁﬂ_z\zﬁtihﬂEH&*”Pﬁim

CEMEKERARREIRNEE
%t¢+_ﬂ:+f5¢¢&‘ﬁ@ﬂx%}\§
#70,794,0007C °
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For the year ended 31 December 2008
BHE_ZTZN\F+-_A=+—HLFE

14 Dividends (Continued) 14 RE (&)
A final dividend of HK1.14 cents per share has been proposed BEERRERAKREERI 148 - AR
by the directors and is subject to approval by the shareholders BEREERITHREBRAFT KNS L& -
at the forthcoming annual general meeting. FRMER -
2008 2007
—EENE —EELF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® TR AREF T
Interim dividend hHEAR R - 70,794
Final dividend, proposed of HK1.14 cents RNEARR B - BOR G AE @m AR 147810
(2007: HK3.83 cents) per ordinary share ZETF - 3.83) 26,265 17,870

26,265 88,664

15 Profit attributable to equity holders of the 15 RARERFE ARMLFE

Company

The profit attributable to equity holders of the Company is RABIEZBAEAEGFBERNR G
dealt with in the financial statements of the Company to HHmERP A ARE43009000T (ZEZ
the extend of RMB43,009,000 (2007: RMB56,790,000). F: AR¥ 56,790,0007T) ©
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For the year ended 31 December 2008
BHE_ZTTN\F+_A=1T—"HILFE

16 Property, plant and equipment 16 W% - - BERXE
Group REHE
Plant and
equipment
Plant and Motor Other under
Buildings  machinery vehicles  machinery construction Total

Cost
At 1 January 2007
Additions
Transfer from plant and
equipment under

EERE
BT RBERES AE HiHE LEL ait
RMB'O00  RMBO00  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB000  RMB'000
ARETL AREBTR ARETT ARETR ARETL ARETR

B
RZZZ+F-H—H 246,982 363,946 4274 8,981 559 624,742
AE 1,645 1812 1,208 700 33914 39,279
BERBE R HEER

construction 3,050 31,192 - 36 (34,278) -
Disposals e (210) (1,375) (474) (46) - (2,105)
At 31 December 2007 RZBELFE+-A=F—H 251467 395,575 5,008 9,671 195 661916
Additions B 12,271 55,618 2,042 14,729 83,633 168,293
Transfer from plant and HEERE kR EER

equipment under

construction 11,505 39,577 - 7,977 (59,059) -
Disposals & (74) (2,344) (156) (200) - (2,774)
At 31 December 2008 RZZEENF+ZA=+—H 275169 488426 6,894 32,177 24,769 827,435

Accumulated depreciation ~ EitTERFE

and impairment
At 1 January 2007 R-EZ+F—H—H 59,39 125,530 1557 4383 - 190,866
Depreciation charge ERFEER

for the year 10,601 34,101 687 1,040 - 46,429
Disposals HE (30) (496) (333) (38) - (897)
At 31 December 2007 RZZZLF+ZA=+—H 6997 159,135 1911 5,385 - 236,398
Depreciation charge ERFEER

for the year 9,142 40,394 974 2,843 - 53,353
Disposals HE (74) (1,685) (65) (198) - (2,022)
At 31 December 2008 RZFENEFZA=T-8 79035 197,844 2820 8,030 - 287,729

Net carrying value REFE

At 31 December 2008 RZBENE+-A=+—H 19,134 290,582 4074 24,147 24,769 539,706

At 31 December 2007

R-EEHFE+-A=F-H 181,500 236,440 3,097 4286 195 425518
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 ZE_TT)\FTA=T—HLFE

16 Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

148

Group (Continued)

Pursuant to the provisional sales and purchase agreement
("Agreement”) entered into between a subsidiary, &&=
R EREMBERA

Bio Limited) (Deneng Golden Corn”), and a minority

(Linging Deneng Golden Corn

shareholder, Linging Deneng Bio Technology Limited
("Deneng Bio Tech”), on 9 April 2008, the Group purchased
machinery and equipment of RMB105,529,000 during the
year ended 31 December 2008 and has also paid deposit
of RMB18,000,000 for additional purchase of property and
building from Deneng Bio Tech. In addition, the Group has
also agreed to acquire a land use right from Deneng Bio
Tech at the lower of the costs incurred by Deneng Bio Tech
and RMB20,000,000 (note 35). If the land use right cannot
be obtained by 31 December 2009 (the “Completion Date"),
the Group can exercise its right under this Agreement to
extend the Completion Date or seek for a full repayment on
the costs incurred in the acquisition of property, plant and
equipment as at 31 December 2008 and any subsequent
additional costs from Deneng Bio Tech. As at 31 December
2008, Deneng Bio Tech is still in the process of applying
for the land use right.

As at 31 December 2008, the Group did not pledge any
property, plant and equipment (2007: RMB69,055,000) to
secure general banking facilities.

16 W% BMERRKR®E®)

FEE(E)

BREMNBARBREEESEREMERA
A EK]) HLHRFERSEE
EMRBEERAB(REEDRE DR
—EENFOANBEUNBREE RS
([Zm&]  AEBEREBEE_ZZNF
+ZA=+T—HLEFEBABEARK
105,529,0007C B # 28 2 32 48 - I 2 Bt A1 12
EAEVBREBERIINIEREF MR
& A K #18,000,0007T ° it F) + AN & BE IR
ERERELEE YRS + e AR
REAEEREYRBEIRNEREARK
20,000,0007T M & A &Y B K & (B 5E35) o
WRZEENF+_A=+—HBUZEKAB
HDAIDAERS L WERE A% E
AITEERZ W ZE TR R AR ZTK B
B A EREEEAYREZHEERED
¥ BELAZXEMIR-_ZZTNF+=A=
T—BFENERREMBEEINLAR -
RZZEZNF+ZA=+—8 " EE?D
BHADEFE R T E A #E -

-/

RZEENF+_A=+—H AEEI
EIRBTMDE BELARE  ZZEZt
F: AR #69,0550007T ) LAEE — R R 1T

o

aH °



17 Prepaid lease payments

ZZ T \FF IR Annual Report 2008

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBBMRME

For the year ended 31 December 2008
BE_TZEN\F+_A=1+—HILFE

17 FB{FHEER

Group
AEE
2008 2007
—EENE —TEELF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®Tx AREF T
Cost AR
At 1 January Rn—H—H 34,890 41,334
Additions NE 191 -
Disposals e - (6,444)
At 31 December R+=-—A=+—8 35,081 34,890
Accumulated amortisation Rty
At 1 January Kn—H—H 5,881 5,295
Amortisation charge for the year FAEHEEA 830 939
Disposals H&E - (353)
At 31 December R+=—A=+—8” 6,711 5,881
Net book amount REFE
At 31 December R+=ZA=+—8H 28,370 29,009
Group
rEE
2008 2007
—ZEENE —EELF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T AR¥TTT
Land in the PRC held under R B E R E
medium-term lease FAR T 28,370 29,009
Analysed for reporting purposes: E2MAE T -
Current asset MBEE 831 819
Non-current asset EmBEE 27,539 28,190
28,370 29,009

As at 31 December 2008, the Group did not pledge any
leasehold land (2007: RMB29,009,000) to secure general

banking facilities.

R-ZZZENF+_A=+—H XEEYL
EERETMNHEHELH(ZTTLEF : AR

29,009,0007T ) LAZEER — AR IR 1T

e
a5 °
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For the year ended 31 December 2008
HE_TZN\F+-A=1+—HLFE

18 Subsidiaries 18 KB A F
(a) Investments in subsidiaries (a) REHEAT
Company
AN

2008 2007
—BENE - TTLE
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR®BTR ARETTT
Unlisted investments, at cost: JELEMIRE » ARG - 159,121 159,121
The following is a list of subsidiaries at 31 December R_ZEZENF+T_RA=+T—HNOWE

2008: REIRHNGAT

Issued and fully
Place of Place of paid up/ registered Interest Principal activities
Name of companies incorporation operation capital held (%)

NAER A A R B gy BRORSAR/HEMER  FEEL (%) TERE
Sourcestar Worldwide Inc. BVI Hong Kong US$240 ordinary shares 100 Investment holding
Sourcestar Worldwide Inc. RBERRES Bt LOETHERR 100 REER
China Starch Group Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HKS1 ordinary share 100 Investment holding
hEBHEEERAA G & BTHEBR 100 REER
Golden Corn™? PRC RPC RMB380,000,000 100 Manufacturing and sale of
EER? i hE AR 380,000,007 100 cornstarch, lysine and

their related products
RERBETRBRN -
BRERAEBER

Deneng Golden Corn'? PRC RPC RMB128,000,000 85.94 Manufacturing and sale of
EReER i fr ARH128,0000007C 8594 comstarch and related
products
BUEREE T KBS
RABER
' Subsidiaries are held indirectly by the Company. AArEERENHEB AT
2 The entity is a wholly foreign owned enterprise. ? REBRRREINEDLE-
> The entity is an equity joint venture enterprise. 3 RBBRAZREAEKENLE -

(b) Amounts due from subsidiaries (b) FEWHEBARKIE
The amounts due from subsidiaries were non-trade, }*HQWFAT RIBRIEES - REN
interest free, unsecured and repayable on demand. B SKEER
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BE-TT/\F+-A=+—HILEE

19 Interest in an associate 19 R—ZREEQATNES

Group

rEE
2008 2007
—2ENE —_ZETAF
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARBTR ARETTT

Unlisted investment, at cost FELTIRE (FRKA) 38,186 38,186
Less: Unrealised gain arising on injecting B OEAME - BEREER
property, plant and equipment and T REERITE

land use right as capital contribution  BIAREIR 25 (3,133) (3,563)
Share of post-acquisition profits/(losses) EWEEEFIE,(BE) 1,464 (4,980)
36,517 29,643
As at 31 December 2008 and 2007, details of the Group's interest N_EENEFEFR _EE+F+_A=+—
in the associate, SX & EREMRM AR AT (Shouguang H AXEBRBERNRSLEEREER
Golden Far East Modified Starch Co., Ltd.) are as follows: MERATREIAEEET
Issued and Attributable
Place and date of fully paid equity interest
incorporation registered capital of the Group Principal activities
2ETR
MRS th 2 K B Hf HRTMER rEBERERE FEEK
PRC US$9,600,000 49% Research, development,
a3 9,600,0003 7T manufacture and sale of
25 September 2004 modified starches and
—TEEMFAAZTRHA their related products

58 5 M RO I
HIAME S
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For the year ended 31 December 2008
NEF+ZA=F+—HILFE

2 —T=

19

152

Summarised financial information of the Group's associate is

Interest in an associate (Continued)

19 R—FRBELNTNER &)
AEBMBLRTNMEERBmMT

as follows:

2008 2007

—EENE —ETHF

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T ARBET T

Total assets EEE 105,446 99,994
Total liabilities waeE (24,527) (32,226)
Net assets FEE 80,919 67,768
2008 2007

—EE\F  CTTLF

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T ARET T

Revenue A 216,229 158,800
Profit/(loss) for the year RELFE(E18) 13,151 (4,848)
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For the year ended 31 December 2008
BE-_TZEN\F+_A=1+—HILFE

20 Inventories 20 FE

Group

rEE
2008 2007
—EEBNEF —ZTELF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR ARBTT
Raw materials R 61,226 87,526
Work in progress & 7,168 9,921
Finished goods BIRK mm 63,898 20,248
132,292 117,695

The cost of inventories recognised as expense and included
in “cost of goods sold” amounted to RMB1,224,103,000

BRAYHEBEEIEERK INFEK
KA ANR®1224103,000( ZEE L F -

(2007: RMB1,002,070,000). A R#1,002,070,0007T) °

BRASTHEBEEEIHEERAN INFEER
BREASARE3839,000(ZEF+F ¢

The provision for impairment of inventories recognised as
expense and included in "cost of goods sold”amounted to

RMB3,839,000 (2007: Nil). ;) o
21 Trade and other receivables 21 B NEMEIRE
Group Company
AEE b N/N
2008 2007 2008 2007
—REN\F “TTLF —FENF _TTLF
RMB’000 RMB'000  RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETRT ARETT AR®TR ARETT
Trade receivables g 5 ek 43,105 42,146 - -
Bank acceptance bills RITHE A BIE 63,548 99,734 -
Other receivables H b U 3R 6,902 2,679 259 143
113,555 144,559 259 143
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REMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2008
E—EEN\F+_A=T—HLFE

21 Trade and other receivables (Continued) 21 EFZREMEBWRE
The Group normally grants 0 to 60 days credit period to AEEB—RETEFZEESTHHNEE
customers. A o
An ageing analysis of trade receivables at the balance sheet NTRREZEBEZRIRHERE DT
date is shown as follows:
Group Company
rEH b YN
2008 2007 2008 2007
—EENE —TTtLF ZBENF —TITLHF
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
AR TR ARBTT AR®BTR ARETT
0 - 30 days Tz=1H 38,138 39,337 - -
31 - 60 days =+—FEXTH 1,474 1,134 - -
61 - 90 days ANTt—Z2hTH 51 519 - -
Over 90 days N+BHRE 3,442 1,156 - -
43,105 42,146 - -

EEMEAHBETN  ARESFHESR
BEEPEEAZNERERSEBREP
REEERE BENEERBESEAE
sl - MAZHNE ZRKANEEEL
ERRAREL  BEBFELRERE

Before accepting any new customer, the Group assesses
the creditability of each of the potential customer’s credit
quality and defines credit limits by customers. Credit limits
attributed to customers are reviewed monthly. Credit qualities
of trade receivables not yet past due are considered to be
good and no impairment provision is needed.

FEBESRRAEHRPIERRLEEAR
AR #4316000( — 2 +F: AR
2,746,0007C ) B FEUBE X+ A E BIEE KRR
B ZELLHRBATEEELHBNEZSE
BIKFBB -

Included in the Group's trade receivables balance are debtors
with aggregate carrying amount of RMB4,316,000 (2007:
RMB2,746,000) which are past due but not impaired. These
relate to a number of independent customers for whom
there is no recent history of default.
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21 Trade and other receivables (Continued)
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BE-TT/\F+-A=+—HILEE

21 B REMEBERR @
EEHETERENESEIKDERS

but not impaired is shown as follows: R
Group Company
rEH AT
2008 2007 2008 2007
“EENE —TTLF ZBENF —_TTLF
RMB’000 RMB'000  RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARBTIT AR®BTR ARETT
0 - 30 days TE=+H 110 -
31 - 60 days =+—&R+H 713 1,071 - -
61 - 90 days ANT—ZENTH 51 519 - -
Over 90 days N+BHE 3,442 1,156 - -
4,316 2,746 - -

EREFBREBEEELRFBEARE

Included in the trade receivables are amounts from related

companies amounted to RMB6,428,000 (2007: RMB13,772,000). 6,428,000C( =T F+F : AR¥ 13,772,000
No impairment has been made to receivables from related JTL) o FEUSREE A RHY FRIE I AR B AR
companies. (ER
Bank acceptance bills BITERRLERE
Group Company
rEH AT
2008 2007 2008 2007
—EENE —TTLF ZBENF —_TTLF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARBTIT AR®BTR ARETT
Discounted bills BRI E IR - 22,220 - -
Endorsed bills FERE 27,651 32,528 - -
Bills on hand H it F & 35,897 44,986 - -

63,548

99,734
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21 Trade and other receivables (Continued) 21 ESRHEMEBWFE)
Bank acceptance bills (Continued) IRITERRERE(E)
The bank acceptance bills are normally with maturity period RITAREZER -—RIBAHBEA—ANATH
of 180 days (2007: 180 days). There is no recent history of (ZE2EZ+F: —BNTAH) BITEALE
default on bank acceptance bills. BREYEERLE
As at 31 December 2008 and 2007, the other receivables RZEENFR_EE+F+_A=1+—
aged between 0-30 days. B EMERROERAZTE=1H -
The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade and other AEBUATHEBIENE S K HAREW
receivables are denominated in the following currencies: FEBEREBERT :
Group Company
rEE b YN
2008 2007 2008 2007
—EENFE —TTLF ZBENF —_TITLHF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BTR AREFTT AR%®TR ARETT
United State Dollars ETT - 1,077 - 36
Hong Kong Dollars ABTT 405 229 255 36
British Pound e 4 41 4 41
Euro BT 2,437 30 - 30
Renminbi AR 110,709 143,182 - -
113,555 144,559 259 143

156




ZZZ \FF IR Annual Report 2008

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBBMRME

For the year ended 31 December 2008
BE-_ZZEN\F+_A=1+—HILFE

22 Amount due from a related company 22 EWBEAERTNKIEA
Group Company
rEH ¥/
2008 2007 2008 2007

—EENF —TTLT SBRNE —TTLF
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARMFRE ARKTT ARBFRE ARETT

Merry Boom (Note) 15 E(FEE) - 230 - 256

Note: B 5

BEAAREENSEIZERAR - LIRE TR

Merry Boom is the ultimate holding company of the Group and is a /

connected person of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing FIAAZ AR ANTINBEEAT - EYIEEHRIA
Rules. The amount due from Merry Boom was non-trade, interest-free, BIEBEFHHE - 28 - BIEHLRERGEE -

unsecured and repayable on demand.

Maximum balance outstanding during the year: RFERNEEEREE
Group Company
rEE b NN
2008 2007 2008 2007

—FENF ZTTLHF ZBENF ZTTLHF
RMB’000 RMB'000  RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TR ARBTIT ARBTR ARBTT

=

\}
7l

Merry Boom 400 2,929 427 2,091
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23 Cash and bank balances and pledged bank

23 RERBITERKRSERRITER

deposits
Group Company
rEE FIN/NE|
2008 2007 2008 2007
—EENE —FTELF ZBEENF —TTLHF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARSTR AR®TIT AR®TR AR®TT
Cash and cash equivalents: ReRBEEEY -
Cash at bank and in RITHER R FE
hand (Note (a)) Be(Mit@) 207,497 340,603 3,587 22,385
Short-term bank MHIRITIE R
deposits (Note (b)) (MF5E®D)) 35,328 22,045 5,473 -
242,825 362,648 9,060 22,385
Pledged bank deposits EEMIRITER - 2,000 - -
242,825 364,648 9,060 22,385

Cash and bank balances and pledged bank deposits are

Re LRITHEBKEEERBITERATINERS

denominated in the following currencies: & :
Group Company
rEE b NN
2008 2007 2008 2007
—EENFE —TELF ZEENF —TTLHF
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR AR®TIT AR¥TR AR®ETT
United State Dollars ETT 574 544 - -
Hong Kong Dollars BT 33,442 54,010 3,587 4,086
British Pound g 5,473 9,052 5,473 9,052
Euro BT - 9,247 - 9,247
Renminbi (Note (d)) AR (M) 203,336 291,795 - -
242,825 364,648 9,060 22,385
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23 Cash and bank balances and pledged bank
deposits (Continued)

Note:

(@)  Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily

bank deposit rates.

(b)  Short-term time deposits are made for varying periods of
between one day and three months depending on the
immediate cash requirements of the Group, and earn interest

at the respective short-term time deposit rates.

(c)  The bank balances and pledged deposits are deposited with
credit worthy banks with no recent history of defaults. The
carrying amounts of the cash and cash equivalents approximate

their fair values.

(d)  The Group's bank balances and deposits denominated in RMB
are deposited with banks in the PRC. The conversion of these
RMB denominated balances into foreign currencies and the
remittance of funds out of the PRC is subject to the rules and
regulations of foreign exchange control promulgated by the

government of the PRC.

REMBBMRME
For the year ended 31 December 2008

BE-TT/\F+-A=+—HILEE

23 RERBITEKRESERBITERK

(&)

Hrat -

@) WOFRDREBEERBITHERMERLZTR
REXA B e

(b) EHEMEFNFERAG-—AE=EAF
L BIAEENNBESERME I
Y2 AR B 55 B E B SRR R BREURB, o

(0 RIOTEHBREDERERDEREERFA
BEVEESLBENRT -RENEESH
EMEEEEEAFERE -

d ATEBUARBINEDNRTERRETR
TIFAREMRTT - HBZFAARERS
B AT RN Nt B 2 & i BIASN
7838 <7 7 B BT 2R A O SN EE IR B B AR
4

o
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24 Trade and other payables 24 ESRHEHMEMNR

160

Group Company
rEH PN
2008 2007 2008 2007
—EENFE —TTLF ZBENF —_TITLHF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TR ARBTIT AR®BTR ARETT
Trade payables B 5 K 58,053 56,237 - -
Bills payable ANESE - 2,000 - -
Total trade payables B SRR eER 58,053 58,237 - -
Advances from customers LS5 29,868 24,124 - -
Deposits HEa 7,569 4,709 - -
Sales commission HEME 4,320 2,517 - -
Other tax payables E{th A 118 13,684 13,303 - -
Accrued expenses Bzt &R 1,719 3,007 3,698 1,374
Payroll and welfare payables FERtFH e REF 5,817 34 - -
Payable for construction R GR B
and equipment 22,544 20,685 - -
Others HAt 8,889 6,644 - -
94,410 75,023 3,698 1,374
152,463 133,260 3,698 1,374
The following is the ageing analysis for the trade payables NTAREERESENTHORERST
at the balance sheet date:
Group Company
rEH PN
2008 2007 2008 2007
—EENFE —TTLF ZBENF —TTLHF
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR®TR ARBTT AR®BTR ARETT
0 — 60 days TEXTH 32,874 36,846 - -
61 - 90 days NtT—ZEhTH 9,997 4,540 - -
Over 90 days ATHBRE 15,182 16,851 - -
Total &t 58,053 58,237 - -
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24 Trade and other payables (Continued) 24 E% R H At E{S R (4%”)
Included in the trade payables are payables to related companies B 5N @%JEH BB ARRRIEAR
amounted to RMB160,000 (2007: Nil). ﬁ%mo 000TL(ZEELF - ﬁ)
The average credit period on purchases is 80 days. The Group KEONTHEEHRANTAH - AEEDH
has financial risk management policies in place to ensure that TV KRR EIEREK - LAERTA BN

REBEEHANES -

all payables are paid within the credit time frame.

AEBIATIHEEINERNE H N E M RN

The carrying amounts of the Group's trade and other payables

are denominated in the following currencies: FEBREENT -
Group Company
rEH b/
2008 2007 2008 2007
—EENE —TTLF ZEBBENFE —ZTTLHF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETR ARETT AR®TR AR%®TT
United State Dollars ETT 3,067 3,251 - -
Hong Kong Dollars BT 1,719 1,440 1,698 1,374
Renminbi AR 147,677 128,569 2,000 -
152,463 133,260 3,698 1,374
25 Employee housing deposits 25 ETEERES
Group
rEH
At 31 December
R+=—A=+—8
2008 2007
—EEBNF —ETLF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR ARBEFT
Basic deposit portion ERRFE2IH D 26,499 26,846
Original amount of instalment portion D HEIR REB D B R R & 58 12,407 21,300
Less: imputed interest adjustment B VISR G ER SR
on initial recognition - (2,034)
12,407 19,266
Instalment portion refundable: AR 5 BT SR E 5
Within 1 year —FR 12,407 3,857
Between 1 and 2 years —FEEMEF - 4,817
Between 2 and 5 years MEZERF - 10,592
12,407 19,266
Less: Instalment portion refundable B YR REBEE T — EW
within 1 year shown under FIHAR AR B 5 R R
current liabilities (12,407) (3,857)

15,409
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25 Employee housing deposits (Continued)

162

The Group offers quarters to the staff with the aim of
promoting long service with the Group. These quarters are
constructed by the Group and offered to staff for application
on a periodic basis. Due to the excess demand of staff
quarters and the relatively substantial construction costs
involved, the staff are required to place housing deposit
to the Group. The Group utilises the amount received from
staff as general working capital.

The employee housing deposits consist of two portions,
the basic deposit portion and instalment portion. Basic
deposit portion is interest free, unsecured and repayable
one month upon the return of the staff quarters by the
employee or termination of employment. The instalment
portion is unsecured and repayable by instalment of 30%
at the end of the third and fourth year from the date on
which the instalment portion is received. The remaining
40% of the instalment portion is repayable at the end
of the fifth year from the date on which the instalment
portion is received.

The imputed interest of instalment portion on initial
recognition and recognition of interest expense is determined
with reference to the bank deposit rate of 3.88% per annum.
In light of the strong cashflow position, the directors of
Golden Corn passed a resolution on 28 November 2008 to
repay all the remaining instalment portion of employee
housing deposit in March 2009. Therefore, the imputed
interest of instalment portion has been reversed and
charged to consolidated income statement.

25

BETREREE#H)
AEBERETRHEES  EHEDBES/X
SERPRY SELBEEmAKERE
EHHEIRF ARBEIBERER
o AP REREERKA  BTRARASE
BEgNEERES AKREMNAKETI
BNEERECFERS—REEES °

ETEERESHAMMBETF AKX - BIERX
REZHD MO HNRBED - EAREZR
Mo RE  BERALNETIXEE TR
ERIBIRIEERAR-—EAREE -2
HR R B 0 T 4 K 1 Ko | B 2 B AN SR
7 BHIEET E = REHFRED RIEE30%
7 BRI 5RER 0 87 T 8940%78 i Y B 9 B 3K
B EHEAFRFRER

P BRI HEEH SN RER R 8
Mx MR RS BBITERENE L8 EM
EE - BRRSRERRBR - SF KM
EEN-FENE+—A-TN\RBBR
AR HR-TEAFZAEBEIRER
BEHMAEBTHMBS - Bl 58
SEEE BB BE R ASA KR -



26 Borrowings

ZZ T \FF IR Annual Report 2008

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
N & AL

For the year ended 31 December 2008
BE-TT/\F+-A=+—ALFE

26 &

Group

rEE
2008 2007
—BE\F  —TTtF
RMB’000 RMB’'000

AR®T ARETTT

Bank loans RITER - 102,220
Government loan (Note) BT E (M) 9,750 9,750
9,750 111,970
Secured B - 52,220
Unsecured EE L 9,750 59,750
9,750 111,970
Carrying amount payables: JETBREE :
Within 1 year —FR 1,551 92,885
Between 1 and 2 years —FEMEF 886 886
Between 2 and 5 years MEZERF 2,659 12,659
Over 5 years FE38 A F 4,654 5,540
9,750 111,970
Less: Amount due within one year shown B ERBAEEBEET—FR
under current liabilities B HAR & 58 (1,551) (92,885)
8,199 19,085
Note: BT :
Government loan represented government assistance provided to R EREELXTHRER-_EENFENAMRE
Golden Corn, for its corn refinery production by Finance Bureau of KAMIAEER S FRBEOBTER © %4
Shouguang City in April 2004. The balance is unsecured, interest free TEER  RERER-ZZ—NFNAHAE
and fully repayable by 6 April 2019. According to the loan agreement, HEZ - BEEXWE  EXAEAR_TZTN\EN
the loan is repayable by 11 annual instalment commencing from 6 ANBREES+—HEE -
April 2008.
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26

27

164

Borrowings (Continued)

The Group's fixed-rate and variable-rate borrowings at the
balance sheet date are as follows:

BERE
REZEAR $EIE’JEE\T
0

26

;X&/?/u/\ﬂ'/\

2008 2007
—EENF —TTLF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® TR ARETTT
Fixed-rate borrowings EEEN 9,750 81,970
Variable-rate borrowings FREMR - 30,000
9,750 11,970
The ranges of effective interest rates (which are also equal REBEEFNERNEGE(TTERE LR
to contracted interest rates) on the Group's borrowings FEFMZER)T -
are as follows:
2008 2007
—EENEF —ZTTLF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® TR ARKETTT
Effective interest rate: BERF =
Fixed-rate borrowings EEEX 0% 6.57%
Variable-rate borrowings FEER - 6.3%to 7.74%

Deferred taxation

Deferred income taxes are calculated in respect of temporary
differences under the liability method using the tax rates
enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when the deferred taxes

27 EIEFIE

LLﬁﬁ SHIORBEHKEZRANEERZ

EREMIER L
Euuﬁﬂﬁﬁ °©

EORE ARG A E HRIEE
EBER

B4R o b B 5

ERHE BB

CUREBRERBEEENBEY

LE-—E#EARRNERIBRNFEE

and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same EEEESHNTRGHEEmMEKEERN
authority on either the taxable entity or different taxable WA BRERIBEE R & BRI -

entities where there is an intention to settle the balances
on a net basis.
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27 Deferred taxation (Continued)

The deferred tax assets recognised by the Group and

27 EIERIE (&)
AEBRENRBOETHBEEREL#

movements thereon during the year are as follows: E) N
Group
S 3. |
Realised gain
on injecting
property,
plant and
equipment
and land use
right as capital Impairment
contribution  of property,
EAME plant and
BERS®E  equipment
AiERE 9% BE
EREIEELEN ET ] Other Total
EERKE DAY Hits CL
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFTT  ARBTT  ARBTRT  ARETR
At 1 January 2007 RZZZTLF-HA—H (1617) 2,321 664 1,368
Effect of change of tax rate MEyERNE 128 (154) 43) (69)
Charged to consolidated income REEGE K@K MR
statement for the year (116) - - (116)
At 1 January 2008 RZEENF-A—H (1,605) 2,167 621 1,183
Charged to consolidated income REEGZE KGR MR
statement for the year (108) (248) (621) (977)
At 31 December 2008 RZZBZN\F+_A=1T—H (1,713) 1919 - 206

Deferred tax assets are recognised for tax losses carry-
forwards to the extent that the realisation of the related tax
benefit through the future taxable profits is probable. The
Group did not recognise deferred tax assets of RMB4,357,000
(2007: Nil) in respect of losses amounting to RMB17,429,000
(2007: Nil) that can be carried forward against future taxable
income. The unrecognised tax losses will expire in 2012.

EIETE IR B B T AR B 15 M 25 ) 55 48
R 2R 8 FR 5 N B 4 3R T P AS ) TR S
BIERR - AEERBANBBERSA

R #4,357,0007T(

— ==

tF:8) I

RAEE T R RERTBRANBEEARE
17,429,0007C( —TEH4F : #) o KERH
BEREN T —_F5H -
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27

Deferred taxation (Continued)

As at 31 December 2008, no deferred tax liabilities have
been recognised in respect of the tax that would be payable
on the distribution of the retained profits of the Group's
foreign-invested enterprises as the Company controls the
dividend policy of these foreign-invested enterprises and
it is probable that such differences will not be reversed in
the foreseeable future.

27 EEBIEE)

RZFBZENF+_A=+—8 BERAEAR
AEHZENECENREBRR  MBH
ZREAUREANBRIRRIGED @Y
BN IRANREINEDLEE T BEREN
MR IRERELEHIERE

28 Deferred income 28 IEEUA
Group
AEE
Steam Staff quarters
connection rental
income income
A EIER Total
ERWA HeWA a5t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBFTT ARBFT ARBFTT
1 January 2007 RZZEZE+LF—H—H 8,844 3,287 12,131
Additions & 7,270 - 7,270
Amortisation for the year ZINCSEER:§ i (1,167) (811) (1,978)
At 1 January 2008 RZFTN\F—H—H 14,947 2,476 17,423
Additions Bl 4,512 - 4,512
Amortisation for the year N [ (1,932) (2,476) (4,408)
At 31 December 2008 RZEZENF+ZHA=+T—H 17,527 - 17,527
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Steam connection income represents the payment received/
receivable from customers for the connection of steam
pipelines.

The deferred balance of staff quarters rental income is
determined based on the difference between the nominal
amount and the fair value of the instalment portion of the
employee housing deposits (note 25) at initial recognition.
It is amortised over the expected occupancy period of the
staff quarter by the employees of 5 years on a straight-line
basis.

In light of the strong cashflow position, the directors of Golden
Corn passed a resolution on 28 November 2008 to repay
all the remaining instalment portion of employee housing
deposit in March 2009. Thus, the deferred balance of staff
quarter rental income was amortised fully during the year.

EABRBBRAERERPEREZAEENDE
W MR o

ETHFEHeRENRAGBERZETIRR
REFEZ(MF25)M D BRI SR HIHE
REMNEAMERAFTENEZREETE - %%
HENEGRLEEHETBEIESH
R F R o

ﬁ%ﬁ@mi#ﬁ%@’@i*%%%%
—EENF+-—RAZT/N\BRBRE F
“EENF-RAEEEIRERE éﬂ’]ﬁﬁ
BRI HEs - At EIEEHEEE
EWABRBE DR F R B -
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29 Share capital 29 B
Movements in the Company’s authorised share capital are KABBEERARESHMOT -
as follows:

Number of shares Share capital

BoEE ['&N
'000 HK$'000
T R% FHETT
Authorised EE
At 1 January 2007 —EEEF—-HA—H 2,000 200
Increased on 5 September RZZET+FNHAAH
2007 (Note (i) 0 (T #EG)) 998,000 99,800
At 31 December 2007 —EE+F+-A=+—8 1,000,000 100,000
Increased on 16 May 2008 (Note (ii)) RZZEZNFRAA+RH
30 (BT #EGi)) 9,000,000 900,000
At 31 December 2008 —EENF+-_A=+—8 10,000,000 1,000,000
Movements in the Company’s issued share capital are as RATREBITIRANEEFN T -
follows:
Number Share
of shares capital
BEE [N
'000 HK$'000 RMB'000
Fh& FHET ARETT
Issued and fully paid ERITRABE
At 1 January 2007 —EE+F—-H—H 1,500 150 151
Shares issued upon capitalisation (Note (i) & AL EFEE1T BN (B 5 Giii) ) 348,000 34,800 33,589
Shares issued upon loan capitalisation BERESREEITRG
(Note (iv)) (B aEv)) 500 50 48
Shares issued upon global offering (Note (v)) ZIREEEREITAG (KIFEV)) 172,500 17,250 16,689
At 31 December 2007 —EE+F+-_A=+—8 522,500 52,250 50,477
Bonus shares issued on 16 May —EENFRATHE
2008 (Note (vi) BITH IR (BT RE(vi)) 2,090,000 209,000 187,285

At 31 December 2008 —EENFE+-_A=+—H 2,612,500 261,250 237,762
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29 Share capital (Continued)

168

Note:

(ii)

(iif)

(iv)

Pursuant to shareholders' resolution dated 5 September 2007,
the authorised share capital of the Company was increased from
HK$200,000 to HK$ 100,000,000 by the creation of an additional
998,000,000 shares of HK$0.1 each.

Pursuant to the resolution passed in the extraordinary general
meeting held at 16 May 2008, the authorised share capital
of the Company was increased from HK$100,000,000 to
HK$1,000,000,000 by the creation of an additional 9,000,000,000
shares of HK$0.1 each.

Pursuant to a shareholders'resolution dated 5 September 2007,
348,000,000 shares of HKS0.1 each was issued to Merry Boom
upon capitalisation at special reserves of the Company on 5
September 2007.

Pursuant to a shareholders'resolution dated 5 September 2007,
the Company issued 500,000 shares HK$0.1 each to Merry Boom,
as capitalisation of loan due to Merry Boom on 5 September
2007.

On 25 September 2007 and 22 October 2007, an aggregate of
172,500,000 shares of HK$0.1 each in total were issued by way
of placing to professional and institutional investors and public
offering to the public at a price of HK$2.22 per share including

over-allotment shares.

Pursuant to the resolution passed at the extraordinary general
meeting held on 16 May 2008, 2,090,000,000 bonus shares
were issued at nil consideration. The issued and fully paid
capital have been increased from HK$52,250,000 (equivalent
to RMB50,477,000) to HK$261,250,000
RMB237,762,000) by the creation of an additional 2,090,000,000

shares of HK$0.1 each. The bonus shares were credited as fully

(equivalent to

paid by way of capitalisation of HK$209,000,000 (equivalent to
RMB187,285,000) in the share premium account of the Company
(note 30).

(i)

(if)

(iii)

(iv)

29 BRA (&)
BIRE -

BEAHAZZSTELFNARBHRER
I FE B INEIL998,000,0000% T & H
BB THRG - AR FKEERAS
200,00078 7044 A1 Z100,000,00078 7T °

Eﬁﬁ_77A¢£H+AEQHMW$
FRIRE LBBONARE  BREINRT
9,000,000,000/% & % I 1E0.178 7T &9 B 19
AN ) B9 TE AR K B1100,000,0007% 7T 18 N
Z1,000,000,00078 7T °

$E%FEHE?%:§;=J:¢%H£EIE’\J%$
RER RZEEELFNLARABAEAR
ﬁ?%%%ﬂﬁ%%é?ﬁﬂ:«é M te B R T
348,000,000% & IR EI{E0.1 B TT A9 AR 19

BEARA-STLFNARBMHRER
FRARQRARZEZELFNAABERIE
EIiééﬁsoo,ooonﬁxﬁﬁo VBTG
EABERNMEARRARIRIGEHER -

REZZELEFNAZFTHEARZZETLF
TAZ+TZA - ZRERTREMH222ET
MER MEERKEREEZRERNH
ERAABATAREERG 76 H
172,500,000/% & I E E0.18 7T B IR 17 (B
FRARRKRARR)

BER-_ZEZTNEFRA T+ BEITHR
HENAE EBBMASZE BEEH
172,090,000,000/% AL % o & i B8 4N &% 3L

2,090,000,0004% & A% I 1E0.178 7T 89 B 19
RAFWE BT R R H52,250,000
BT (M E N ARBES0477,0007T) 8 INE
261,250, oooi%ﬁ(*ﬁ%%AEﬁg237 762,000
JC ) e BHEARARQNABRGEEREREA
209,000,000;%73($HE?BM\E%187,285,000
TL)EXR(L  TRE AKRY AR
30) ©
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BE_TZEN\F+_A=1+—HILFE

30 Reserves 30 f#fE
Company
YN
Share Special Capital  Retained
premium reserve reserve profits Total

kirnE HiRE BXRE EFVE G
RVMB'O0O  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETTE ARBTT ARETT ARETT ARETL

(Note (i)
(F3EG)

At 1 January 2007 “ZT+E-A—H - 142,240 16,730 (293) 158,677
Profit for the year and total Kﬁrﬂ IRARERE

recognised income and expense ERABAR

for the year e - - - 56,790 56,790
Dividends Hﬁﬁ - - - (70,794) (70,794)
Issue shares upon loan HERMeBRET

capitalisation (Note (ii)) fo’ﬁ(WE (ii)) 125,324 - - - 125,324
Issue shares upon capitalisation BRMEEETRND

(Note (iii) (B £ (i) - (33,589) - - (33,589)
Issue shares upon global offering EHBERBIRG 353,813 - - - 353,813
Transaction costs attributable IR EAE

to issue of shares R A (20,244) - - - (20,244)
At 31 December 2007 R_ZZLE

+-A=1+—8H 458,893 108,651 16,730 (14,297) 569,977

At 1 January 2008 R-TT\$-A—H 458,893 108,651 16,730 (14,297) 569,977
Profit for the year and total AEEMERREE

recognised income and expense BRI

for the year RFEX B - - - 43,009 43,009
Dividends 5] - - - (17,870) (17,870)
Issue of bonus shares (Note (v)) BT (MEEW) (187,285) - - - (187,285)
At 31 December 2008 RZZENF

+-A=+—"H 271,608 108,651 16,730 10,842 407,831
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30 Reserves (Continued)

170

Note:

Special reserve of the Company and the Group represents (a)
the difference between the nominal value of the share capital
and share premium issued by the Company and the aggregate
of the share capital and share premium of the subsidiaries
acquired upon the Group's reorganisation; and (b) the difference
between the consideration paid by the direct subsidiary for
the entire registered capital of the indirect subsidiary and the

amount of registered capital of the indirect subsidiary.

The issue of shares upon loan capitalisation represents the
issue of 500,000 shares of HKS$0.1 each to Merry Boom at an
aggregate subscription price of an amount equal to loan due
by the Company to Merry Boom pursuant to the shareholders'
resolution dated 5 September 2007.

The issue of shares upon capitalisation represents the use of
348,000,000 shares of HKS0.1 each upon the special reserve
amount of the Company pursuant to the shareholders'resolution
dated 5 September 2007.

As stipulated by the relevant laws in the PRC, the subsidiary
registered in the PRC is required to maintain statutory reserve
fund which are non distributable.

Appropriations to such reserves are made out of net profit
after taxation as reported in the tax return submitted to the
local tax bureau of the PRC subsidiary while the amounts and
allocation basis are decided by its board of directors annually.
The statutory reserve fund can be used to make up prior year
losses, if any, and be applied in conversion into capital by means

of capitalisation issue.

During the year, the allocation of statutory reserve fund is based
on 10% of net profit after taxation as reported in the tax return
submitted to the local tax bureau.

Pursuant to the resolution passed in the extraordinary general
meeting held on 16 May 2008, 2,090,000,000 bonus shares
were issued at nil consideration. The issued and fully paid
capital have been increased from HK$52,250,000 (equivalent
to RMB50,477,000) to HKS$261,250,000 (equivalent to
RMB237,762,000) by the creation of an additional 2,090,000,000
shares of HKS0.1 each. The bonus shares were credited as fully
paid by way of capitalisation of HK$209,000,000 (equivalent to
RMB187,285,000) in the share premium account of the Company
(note 29).

30 #fEE)

e

ARBRAKENERFHHEREGQFEEEA
BARFCBTRAREOD EEEESA
gt 8 B B R R O AR AR B B A R (B AR (B 2 P
MER: RO BEEMBARMREMER
B2 EME AR ERBEENER
AINEMERZENESR -

BERERNLEBEITHORMNIE R G E T
500,000 F AR EEO. 1B TTHIAR D - BREE
BENSHEEERARBIRERSLA-ZT
+tFENAAERAREABZERIGENER
SFE o

BEARBBETHRNIEREBRA-ZET
+tFENARBRHRERFERIZARAFER
1 15 & 58 3 17348,000,000 4 F A E E0.178
TCEIRR o

AP B ABEERRTE - EHBEEMA
BB A R B RR S A E D IR A E AR

AZEFHEERAZETEMBEAR @M
W BRI MM K P AT 2 MA IR R AL
MeEh  MeR Rk EEEMESRS
BFEEE AEEBRATEEUAREHSB
EFEBE(MA) LB BERIET
BRENR-

FAR-EEREEIRERM S REBIE
RE R T2 WA TR E10%
DE -

BER_TEENFRAAT+AARITHR
RRFMAELBEBAMNRER BEE
£72,090,000,000/% 4T A% o 3% i@ ¥ 4 & 7
2,090,000,0008% & A% H 0.1/ 7T #) IR 17 -
NN AR E BT RER R F52,250,000
B (& R AR 5047700070 ) 12 N &=
261,250,000/ JC( 48 & 7 A R #237,762,000
TL) © BB AN A BIRR 15 4 B AR 209,000,000
BT (BN AR187,2850007T ) B AL
KRB ARSI BSUR (H5E29) ©
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Capital risk management

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern
in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for
other stakeholders. In order to maintain or adjust the capital
structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividend
paid to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue
new shares or sell assets to reduce the cost of capital.

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject
to externally imposed capital requirements.

Financial instruments

(a) Financial risk management objectives and
policies

The Group's major financial instruments include
borrowings, trade and note receivables, trade and bills
payables, employee housing deposits, pledged bank
deposit, bank balances and cash and amounts due
from/to related companies. Details of these financial
instruments are disclosed in the respective notes. The
risks associated with these financial instruments and
the policies on how to mitigate these risks are set
out below. The management manages and monitors
these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented on a timely and effective manner.

(b) Market risk

(i) Foreign currency risk management

The Group undertakes certain transactions
denominated in foreign currencies, hence,
exposures to exchange rate fluctuations arise.
Approximately 15% of the Group's sales are
denominated in currencies other than the
functional currency of the Group entity.

The Group manages its foreign currency risk by
closely monitoring the movement of the foreign
currency rate.

31

32

REMBBMRME
For the year ended 31 December 2008
BHE-_TZ/\F+-A=+—HLEFE

EXREREE
AEEEREANBRARESERFE
g RRRERE®R  ARSHEMTE
HEAXE - BTHBHNABELARE
AEEAREFHBERARR MRS SR
ARRBEEER  BTHRILEEE
FEAREE A

R B S E AT AR P B A B 15 ] R T A
SNEERNERENL ©

ol
(a) SEMEAREEEHEBE

AEBONIZcRIABEER &
SGREBRWR  BHZMNEREREN
R BIFRERZEZ DEMARTRHE
R RITEBRRBREEREYTENE
BRRNRE - ZFEMTANFS
EHEMABOMERE ZFEeMITA
FY A B L e R Ot AR % S L R ) ER R G
AR T - EREEEEREB%SE
2 ez DA HE R BE % B 3 B AR B SR

=R

(b) THIZEBS
(i) MEREREE
AEBETHETISUIINE A
BT A B AE R RO B A R
%o NEBHEBLIS%TIAE
EEEMNINEEEE UINZ EE T
=

AERBEBT R INEE R
EEEEHEINERR o
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32 Financial instruments (Continued)
(b) Market risk (Continued)

(i) Foreign currency risk management
(Continued)

The Group mainly operates in the PRC with
most of the transactions settled in RMB. Foreign
exchange risk arises when future commercial
translation or recognised assets and liabilities
are denominated in a currency that is not the
entity’s functional currency. The Group is exposed
to foreign exchange risk primarily with respect
to United States Dollars, British Pound, Euro, and
Hong Kong Dollars.

The Group's assets and liabilities, and transactions
arising from its operations primarily do not
expose to material foreign exchange risk. Other
than certain cash and bank balances, trade and
other receivables and trade and other payables,
the Group's assets and liabilities are primarily
denominated in RMB. The Group generates
RMB from sales in the PRC to meet its liabilities
denominated in RMB. The Group has not used
any forward contracts or currency borrowings
to hedge its exposure as the cost-benefit is
considered not effective.

At 31 December 2008, if RMB had strengthened/
weakened by 5% (2007: 6%) against United
States Dollars with all other variables held
constant, post-tax profit for the year would have
been RMB125,000 (2007: RMB98,000) higher/
lower, mainly as a result of foreign exchange
gains/losses on translation of United States
Dollars-denominated other payables and cash
at bank.

At 31 December 2008, if RMB had strengthened/
weakened by 5% (2007: 6%) against Hong Kong
Dollars with all other variables held constant,
post-tax profit for the year would have been
RMB1,606,000 (2007: RMB3,182,000) lower/higher,
mainly as a result of foreign exchange losses/
gains on translation of Hong Kong Dollars-
denominated other receivables, other payables
and cash at bank.
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32 2T HE#E)

32 Financial instruments (Continued)

(b) Market risk (Continued) (b) WEEKE)
(i) Foreign currency risk management (i) IERERBEERE)

(ii)

(Continued)

At 31 December 2008, if RMB had strengthened/
weakened by 5% (2007: 5%) against British Pound
with all other variables held constant, post-tax
profit for the year would have been RMB274,000
(2007: RMB455,000) lower/higher, mainly as
a result of foreign exchange losses/gains on
translation of British Pound-denominated other
receivables and cash at bank.

At 31 December 2008, if RMB had strengthened/
weakened by 5% (2007: 1.44%) against Euro with
all other variables held constant, post-tax profit
for the year would have been RMB122,000 (2007:
RMB134,000) lower/higher, mainly as a result of
foreign exchange losses/gains on translation of
Euro-denominated cash at bank.

Interest rate risk management

The Group's income and operating cash flows are
substantially independent of changes in market
interest rates and the Group has no significant
interest-bearing assets except for the bank
balances and deposits, details of which have
been disclosed in note 23.

The sensitivity analyses below have been
determined based on the exposure to variable
interest rates for variable-rate cash at bank, bank
deposits and bank borrowing. Interest rates had
been increased/decreased by 50 basis points is
used when reporting interest rate risk internally
to key management personnel and represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably
possible change in interest rates.

(i)

R-_ZTENF+_-_A=+—H"
MARBEEHEHEBHE
(ZETLF:5%) MAAEH
B ERFTE  FERBEF
B R g A R ¥274,000
TT(ZEZELF : AR®455000
L) TEBRRBENRSEE
B EL At B YR I AR T 17 SR A NE
B8, W AR -

RZZBEENFE+=_RA=+—8"
WMARBHEBRITAE,FZES
(ZZZLF 1 144%) > MATA
HtEHRFTLE  FEBRBE
MR 12 A R %122,000
T(ZZEZLF : AR¥134000
TL) c EEARRBRELBUTETER
RITERINEEE, W FTE -

MNERBER
AEBHRARKERSREHR
REAEMGHNES(LHTE -
BRERITEE R RFIN - REBEW
BmMEAMGTEREE  FBEERN
BisE23 o

W T BB 547 TR E B AR1T
TR R IR (T I SR E B E B R
KEREE - AXEERARN
25 6 FI = AR ES B R
B/ BIEOEERMFIE - R
EREUHENADEERD N
i B -
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32 Financial instruments (Continued)
(b) Market risk (Continued)

(ii) Interest rate risk management (Continued)

As at 31 December 2008, if interest rates had
been increased/decreased by 50 basis points
and all other variables were held constant,
the Group's profit after tax for the year ended
31 December 2008 would increase/decrease
by RMB19,000 (2007: RMB44,000). This is mainly
attributable to the Group's exposure to interest
rates on its variable rate cash at bank and bank
deposits.

As at 31 December 2007, if interest rates had
been increased/decreased by 50 basis points
and all other variables were held constant,
the Group's profit after tax for the year ended
31 December 2007 would decrease/increase by
RMB224,000. This is mainly attributable to the
Group's exposure to interest rates on its variable
rate borrowings.

(c) Credit risk

The Group's credit risk is primarily attributable to
trade receivables from third parties. Management has
a credit policy in place and the exposures to these
credit risks are monitored on an ongoing basis.
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32 Financial instruments (Continued)

(c)

(d)

Credit risk (Continued)

Before accepting any new customer, the Group
assesses the creditability of each of the potential
customer’s credit quality and defines credit limit to
each customer. In order to minimise the credit risk,
the management of the Group has delegated a team
responsible for determination of credit limits, credit
approvals and other monitoring procedures to ensure
that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue
debts. In determining whether allowance for bad
and doubtful debts is required, the Group takes into
consideration the aging status and the likelihood of
collection. Following the identification of doubtful
debts, the responsible sales personnel discuss with the
relevant customers and report on the recoverability,
specific allowance is only made for trade receivable
that is unlikely to be collected. In this regards, the
directors of the Company are satisfied that this risk is
minimal and adequate allowance for doubtful debts,
if any, has been made in the financial statements after
assessing the collectability of individual debts.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the
counterparties are reputable banks in the PRC.

The Group has no significant concentration of credit
risk in respect of the trade and other receivables, with
exposures spread over a number of counterparties
and customers.

Liquidity risk

To manage the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents
deemed adequate by the management to finance
the Group's operations and mitigate the effects of
fluctuations in cash flows.

As at 31 December 2008, the Group has available
unutilised bank loan facilities of approximately
RMB370,000,000 (2007: RMB178,000,000).

(c)

(d)

REMBBMRME
For the year ended 31 December 2008
BHE-_TZ/\F+-A=+—HLEFE

32 2T HE#E)

FERR(E)

EEMEMFERR > ARESFG
BRBEEFPNERERRERERP
REFEERT - REEREEER
% AEEMEEEEZRR—MEAR
BEEEEERSE EEHMEEEM
EERF  MRERIRETSN
MR E - EEELSEA/RER
EHEER  AEESZREKREKEMRR
K EMEERAIRENE o Mg E EHE
RRE BN ZEHEAESRERE
PR EENAEEEZE
MmERE /T REKREMNE 5 R
EHRERER - LM E - A2FH
EFEHEMZTENERSE - mA
£ ¥ 1k {1 B (&8 TE B /] Y (3] 1 2 1% 75 B
BHRERPAENRE(ER)BEITE
FER e

HREFHEPEEEEMRT &
RBEEHEERRER -

B S LEMBYRME - NEEL
ESEETNEERR - AR
REBHTREF °

RBE S E

BERRDELAR  AREEEY
EE BRERRESEMRBEE
BER AT ROAKT - LSS
MEEFRERAERS R ERBROY

2,
g

R_ZEENFE+-_A=+—80 ' &K
EBZABHRITERNVDAARKE
370,000000( Z T+ F : ARK
178,000,0007T ) °

175




China Starch Holdings Limited F Bl =R ER A 7

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBHRRME
For the year ended 31 December 2008
E-_FTE/\F A=t -ALEE

32 Financial instruments (Continued)

(d) Liquidity risk (Continued)

Liquidity table

The following table details the Group's contractual
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities. The
table has been drawn up based on the undiscounted
cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest
date on which the Group can be required to pay. The
amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual
undiscounted cash flows:

32 £ THEE)

(d)

RBESEE(E)

TRAFAKENFTESREED
BRHIR - ZRDERARNEEAER
XHNRFARRESRAGENRRS
RATREHE RABBENZES
BRRBRASRE -
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Between Between Total
Within 1-2 2-5 Over undiscounted
1 year years years 5years cash flow
RUERS
—FUR —FEZWMF MEELF BREEF RELE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFTT ARBTT ARBTT ARETT ARETT
2008 —BENE
Trade and other payables B REMEMNK 122,595 - - - 122,595
Loans %
~ interest free -28 1,551 886 2,659 4,654 9,750
Employee housing deposits BETRERESD 38,906 - - - 38,906
163,052 886 2,659 4,654 171,251
2007 —BTLHF
Trade and other payables B REMEMNK 95,833 - - - 95,833
Loans %
~ interest free -RB 665 886 2,659 5,540 9,750
~ fixed rate -ER 73,863 - - - 73,863
- variable rate £ 8 21,369 - 10,747 - 32,116
Employee housing deposits BEIFEERES 30,802 5,143 12,201 - 48,146
222,532 6,029 25,607 5,540 259,708
Fair value of financial instruments ST AN FE

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities
are determined in accordance with generally accepted
pricing models based on discounted cash flow analysis
or using prices from observable current market
transactions.

The directors consider that the carrying amounts of
financial assets and financial liabilities at amortised cost
in the consolidated financial statements approximate
to their fair values.

THEENEBABENAFERE -
MAREEBRA - LNRBERSRED
RFAABEENRTHERZER

MmEE °

E=ZRAR NREMBHRRANREH
RASENEREEREBABNR
H{EEEAFERE -
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33 Major non-cash transactions

34

The Group had the following major non-cash transactions

during the year:

(i)

(i)

Bank acceptance bills receivables of RMB11,364,000
(2007: RMB14,177,000) for the year have been used
to settle accounts payable incurred for plant and
equipment under construction.

Pursuant to the resolution passed at the extraordinary
general meeting held on 16 May 2008, 2,090,000,000
bonus shares were issued at nil consideration. The
issued and fully paid capital have been increased from
HK$52,250,000 to HK$261,250,000 by the creation of
an additional 2,090,000,000 shares of HK$0.1 each.
The bonus shares were credited as fully paid by way
of capitalisation of HK$209,000,000 (equivalent to
RMB187,285,000) in the share premium account of
the Company.

REMBBMRME
For the year ended 31 December 2008

BE-TT/\F+-A=+—HILEE

33 FEFBEEXRH
AEERERNGNTEIBEBELRS

(i)

REEMRTEALEBERIBAR
11364000 ( ZEZLF : AR
14,177,0007C) - ARBRNEREKE &
BEMEENENESRE -

BE_ZTENFRA+ BRI
WRRENAEBBANRER
2,090,000,000% 4T fx LA {8 75 = 2%
17 3% 3B 5 YN & 322,090,000,0004%
SREBEB THRG  BEBITR
R E AR E #52,250,00008 T 0 E
261,250,000/ 7T ° & @G AR & 15
i B8R 9209,000,000/8 T (FHER AR
#187,285,0007T) EAL - ALIRE ARR
HEBHE -

Operating lease commitments 34 REHEHRIE
At the balance sheet date, the Group had commitments REER  XEERBETAIRHELEHE
for future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable MEBRREBESEAEIBIHBE RN

operating lease which fall due as follows: T

2008 2007
—EBN\F —ETLF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®ET R ARBFT
No later than 1 year —FA 394 532
Later than 1 year and no later than 5 years ~ —F&ERFNR 306 915
700 1,447

Operating lease payments mainly represent rentals payable

by the Group for certain of its office. Generally, the Group’s

operating leases are for terms of 1 to 3 years.

REHELBRIBEARESE THAER
EfNEE - —RME > ARENEEHE
RYP—E=%-
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35 Capital commitments 35 BEREE
2008 2007
—2ENF  —TTiE
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T R ARBTT
Capital expenditure contracted for but not B THEARBE
provided for in the financial statements BT 4B R Bk
in respect of: NEENEARFX

- property, plant and equipment —WE - HERFEE 30,445 455
— prepaid lease payments (Note 16) —BNHEER (Mikie6) 20,000 -
50,445 445

36 UBBZARENRS

36 Share-based payment transactions

178

The Company’s share option scheme (the “Scheme”) was
adopted pursuant to a resolution passed on 5 September
2007 for the primary purpose of providing incentives to
directors and eligible employees. Under the Scheme, the
Board may grant options to eligible employees, including
directors of the Company and its subsidiaries, to subscribe
for shares in the Company. The Scheme will remain in force
for a period of 10 years commencing on the date on which
the Scheme is adopted. The maximum number of shares
which may be issued upon the exercise of all outstanding
options granted and yet to be exercised under the Scheme
and any other share option scheme adopted by the Company
must not in aggregate exceed 30% of share capital of the
Company in issue from time to time.

As at 31 December 2008, no options have been granted
under the Scheme of the Company.
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BE-TT/\F+-A=+—HILEE

37 BERIXRS
RER - REBRBEHTIUTRS

37 Related party transactions

During the year, the Group entered into the following
transactions with related parties:

(i) Sales and purchases (i) HERKEB
Trade sales Trade purchases
ESHER EZRERE
2008 2007 2008 2007
—BENE —ZTTLF ZBENF —ZTTLF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR AERBTT AR®BTR ARETT
Related companies EZRE/NG]
(Notes (a), (b)) (MtEE (@), (b)) - - 427 352
An associate —KEE R T
(Note (c)) (B FE(Q) 139,065 118,243 - -
139,065 118,243 427 352

HEBRRBERBEENWERTE -

Sales and purchases were based on contracted

price.
(ii) Sales of electricity and steam (i) EHOMBREER

2008 2007
—EENE —ETLF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR AR¥EFTT
Related companies (Notes (a), (d)) BENE (M @Q), d) 24,957 65,819
An associate (Note (¢)) —KEEZ QT () 5,098 3,152
30,055 68,971
Sales of electricity and steam were based on contracted BIREAHERREBESHNERST

price. o
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37 Related party transactions (Continued) 37 BELRS (&)
(iii) Purchase of electricity and steam (iii) ENRBASHEBHE
2008 2007
—EENE —EELF
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR ARET T

A related company (Note (e)) —R@ERT HizEe) 14,957 -

The purchase of electricity and steam was based on BOREARBEREBESNOERE -
contracted price.

(iv) Salary expenses (iv) HF&£xH

2008 2007
—ZEENE —ETLF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET R ARETT
A related company (Note (a)) —REERT (M5E@) - 6,950
For the year ended 31 December 2008, the Group did HE-_TZ)N\E+-_A=+—HIEE -
not pay any salary to Juneng Holding Group because the REBEN MM E a1 IR & B > 5 1 ol %7
secondment staff had been employed directly by Golden & RARFAKHNBEIBE _ZTZTNF—H
Corn since January 2008. Salary paid to Juneng Holding ERHEIREEZE -R_ZEZLFIH
Group in 2007 was at a rate determined with reference TEREREENFH 2 I2EEE KN
to the average monthly salary of staff of Golden Corn BIZ2EEUBENEATHE:  8#ZE
engaging in similar function. Salary for the year ended 31 —EE+F+ A=+ HULEEENFS
December 2007 was a continuing connected transaction DETHRAUAFUARETEEZENREBRER
as defined under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules and the % MARB BT EMHRAFELAENRK

Company had complied with the disclosure requirements BERIT o

in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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REMBBMRME

For the year ended 31 December 2008
BE-_ZZEN\F+_A=1+—HILFE

37 Related party transactions (Continued) 37 BEARRZ(#)
(v) Interest expense (v) FEMX
2008 2007
—senE LA
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBT T ARETTT

A shareholder —HRE - 5,939
The interest expense represents the imputed interest FERZTEREERME % A B
expenses for the interest-free loan calculated at X REBENEReS7TEFHE - A
effective interest rate of 6.57% per annum. This i%jﬁﬂﬁmﬁﬁtm%ﬁﬁu” ANE P
transaction did not constitute connected transaction ATEMBEI G ERERS

or continuing connected transaction as defined under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

(vi) Rental income (vi) HEWA
2008 2007
—EENEF ZTTLF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® TR ARBFT
An associate (Note (c)) —XEE R E () 90 70
The rental income charged represents the rental income WEHNHESBAERESNEREE
for plant and office based on contract price. EHFAEHHESWA o
(vii) Service charge income (vii) FREE WA
2008 2007
—EENF —TELF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR ARBTT
An associate (Note (¢)) —KEELENE (HFECE) 442 364

¥ IWATEIRIBA W ERR — K
RHEERN

The service charge income represents the provision A 75 &
of purchasing facilities to an associate based on /NG

contract price.
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REMBERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2008
ZE_TT)\FT_A=1T—HLFE

37 BERRZ (&)
(viii) FEURPE1< B2 R IE 5 X8

37 Related party transactions (Continued)

(viii) Accounts receivables/payables to related party

182

2008 2007
—EBN\F —ETAF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® TR AREF T
Account receivables from an associate  fEU —REEE FRIE (B aE(f
(Note (f)) 6,428 13,772
Account receivables from a related FEN — R EgE N IR IE (KM13E22))
company (Note (22)) - 230
Account payables to related FE 1 R A R R IE (M5 (g))
companies (Note (g)) 160 -
Note: MisE -
(@)  Those related companies are subsidiaries of Juneng () ZEBEBRRABREEREENNE
Holding Group or the company in which Mr. Tian Qixiang, YNNG E’]%%ﬁﬂx% HEFEL
adirector and shareholder of the Company, has significant HEHHEBERAZENN

influence.

(b)  These transactions constituted continuing connected (b) ZEXRSEKLETHRAIBI4AZFTR
transaction as defined under Chapter 14A of the Listing THHERERS  EESENGE
Rules but was fully exempted under rule 14A.33(3) of the SFETARAIE14A333)1K ©
Listing Rules.

() These transactions did not constitute connected () ZEXRSHUTERETHRAEIIAE
transactions or continuing connected transactions as FIATMBRERZIIBFEBRERS -
defined under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

(d)  During the year, the sales of steam to Juneng Special Steel (d) RER - HETFTEREFNMNETEA

amounted to RMB235,000 (2007: RMB60,456,000) was
also a continuing connected transaction as defined under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules and the Company was
granted a waiver for strict compliance with the disclosure
requirements of Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules from the
Stock Exchange. However, during the same year, the sales
of electricity to Electricity Company of Shouguang City
which amounted to RMB24,722,000 (2007: RMB5,363,000)
did not constitute connected transaction or continuing
connected transactions under Chapter 14A of the Listing

Rules.

EH¥235000(ZEZ+F : ARE
60,456,0007T ) + 1R MR Al F14A
EMRTEE  HERATABERE
RS+ MAR BV FT s B 8
SFEMBRBIEBAAZENEERT - A
i BAFERAZSETEELAFEESN
HRRBAR24,722,000L(ZEF
+F : AR¥5,363,0007T ) I T K
FHHRANBUAERTENEERS
SIFERER D ©
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37 Related party transactions (Continued)

(viii) Accounts receivables/payables to related party
(Continued)

(e)

Prior to 18 June 2008, Deneng Bio Tech was holding
approximately 14.06% interest in a subsidiary of the
Company, Deneng Golden Corn, and was a connected
person of the Company for the purpose of chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules. So, the transactions between Deneng
Bio Tech and the Group prior to 18 June 2008, the date on
which Deneng Bio Tech ceased to be a connected person
of the Company under the Listing Rules, constituted
continuing connected transactions as defined under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. During this period, the
purchase of electricity and steam from Deneng Bio Tech
amounted to RMB3,406,000 (2007: Nil).

The amounts outstanding are unsecured and will be
settled within the credit term granted. No guarantees
have been given or received. No expense has been
recognised in the year for bad or doubtful debts in

respect of the amounts due from related parties.

Balance are unsecured, interest free and shall be settled

in accordance with the respective trading terms.

REMBBMRME
For the year ended 31 December 2008

BE-TT/\F+-A=+—HILEE

37 BEARRS (&)
(viii) BY FEERRAE A FIE (&)

(e)

RZZEZENFATN\BR - E8E
EYRERARBNE AR EEE
KB D1406%0 2L BIRIE
EmRAEI4AE RN RRNEE
AT o Bt - Ea AR EAEE
RZZZENFENA+TNAUGRE L™
RAEEEEYRETHARRRBE
ATZR)ZATEITHR S BK L
MRABUAEMATHRERER
5 o RULEAR - MEEEEYRIEEE
B RAFRHFIE R AR HES,406,000
T(ZETEF |-

R EE IR T BRI A R AT T
MEEHRNEE - BIERHIEEE
AIHER - RER - REER LB R E
AT FIEARBORERER

RERTDEEM - 28
MR B ERIEE ©

CWERER B
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FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY
LEMBERE

A summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group for AEEBREROABEFTRFE  £E - BE
the last five financial years is as follows: RaEzHMEWT :
2004 2005 2006 2007 2008

—EENF —EBERF —EERTF —TTtF ZEENE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB’000
AREBTT ARETRT ARETIT ARETT ARETR

Results E4
Turnover BER 975,754 948,205 1,031,506 1,349,962 1,530,446
Gross profit EH 122,851 120,555 195,239 265,285 189,163
Operating profit KR 92,933 85,688 148,358 218,019 99,413
Profit for the year REF B 63,945 80,591 114,390 203,720 95,226
Profit attributable to shareholders A& 5 JE1G F1E 31,979 40,918 66,574 203,720 98,234
Basic and diluted earnings FREAREFRT
per share (RMB)* (ARE)* 0.0049 0.0312 0.0507 0.1251 0.0376
* Adjusted for the bonus issue (4 for 1) during the year ended 31 * EMEE—_EENE+-_A=+—BILEFEH
December 2008. AR ET(— AP EL TR o
2004 2005 2006 2007 2008
ZTEMEFE —ZTTRF ZTTAF ZTTLF ZBENE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB’000
ARETT ARETE ARBTRT AR®TT AR%¥®TR
Assets and Liabilities BEEREE
Total assets EEBHE 910,336 885,265 842,902 1,112,485 1,111,471
Total liabilities BEEHE (690,264)  (584,602) (659,117)  (320,144)  (223,774)
220,072 300,663 183,785 792,341 887,697
Equity attributable to equity holders &2 AIEZIFA A
of the Company FE(5 110,058 164,111 183,785 792,341 872,705
Minority interests DB R 110,014 136,552 - - 14,992
220,072 300,663 183,785 792,341 887,697
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